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Without limitation Versant Object Database VDS Versant FastObjects Versant JDO Versant

Open Access Vedding Vitness Vhistle Visper Vorkout zeVind Varehouse db4o db4objects and

other Versant product names referred to herein are trademarks of Versant in the United States and/or

other countries All other corporate or trade names or service marks referred to in this report are the

names or marks of their respective owners in the United States and/or other countries

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 These forward-looking

statements are based on Versant current expectations about our business industi operati jig results and

financial condition and reflect our current beliefs and assumptions as of the date of this report based upon
information that is reasonably available to us at the date of this reporL In many cases you may identify

these forward-looking statements by words such as wil4 shoul4 may might believes
anticipates expects intends estimates and similar expressions These forward-looking statements

may include among other things projections of our future financial performance financial condition and

trends anticipated for our business

We caution investors that forward-looking statements are only predictions forecasts or estimates based

upon our current expectations about future events The forward-looking statements are not guarantees or

assurances of our futute performance and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties that are

inherently difficult to assess and predict particularly in light of the recent downturn in the United States and

global economies Our actual results and performance may differ materially from the results and
performance anticipated by any forward-looking statements due to these risks and uncertainties Some of the

important risks and factors that could cause our results and performance to differ from results or

performance anticipated by this report are discussed in Item 1A of this report Risk Factorswhich you
should read carefully We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements in

order to reflect events or circumstances that may arise or occur after the date of this report or for any other

reason Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by Versant in this

report and in our other reports filed with the Sçcurities and Exchange Commission that attempt to advise

interested parties ofrisks and factors that may affect our business
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PARTI

Item Business

Overview of the Company

We are leading provider of object-oriented data management software that forms critical

component of the infrastructure of enterprise computing We design develop market and support

object-oriented database management system products that companies use to solve complex data

management and data integration problems We also provide related product support training and

consulting services to assist users in developing and deploying software applications based on our

products We operate our business within single operating segment that we refer to as Data

Management

Our mission is to be preferred vendor of core data management solutions to world-class

enterprises whose busmesses require
the successful management of large and complex bodies of data

To achieve this goal our general strategy has been to develop and offer powerful scalable and highly

reliable data management solutions capable of handling wide array of challengmg applications for

sophisticated customers in many industries For eample we market our products to companies in the

telecommunications and defense industries as well as to customers in several vertical maIkets including

technology financial services transportation and health care Our software has been used in strategic

distributed applications such as network modeling and management fault diagnosis fraud prevention

service activation and assurance and customer billing scheduling and other applkatiOns We strive to

continually improve our core data management products and related tools to make our.solutions both

more useful and increasingly dependable In our research and development efforts we also strive to

make our products usable and accessible by customers using different computing or software platforms

in order to expand the markets and industries we serve

We were incorporated in California in August 1988 under the name Object Sciences Corporation

and completed our initial public offering of our common stock under the name of Versajit Object

Technology Company in July 1996 The name of the company was changed to Versant Corporation on

July 15 1998 In November 2002 we acquired Mokume Software mc privately held company that

developed technology for use in real time applications In March 2004 we acquned Poet Holdmgs Inc

Poet through merger Prior to that merger Poet was provider of object-oriented data management

software headquartered in the United States whose stock was publicly traded on the Frankfurt Stock

Exchange In June 2004 we acquired the JDO Genie product line and its customers from JDO Genie

PTY Ltd privately held South African company and in July 2004 we acquired FastObjects Inc

private company that held North American distribution rights with respect to Poets FastObjects

database management product In September 2004 we sold Poets Catalog solutions busmess In

August of 2005 we effected 1-for-lO reverse plit of our outstanding common stock In February

2006 we sold our WebSphere consulting business After the close of our 2008 fiscal year on

December 2008 we acquired the assets of the database software business of privately-held Servo

Software Inc formerly named db4objects Inc which included an open source object database

software solution targeting the embedded device market Our principal executive offices are located at

255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450 Reilwood City CalifOrnia 94065 aiid our telephone number is

650 232-2400

Our website URL is www.versant.com Other than as expressly set forth in this annual report the

information contained in or referred to on our website is not part
of this annual report

We conduct most of our administrative operations from our U.S headquarters in Redwood City

California and the offices of our German subsidiary Versant GmbH Our research and development

activities are primarily conducted by our German subsidiary Versant GmbH which headquartered in

Hamburg Germany and by our Indian subsidiary Versant India which is headquartered in Pune India



In fiscal 2007 we liquidated the operations of our former U.K subsidiary and transferred its

operations to our offices in Germany

Industry Background

Computerized data management has evolved significantly over the past few decades As business

computing became more sophisticated network and hierarchical databases emerged in the 1970s to

serve growing business data requirements In the 1980s these types of databases were largely

superseded by relational database technology which continues to be widely prevalent database

technology today The mid to late 1980s saw the emergence of object-oriented software programming
In object-oriented programming smaller software building blocks called objects which can perform

specific functions are aggregated with other objects in order to create larger software systems With the

advent of object-oriented software programming it became possible to incorporate the unique features

and advantages of object based software into database management solutions Our principal products

are object-based database management software solutions which we believe have advantages over

relational database technology In particular we believe that object based database management
solutions are especially well suited for successfully addressmg the complex and challengmg data

management and analytical requirements of companies who need to rapidLy source update analyze and

use very large changmg bodies of complex data for wide variety of business applications

Certam Industry Terms

For reference purposes we have listed below certain well-known technical terms often used in our

data management industry to assist readers in better understanding the information provided in this

report

APImeans application program interface software source code interface that an operating

system provides to enable other software programs to use and acŒss the functionality of that

operating system

Applicqtzon Server SoftwareDeplQyment software that is used to build and deploy Interiet

applications incliidmg commercial websites and mtemal company websites and
applications

requiring higher degree of scalabihty than that which is typically deployed in support of

solutions for imaller user popu
CachePerformance enhancing software that works with servers to improve their response times

and throughput

CoresA multicre chip computer chip that contams more than one central processing

unit allowing for greater mcreases computing power contrast to single central processmg
unit

Data Integrationa broad term for variety of techniques that enable the data from one

software
system to be used in other software systems

Disk mzrronnga technique using specialized software and often specialized hardware to get

the same data on two storage disks for the purpose of increasing the reliability or making

quick snapshot duplicate backup of database

Fault tolerant servera server that offers higher reliability through the use of duplicated

hardware and specialized software so that in the event of failure of one database the

surviving database can continue offering normal service

Javaa software programming language originally developed by Sun Microsystems



J2EE-basedan application or software component that is deployed in Java Enterprise

Edition J2EE software environments

JDOJava Data Object standard-based Java API for Versant

JDBCJava Database Connectivity standard in the relational database world for -processing

SQL to Java

fYIJava Versant Interface proprietary-based Java API for Versant

Object-Oriented-object-oriented
software uses smaller building blocks called objects to create

larger software systems

ODBCO pen Database Connectivity standard in relational database world for processing

SQL to other than Java

Relational DatabaseData management software that stores data as tables and columns and can

be accessed using SQL

Replicationa range of technical approaches that enable multiple databases to be approximately

synchronized or to contain the same data

SQLan industry standard computer software language used to retrieve and manage data

typically used in relational database management systems

Two-Phase CommitmentA specialized protocol for performing database transactions across

multiple distributed resources

XMLA standard format used to exchange data information between multiple software

systems

Overview of Our Products and Services

We provide sophisticated data management solutions designed to address complex data

management needs Our Versant Object Database product is used primarily by larger enterprises which

have significant large-scale data management requirements such as technology providers

telecommunications carriers government defense agencies defense contractors healthcare companies

and companies in the financial services and transportation industries Since the incorporation of Poets

FastObjects solution into our product line in March 2004 we expanded the scope of our solutions to

also address the data management needs of smaller systems With our acquisition of db4o in December

2008 we have recently added database solution for the embedded device space which we plan to

continue to develop and support

The data management needs of our customers usually involve many business functions ranging

from usage and management of the customers internal data to the processing of externally originated

information such as customer enrollment billing and payment transaction data Our solutions have also

been used to solve complex data management issues such as fraud detection risk analysis yield

management and host of other problems that require an application specific data management

solution

In addition to our product offerings to assist users in their development and deployment of

applications based on the Versant Object Database FastObjects and db4o we offer variety of related

services including consulting training and technical support services We also provide customers with

maintenance and support services with respect to our products



Benefits of Versant Solutions

Our products provide customers the following benefits for specialized data management

High Peiformance Our object-based architecture provides direct access or navigation to stored

objects The balanced client-server architecture of Versant products enhances performance by

efficiently distributing processing burdens between clients and servers to leverage the processing

power of networked computers

Highly Scalable Support for Distributed Computing Our products can work in various

environments ranging from small workgroup operations to operations involving thousands of

users over wide area networks or the Internet This scalability can be achieved through object-

level operations and other design features

Reliability Availability and Serviceability Our Versant Object Database product offers number
of features designed to permit continuous operation including features providing online backup

and recovery and online modification of the database system as well as system utilities that can

operate while the system is running. These features together with
replication and disk mirroring

provided by Fault tolerant Server support contmuous operation of our products

Language-Independent Support for Object-Oriented Programming Our products provide native

support for the leading object-onented software development languages of Microsoft NET
and Java This facilitates rapid and flexible application development by our customers and the

maintenance and evolution of complex and dyilamic applications that closely model real-world

systems and processes

Support for Component Architectures The Versant Object Database client integrates with leading

J2EE application servers including IBM WebSphere BEA Weblogic and Red Hat JBoss

application servers These application servers enable users to build and deploy J2EE-based

applications that will work compatibly and directly with the Versant Object Database in order to

gain our productivity and performance advantages

Support of Majir Operating Systems Versant products operate on wide range of server

platforms including UNIX platforms from Sun Microsystems Hewlett-Packard and IBM Linux

platforms from Red Hat and Microsoft Windows platforms
Support of Major Embedded Operating Systems Versant products operate on wide range of

handheld platforms mcluding J2ME Microsoft Compact Framework and Googles Android

Products

Versant Object Database VOD
VOD seventh generation object database management system is designed to support multi-user

commercial applications in distributed computing environments VOD enables users to store manage
and distribute information that often cannot be administered effectively through traditional database

technologies including the following types of information

real-time data graphics images video audio and unstructured text

dynamic graph-onented data such as network management data and advanced financial

mstruments and

meta-data data aiding integration of diverse systems and workflow information which together

enable the construction of applications that integrate diverse systems and add new functionality

often making this functionality available over the Internet



The object-oriented balanced client-server architecture of VOD provides the basis for

high-performance scalable distributed applications We believe that VODs performance is superior

compared to relational database management systems particularly for complex data applications for

which VOD has the capability of processing wide variety of abstract data types in highly concurrent

high performance manner We also believe that use of VOD allows our customers to reduce the time

they need to develop applications for their data management systems
and improves their system

performance

VOD is designed to integrate up to 65000 databases connected over like number of locations on

variety of hardware and software platforms Each database has theoretical storage capacity
of

million terabytes an amount far beyond the actual capacity of most existing operatmg systems

VOD implements variety of database features including two-phase commitment for distributed

transaction integrity and database triggers to momtor changing events and data and to notify users

and applications when specified events occur In addition on-Ime management utilities enable routine

maintenance to be performed while the database is running These mclude utilities to perform backup

operations manage log files dynamically evolve database schema add delete and compress volumes on

disk storage and related functions These utilities provide multiple levels of administrative access and

application security

Version 7.0 of VOD includes ourcore object database management system and Java

language interfaces proprietary JVI and standards-based JDO and XML for import and export of

data into the database By bundling these components with VOD we believe we are enhancing the

solution that we are offering thereby making it easier for customers to deploy applications requiring

these components

As part of the VOD family of solutions we also offer our Vedding Vitness Vhistle Visper

Vorkout reVind and Varehouse solutions as add-on options that customer can use in situations

requiring advanced capabilities

Vedding provides highly reliable operations in mission-critical environments This product

provides transparent failure recovery by connecting database clients to synchronized copies of

the database stored on physically separate computers If one of the databases fails due to

operating system failure hardware breakdown or any other form of interruption the other

database continues operation withOut application interruption When the failed database is

restored the two databases automatically resynchronize and resume operations without any

interruption in application processing

Vitness is an add-on tool for the monitoring of Versant Object Databases designed following the

standard managing console/remote agent paradigm The remote agent resides on the Versant

server system while the managing console is graphical interface running on Versant client

system to display the ongoing activity of the monitored database

Vhistle add-on module for Versant Object Database supports both master-slave and peer-to-peer

asynchronous replication between multiple object servers This can be used to replicate data to

distributed recovery site or to replicate data between multiple local object servers
for increased

performance and reliability

VEsper allows customers to keep secondary database near the state of the production database

for reporting and fast restore requirements This option is especially useful for customers with

very large data sets

Vorkout allows the online compaction of production database data volumes for special categories

of applications that are performing heavy data deletions This option allows customers to ensure

continuous operations at required performance levels by eliminating performance degradation

due to fragmentation common problem for databases in this application category



reVind product provides JDBC/ODBC driver connectivity allowing the use of standard SQL
enabled tooling to access VOD This is especially useful for customers who use industry standard

reporting tools such as Crystal Reports and Microsoft Access

Varehoise 4enables VOD to use the
mirroring

and backup features of other enterprise storage

systems to take an online backup of very large
data volumes withm seconds without impacting

traisactiön response times

FastObjects

FastObjects is an object database management system designed to provide minimal admimstration

and work natively with the customers product The pnmaiy target application for our FastObjects

product line is for use as an embedded data management system to be integrated in customers

prodiicts FastObjects is used vast rnge of applications including medical devices vending

maclimes telecom equipment and defense systems The majority of FastObjects installations are now

running under the Microsoft Windows Operating Sstem

db4o

db4o an pen source object database that epables Java and .NET dcvelopers to store and

retneve any aplication object with only one ime of bode elimmnatmg the need to predefme or

maintain separate ngid data model The db4o product targets embedded
applications and embedded

operating system deployments We acquired db4o in an asset purchase in tecember 2008 after the

close of our 2008 fiscal year accordingly no assets liabilities revenues or expenses associated with this

product are reflected in our financial statements included in this report

Services

We derived approximately 37% of our revenues from services in fiscal 2008 Our services inclOdØ

maintenance and support programs for our data management prodticts consulting services and the

development of customer-specific extension to our products

Maintenance Services We provide maintenance and technical support services for our products

that are generlly availablç at an annual ee that varies depending on the type aridlevel of support the

customer requires Maintenance and support contracts wiicJi typically hve te1ve-month terms are

offered concurrently with the initial license of our product and entitle customer to telephone support

product upgrades and documentation updates For additional fees customers may purchase special

support pªckàge that provides dedicated upport engineers and telephone süppott vailable for

24 hours per day and seven day week Maintenance contracts te typically reiwable annually and

typically are paid for in advance for all pixIucts but in some instances maintenance and support fees

are paid in arrears For the support of oldeE versiOns of our Products we offer specific obsolescence

support options

Professional Services We also provide variety of tramnmg and consulting servmces to assist

customers in the design development training and management Of applications that are built based on

our core products Training services are offered for variety of Versant-specific and other object-

related technologies and range from beginning to advanced levels Consulting services are available for

analysis and design assistanee nientoring and techiical information transfer application coding design

reviews and performance analysis In addition we provide custom development services to customers

that request unique or proprietary product extensions



Our customers

We categorize our customers into two broad groups End-Users and Value Added Resellers

VARs End Users are companies who use ow products internally and do not redistribute our

products outside their corporate organizations
VAR customers the other hand include traditional

Valu Added Resellers Systems Integrators OEMs and other vendors who redistribute Versant

products to third party customers either individually or as part of an integrated product

We license our data management products through two types of perpetual licensesdevelopment

licenses and deployment licenses Development licenses typically sold on per seat basis authorize

customer to develop an application program that uses our software product Under deployment

license customer is permitted to deploy an application that it has developed under development

license from us End-Users generally purchase deployment licenses based on the number of central

processing units CPUsaccessing the server that will run the application using our database

management system For certain applications we offer deployment licenses priced on per user basis

Pricing of Versant Object Database and FastObjects varies according to several factors including the

number of CPUs/Cores per server on which the applications run and the number of users that are able

to access the server at any particular time Customers may elect to simultaneously purchase

development and deployment licenses for their pr9jects or instead may initially purchase only

development license and purchase deployment license only when their applications developed on our

software are completed Pricing of db4o also varies according to several factors including the number

of CPUs/Cores per server on which the applications run and the number of users that are able to

access the server at any particular time However due to the open source nature of the db4o product

for db4o at this time we only offer use deployment licenses and not development licenses

VARs and distributors purchase development licenses from us on per seat basis and on terms

similar to those of development licenses that we sell directly to End-Users VARs are authonzed to

subhcense deployment copies of our data management products which are either bundled or

embedded the VARs applications directly to End-Users VARs are required to report the

distnbution of our software to us and are charged royalty that is based either on the number of

copies of the application software that are distributed or computed as percentage of the selling price

charged by the VAR to its end user customers These royalties may be prepaid in full or paid upon

deployment

Our Vertical Markets

Versant Object Database and FastObjects are licensed for development or deployment or both in

wide range of applications substantial amount of our sales is for applications
in

telecommunications technology defense healthcare and financial services sectors Many of our

customers have licensed multiple copies for use in different applications

Our future performance will depend in significant part on the increase in the use and sales of the

Versant Object Database and FastObjects in telecommunications technology defense hcalthcare

online gaming and financial market applications and the continued acceptance of our products within

these industries

Sales and Marketing

Sales Channels We market and sell our products prmcipally through our direct sales force and

through value-added resellers systems integrators and distributors

Direct Sales Our direct sales organization is based in our corporate offices in Redwood City

California and Hamburg Germany and in some regional and other offices in the U.S and Europe

The direct sales organization includes field sales personnel who are responsible for account



management and
systems engineers who answer technical questions and assist customers in running

benchmarks against competitive products and in developing prototype applications

Indirect Sales Part of our sales strategy is to further develop indirect distribution channels such

as value-added resellers and systems integrators who address new markets or industries Systems

integrators may integrate our products with their own or those of other vendors in order to provide

complete solutiOn to their cnstomers Under their agreements with Versant value-added resellers and

systems integrators are typically iiot subject to any minimum purchase or resale requirements and can

cease marketmg our products at any time Some of our value-added resellers and systems mtegrators
offer products they .pjocuced by themselves or by other vendors which may in some cases compete
with our products

Marketing The prhnaiy objective of our marketing efforts is to build increased visibility for

Versant and its products and to generate sales leads for our business Our marketing programs have

included our efforts at cultivating media and analyst relations fostering valuable investor

communications speakers programs online marketing partner-marketing prógraths sponsoring

database technology scholarship programs at the university level and participation in conferences and

tradeshows Our products are typically marketed thrOugh development licenses which entitle the

customer to develop applications that use Versant software product and ii deployment licenses

which entitle the custOmer to sell and market product applications developed through use of our

software

Saks Process The cycle for complete sale of our products to new and large enterprise

customers can often exceed nine months and may extend to year or beyond For existing customers

with successfully deployed applications sales cycles for new applications of our core products are

generally shorter tunng the sales cycle meetings involving both Versant technical and management
staff are conducted frequently at the prospective customers site and at our hdadquarters As part of

their product selection process our prospective customers typically perform detailed technical

evaluation or benchmark of our object based technologies often directly comparmg them to

competitive products Upon completion of the evauation customer that chooses our solution may
purchase one or more development licenses depending upon the number of their programmers that

will develop and build the àustomers application Development licenses enable the customer to develop

applications that use our software Additionally customer may purchase technical support training

courses and consulting services Our customers may also purchase deployment licenses from us enabling

them to deploy applications developed under Versant development license In some cases our

customers purchase deployment licenses at the same time they purchase development licenses In other

cases customers may instead defer their purchase of deployment licenses and related maintenance until

they complete the application development under their development license process that typically

takes at least six months and can exceed one year

Shipping and Backlog Our software may be either physically or electronically delivered to the

customer If physically delivered our software product is shipped from either our Redwood City or

Hamburg facilities and is delivered to the customer upon receipt of an approved order and signed
license agreement We typically do not have material backlog of unfilled license orders at any given

time and we do not consider backlog to be meaningful indicator of our future performance

International Sales and Marketing Our international sales are recorded by our subsidiaiy in

Germany Which sells our products through distributors and value-added resellers as well as directly to

end-users For fiscal 2008 our international revenues derived from customers outside North America

made up approximately 63% of our total revenues compared to 54% for fiscal 2007 and 63% for fiscal

2006



Competition

Our software products compete with cOmpanies offering object and relational database

management systems Our competitors especially Oracle and Progress Software have longer operating

histories significantly greater financial technical marketing service and other resources significantly

greater name recognition bioader product offerings larger and more established distnbution channels

and larger installed base of custoihers In addition many of oir competitors have well-established

relationships with our current and potential customers and may offer broader suites of products with

wide array of complementary applications
which may incentivize customers to purchase such

competiiors data management products Ve may not be able to coqipete successfully agaust current or

future competitors and competitive pressures
could have material adverse effect on the busmess

pncmg operatmg results and financial condition of the company

Research and Development

Our reearch and development expenses consist pnmanly of personnel and related expenses

includmg payroll and employee benefits expenses for facilities and payments made to outside software

development contractors and to lesser degree capital equipment expenses Currently our research

and development aciv1ty is conducted primarily our Hamburg Germany and Pune India facilities

In fiscal 2O0 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 our research and development expenses were $4 million

$34 million and $3 million respectively We anticipate that in the future we will continue to mvest

significant resources in research and development activities particularly in Germany and India to

develop new products to advance the technology of our existmg products and to develop new busmess

opportunities

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We regard our products as proprietary We attempt to protect our technology by relying primarily

on combination of copyright and trademark laws trade secrets confidentiality procedures and

contractual pjowsions to protect our proprietary technology For example we license our software

pursuant to signed license agreements and to lesser extent shrink-wrap licenses displayed

evaluation downloads and softwarç installation screens which impose certam restrictions on the

licensees ability to utilize our oftware In addition we take steps to avoid disdosure of our trade

secrets such as requiring persons with access to our proprietary mformatio to execute non-disclosure

agreements and we restrict access to our software source code We seek to protect our software

documentation and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws which afford only

limited protection We were awarded United States patent No 5822759 for our proprietary cache

system used within our product suites which expires in 2015 We also have certain trademarks and

service markS

Employees

AsofOctober 31 2008 we and our subsidiaries had total of 82 full time employees of whom 14

were based in the United States 37 in Europe and 31 in India Of the total 49 employees were

engaged in engineering and technical services 14 were engaged in sales and marketing were engaged

in the services organization and the remaining 17 were engaged in general administration and finance

To the best of our knowledge none of our employees is represented by labor union We have not

experienced any organized work stoppage to date and believe that our relationship with our employees

is generally good

Our future performance depends mostly upon the continued service of our key technical sales and

senior management personnel The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees could

have material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition



Past Restructuring

As part of restructuring efforts we undertook in fiscal 2005 and 2006 we completed the following

transactions to refocus the Company on its core object database management business

In February 2006 we sold our WebSphere consultmg business in exchange for One-time cash

payment plus certain contmgent payments payable over 24 month penod following the close of the

transaction As result we have reflected the results of operations of oUr WebSphere consulting

practice for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 as discontinued operations Therefore reported

revenues for these periods no longer include any revenues from the WºbSphere consulting practice

The results from the discontinue4 IebSphere operations however are reported as net Come from

discontinued operations net of incOme taxes Se Note of our Notes to Consolidated inancial

Statements in Item of this
report for moeiiiformatlón regarding this transaction

In July 2005 we spun off our former Versant Open Access.NET or VOA.Nct assets to

Vanatec GmbH Vanatec privately held German company Versant
subsequently detennined that the

equity at risk in Vanatec was not uf1icient to permit Vanatec to finance its activities without additional

subordinated financial support from Versant Therefore we considered Vanatec vanable interest

entity in accordance with FIN 46R Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities As Amended As

result accordance with flN 46R Vanatecs operating results were included in ersants

consolidated finaficial statements from July 2005 through March 27 2006 On March 27 2006 Versant

sold its entire equity interest Vanatec to third party investor and entered into Joint Ownership

agreement with Vanatec with respect to technology previously licensed to Vanatec As result this

sale bf its interest in Vanatsc re wer no longer required tO consolidate the operating results of

Vanatec as variable interest entity in our financial statements

Investor Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 or the

Exchange Act pursuant to which ve file our periodic reports on Forms 10-0 10-K 8-s proxy

statements and other information with the Secunties and Exchange Commission or the SEC These

reports proxy statements and other information may be obtarnec by visiting the Public Reference

Room ot the SEC at 100 Street NE Room 1580 Washington DC 20549 Information on the

operation of the SECs Iubhc Reference Room may be obtamed by calhng the SEC at

1800 SEC-0330 In addition the SEC maintains an Internet site at http /fwww sec gov that contams

reports proxy and mformation statements and other information regardmg issuers that file

electronically

Financial and other information about Versant can also be accessed at our Investor Relations

website The address of Versants website is http//www.versant.com We make available free of

charge copies of our annual reports annual reports on Forms 10-K quarterly reports on Forms 10-0
current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as Soofi as reasonably practicable after filing such materials

with the SEC
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Item 1A Risk Factors

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements regarding the Company that involve

risks and uncertainties includin but not limited to those set forth below that could cause our actual

results of operations and financial condition to differ materially from those contemplated in the forward-

looking statements The matters set forth below should be carefully considered when evaluating our business

and prospects

We are dependent on limited number of products especially Versant Object Database or VOD
Nearly all of our license revenues to date have been derived from our VOD product its predecessors

and related products that add to or extend the capabilities of VOD Consequently if our ability to

generate revenues from VOD were negatively impacted our business cash flows and results of

operations would be materially and adversely affected Many factors could negatively impact our ability

to generate revenues from Versant Object Database including without limitation softness in demand in

the North American or European markets for enterprise software the current downturn in the global

economy and any slowness in the U.S or European economies or in key industries we serve such as

the telecommunications and defense industries the success of competitive products of other vendors

reduction in the prices we can obtain for our products due to competitive or economic factors the

adoption of new technologies or standards that make our products technologically obsolete and

customer reluctance to invest in object-oriented technologies Although we have taken steps to diversify

our product line through our 2004 acquisition of Poet and its FastObjects data management product

and our December 2008 acquisition of db4o we still expect that sales of VOD will continue to be very

critical to our revenues for the foreseeable future Accordingly any significant reduction in revenue

levels from our VOD product can be expected to have material negative impact on our business nd
results of operation

Our products face significant competition from larger competitors Our VOD FastObjects and db4o

products compete with products of other companies that offer database management systems We face

substantial competition from substantially larger and well-established relational database management

companies including Oracle Computer Associates Sybase IBM and Microsoft We also face

competition from object database companies including Progress Software Corporation and Objectivity

Additionally some of our prospective customers might attempt to build specialized data storage

capability themselves using their own internal engineering resources sometimes starting with low level

operating system functionality and other times utilizing lower level data storage routines that are

commercially available such as Oracle Berkeley DB simplified database without query processing

capability Many of our competitors have longer operating histories significantly greater financial

technical marketing service and other resources better and wider name recognition broader suites of

product offerings stronger sales and distribution channels and much larger installed base of

customers than ours In addition many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our

current and potential customers Our competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the

development promotion and sale of their products They may further have more direct access to

corporate decision-makers of key customers based on their previous relationships with these customers

Our competitors may also be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and

changes customer requirements and may be able to obtain sales of products competitive to ours

through package sales of suite of variety of products for different applications that we do not offer

We may not be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors and competitive

pressures could cause us to lose revenues or lower the prices for our products to increase or maintain

our sales revenues or to take other market-responsive actions any of which could have material

adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition

Reduced demand for our products and services may prevent us from achieving targeted revenues and

profitability Our revenues and our ability to achieve and sustain profitability depend on continuing or
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increasing the level of overall demand for the software products and services we offer Reduced
demand for our product line may result from competition offered by competitors or alternative

technologies negative customer perception of our object-oriented technology or other causes including

economic conditions that adversely affect the industries of our most significant customers such as the

defense and telecommunications industries In addition we have experienced continued hesitancy on

the part of our existing and potential customers to commit to new products or services from us

particularly in our North American markets Any significant reduction in the demand for our products

could have material adverse effect on our business and results of operations

Current economic conditions may harm our business and results of operations During calendar 2008
the U.S and global economies slowed dramatically as result of variety of serious problems

including turmoil in the credit and financial markets1 concerns regarding the stability and viability of

major financial institutions the state of the housing markets and volatility in fuel priees and worldwide

stock markets Given the significance and widespread nature of these nearly unprecedented

circumstances the U.S and global economies could remain significantly challenged in recessionary

state for an indeterminate period of time These economic conditions which are beyond our control

could cause many of our existing and potential customers to delay or reduce purchases of our products

or services for some time which in turn would harm our business by adversely affecting our revenues

results of operations cash flows and financial condition We cannot predict the duration of these

economic conditions or the impact they will have on our customers or business

We depend on successful technology development We believe that it will be necessary for us to

contmue to incur significant research and development expenditures order for us to remain

competitive While we believe our research and development expenditures will improve our product

lines because of the uncertainty of software development projects and risks posed by the current

economic downturn these expenditures will not necessarily result in successful produŁt introductions

Uncertainties affecting the sutcess of software development project introductions include technical

difficulties delays in the introductions of new products market conditions competitive products and

customer acceptance of and demand for new products and the operating systems they run on We also

face certain challenges in integrating third-party technology embedded in our products These

challenges include the technological challenges of integration which may result in development delays

and uncertainty regardingiheeconomic tennsof ourrelationshiii without thirdpartytechnology

providers which may result in delays of the commercial release of new products In addition if we are

required to adopt cost-conservation measures we may be compelled to reduce the amounts of our

investment in research and development activities which could adversely affect our ability to maintain

the competitiveness of our existing products our ability to develop new products1 and our future

research and development capabilities Failure to continue to timely develop technologies and products

necessary for us to remain competitive is likely to have material and adverse effect on our business

Our quarterly revenue levels are not predictable Our revenues have fluctuated some cases

significantly on quarterly basis and we expect
this trend to contmue For example fiscal 2008 our

quarterly revenues fluctuated from high of $6.7 million in the second quarter of 2008 to low of

$6.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in fiscal 2007 our quarterly revenues fluctuated from high

of $5 million in the fourth quarter of 2007 to low of $5 million in the first second and third

quarters of 2007 and in fiscal 2006 our quarterly revenues fluctuated from high of $4 million

both the first and fourth quarters of 2006 to low of $3 million in both the second and third quarters

of 2006 These quarterly fluctuations have resulted from number of factors mcluding but not limited

to the following

delays by our customers including customers who are resellers in signing revenue-bearing

contracts that were expected to be entered into in particular fiscal quarter and in particular

the timing of any significant sales ttansªctions
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the- status of the market for enterprise software and general macroeconomic factors that impact

our potential customers capital purchasing decisions for infonnation technology or IT
solutions such as our products

the lengthy sales cycle associated with our products which complicates our ability to accurately

forecast the timing of our revenues

fluctuations in domestic and foreign demand for our products and services particularly in the

telecommunications and defense markets

the extent to which we do or do not complete tasks under contracts for consulting projects which

must be completed in order for us to recognize certain revenues under such contracts

customer and market perceptions of the value and currency of object-oriented software

technology

uncertamty regarding the timing and scope of customers deployment of applications based on

VOD where revenues are contingent upon the customers deployment of our product

any failure by us to timely develop and launch successful new products

the impact of new product introductions both by us and by our competitors

our unwillingness to lower prices significantly to meet prices set by our competitors or

reductions of our pnces to meet competition

the effect of the publication by industry writers securities analysts or others regarding their

opinions about us our competitors our products and our competitors products

customer deferrals of orders for our products or services in anticipation of product

enhancements the pending release of new product versions or new product offerings by us or

our competitors

potential customers unwillingness to invest in our products given our size and assets

To expand and diversify our product line may adversely affect our operating results and may not result in

the development of successful new products To develop new products in order to expand and diversify

our product offerings beyond our core products VOD FastObjects and db4o will likely require

substantial marketing research and development and sales expenditures and in some cases product

acquisition costs with no assurance that we will receive incremental additional revenue from such new

products To develop successful new products typically requires us to incur significant marketing

expenditures to determine viable products and applications and target customers as well as substantial

research and development expenditures and additional sales expense associated with selling new

products to new customers significant portion of such expenses would likely be incurred well in

advance of our recognition of any revenues from such new products and thus could adversely affect

our -results of operations and cash flows for certain fiscal periods before we derive any significant

revenues from such new products In addition there ca be no assurance that any new products will be

accepted in the marketplace or generate meaningful amounts of revenue or net income Failure to

develop successful new products may adversely affect our -ability to successfully market other products

and our future revenues Consequently the Company must act carefully when making product or

technology development decisions In December 2008 we acquired the db4o database assets of Servo

Software with the objective of giving us new product as well as access to new customers and

additional revenue opportunities However the financial costs of this acquisition and associated

operational costs may adversely affect our results of operations for certain fiscal periods
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Our future revenues are substantially dependent upon our installed customers continuing to license

Versant products and renew their maintenance agreements for our products Our future- professional services

and maintenance revenues are dependent on future sales of our software products We depend heavily on

our installed customer base for future revenues from licenses of additional products or upgrades of

existing products and related fees from the renewal of maintenance and support agreements If our

existing customers do not purchase additional products upgrade existing products or renew their

maintenance and support agreements with- us this could materially and adversely affect our business

and future quarterly and annual operating results The terms of our standard license arrangements

provide for one-time license fee and prepayment of one year of software maintenance and support
fees Our maintenance agreements are renewable annually at the option of the customer and there are

no minimum payment obligations or obligations to license additional software Therefore our current

customers may not necessarily generate significant maintenance revenues in future periods if they

choose not to renew our maintenance services This risk may be increased in the case of long-term

customers who have not upgraded our products which they license In addition our customers may
choose not to puichase additional products upgrades or professional services Our professional services

and maintenance revenues are also dependent upon the continued use of our products byour installed

customer base Consequently any downturn in our software license revenues would likely have

corresponding negative impact on the growth of our professional service revenues

Our customer concentration increases the potential volatility of our operating results Due to the

nature of our products significant portion of our total revenues has been and we believe will

continue to be derived from limited number of orders placed by large organizations For example
one customer accounted for 23% of our total revenues for the first quarter of fiscal 2008 two

customers accounted for 15% and 14% respectively of -o1r total revenues for the second quarter of

fiscal 2008 two customers accounted for 22% and 11% respectively of our total revenues for the third

quarter of fiscal 2008 but no one customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues for the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 or for fiscal 2O08 Two customers accounted for 14% and 8% respectively

of our total revenues for fiscal 2007 and one customer accounted for 21% of our total revenues for the

quarter ended October 31 2007 The timing of large orders and their fulfillment has caused and in the

future is likely to cause material fluctuations in our operating results particularly on quarterly basis

In addition oUr major customers tend to change from
year to year The loss of any One or more of our

majoustotliers or Our inability tO replace customer making declining purchases wIth ÆiiŁw

customer of comparable significance could each have material adverse effect on our business

Our products have lengthy sales cycle The sales cycle for our VOD FastObjects and db4o

products -varies substantially from customer to customer This sale cycle often -exceeds nine months and

can- sometimes extend to year or more especially for sales to defense sector customers Due in part

to the critical and strategic nature of our products and the expenditures associated with their purchase
our potential customers are typically very cautious in making decisions to acquire our products In

order for us to influence our customers decision to license our products generally requires us to

provide significant level of education to prospective customers regarding the uses- and benefits of our

products and we frequently commit to provide that education without any charge or reimbursement

Generally pre-sales support efforts such as assistance in performing benchmarking -and application

prototype development are also conducted with no charge to customers Because of the lengthy sales

cycle for our products and the relatively large average dollar size of our individual Licenses lost or

delayed sales transaction could potentially have significant negative impact on Our operating results

for particular fiscal period

We may not be able to manage our costs effectively given the unpredictability of our revenues We
expect to continue to maintain relatively high percentage of fixed expenses Inasmuch as we have

completed restructuring in fiscal 2005 and 2006 to significantly reduce our operating expenses and in

fiscal 2007 reduced the rent expense for our U.S headquarters we might be unable to further reduce
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certain fixed expenses to accommodate any revenue reductions However if our forecasted revenue

does not materialize then our business financial condition and results of operations will be materially

harmed

We rely on revenues from the telecommunications and defrnse industries and these industries are

characterized by complexity intense competition and changes in purchasing cycles Historically we have

been highly dependent upon the telecommunications industry and more recently we are also becoming

increasingly dependent upon the defense industry for sales of VOD Our success in these markets

depends to large extent on the general economic conditions affecting these industries our ability to

compete with other technology providers of solutions that directly compete with or provide alternatives

to our products our ability to develop products that can successfully interoperate in different

computing environments and whether our existing and potential customers believe we have the

expertise and financial stability necessary to provide effective solutions and support in these markets on

an ongoing basis If these conditions among others are not satisfied we may not be successful in

generating additional opportunities in these markets The defense industry may experience new cycles

of lower available technology budgets compared to previously high levels of U.S defense spending for

operations in Iraq and Afghanistan or as result of changes in budgetary and spending priorities as

result of the new U.S presidential administration As previously noted the current global economy is

in recession and in the past general economic downturns have also adversely affected our ability to

generate revenues from customers in the telecommunications defense and other industries In addition

the types
of applications and commercial products for the telecommunications and defense markets are

continuing to develop and are rapidly changing and these markets are characterized by an increasing

number of new entrants whose products may compete with ours As result we cannot predict the

future growth of or whether there will be future growth in these markets and demand for object-

oriented databases applications in these markets may not develop or be sustainable We also may not

be successful in attaining sigmficant
share of these markets due to competition and other factors

such as our limited size and working capital Moreover potential customers in these markets generally

develOp sophisticated
and complex applications that require substantial consulting expertise to

implement and optimize There can be no assurance that we can hire and retain adequate skilled

personnel to provide such ongoing consulting services

We rely on substantial revenues generated through our international operations and will continue to do so

in the future large portion of our revenues is derived from customers located outside North

America and it is critical for us to maintain these international revenues Following our 2004

acquisition of Poet which had strong European presence international revenues have represented

larger percentage of our total revenues than they had prior to that time Consequently we maintain

offices in Germany and must conduct our operations internationally and maintain significant presence

in international markets For fiscal 2008 international revenues derived from customers outside North

America made up approximately 63% of our total revenues for the fiscal year compared to 54% for

fiscal 2007 and 63% for fiscal 2006 Our North American revenues were 37% of total revenues for

fiscal 2008 compared to 46% for fiscal 2007 and 37% for fiscal 2006 Due to the changes in our sales

management and organization which has to some degree shifted more of our sales emphasis to

European customers we expett in the future to experience somewhat stronger demand for our

products in Europe as compared to our other geographic markets making our international revenues

even more critical to our operations and cash flows

International Operations pose unique risks Our international operations are subject to number of

unique risks in addition to the risks faced by our domestic operations These risks include but are not

limited to the following areas

longer receivable collection periods

adverse changes in regulatory requirements
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dependence on independent resellers

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates

compliance with multiple and conflicting laws regulations and technology standards in different

junsdictions some of which are more burdensome and restrictive than laws

import and export restrictions tariffs and other regulatory restrictions

difficulties in and increased costs of staffmg and managing foreign operations

potentially adverse tax consequences arising from international operations and inter-company

transactions

the burdens of complying with variety of foreign laws including more protective employment
laws in Germany

the impact of business cycles economic and political instability and potential hostilities outside

the United States and

limited ability to enforce agreements intellectual property rights and other rights in some
foreign countries

In addition in light of increasing global security and terrorism and the recent global economic

downturn there may be additional risks of disruption to our international sales activities Any
prolonged disruption in the markets in which we derive significant revenues may potentially have

material adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations

In order to be successfii4 Versant must attract retain and motivate key employees for whom competition
is intense and failure to do so could seriously harm the Company particularly given the smaller size of our
executive management team In order to effectively execute our busmess

strategy we must attract
retam and motivate our executives and other key employees mcludmg those managerial sales and
technical positions Our future performance depends significant part upon the contmued service of

our key technical sales and senior management personnel The loss of the services of one or more of

our key employees could have material adverse effect on our business particularly so given the

relatively snialler our executive management team which
currently-consistsof Jochen Witte our

President and Chief Executive Officer and Jerry Wong our Vice President Finance Chief Financial

Officer and Secretary In December 2008 the employment of our Executive VP of Field Operations
who wasbased in Germany terminated and that officers duties are now being assumed by Jochen

Witte Veisants President and Chief Executive Officer which will increase his responsibilities. Although
we currently plan to recruit new qualified sales çxecutive in fiscal 2009 there can be no assurance
that we will be able to do so on timely basis. Our future success also depends on our continuing

ability to attract train and motivate highly qualified technical sales and managerial personnel We
reduced our workforce in connection with restructuring of our operations in the fourth quarter of

fiscal 2004 and in the third
quarter of fiscal 2005 These factors constraints on our ability to offer

compensation at levels that may be offered by larger competitors and other circumstances may
adversely affect our ability to attract and retain key nianagement in the future We must continue to

motivate our employees and keep them focusedon the achievement of our strategies and goals We
retain significant number of employees in our offices in Pune India There is increasing competition
for skilled employees in the Indian market resulting in greater risk of employee turnover and loss of

key trained personnel there which could adversely impact our research and development and quality
control activitie In addition we now employ sizable German workforce subject to German
employment law which generally provides greater financial protection to terminated employees than

does United States law Consequently failure to retain our German employees may cause us to incur

significant severance costs which could adversely affect our operating results and fmancial condition
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Our personnel management team and operations are located in different countries and as resuk we

may experience dfficulty in coordinating our activities and successfully implementing Company goals

Following our 2004 merger with Poet we acquired significant operations and personnel in Europe and

now have approximately 37 employees based in Europe whose activities must be well coordinated with

those of our U.S workforce and our other employees In addition we also perform significant

amount of engineering work in India through our wholly owned subsidiary located in Pune India We

currently employ about 31 employees in India which represents approximately 38% of our total

workforce Our management team resides in both our U.S headquarters in Redwood City California

where our Chief Financial Officer is located and in our offices in Hamburg Germany where our Chief

Executive Officer resides The significant geographic dispersion of our management team and our

workforce may make it more difficult for us to successfully manage our long-term objectives coordinate

activity across the Company and integrate our operations and business plans and causes us to incur

certain additional travel and other expenses to maintain communications between our various offices

We are subject to litigation and the risk offuture litigation Versant and certain of its former officers

and directors were named as defendants in four class action lawsuits filed in 1998 in the United States

District court for the Northern District of California alleged violations of Sections 10b and 20a of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule lOb-5 promulgated under that Act in connection

with public statements about our financial performance Although this case was later dismissed there

can be no assurance that we will not be subject to similar securities-related litigation in the future In

addition during fiscal 2006 we settled litigation that commenced in the last quarter of fiscal 2004

when we were sued by Systems America Inc privately held company in an action which alleged

that prior to our acquisition of Mokume Software Inc in November 2002 persons associated with

Mokume Software misappropriated trade secrets and confidential information of Systems America

unfairly competed with Systems America with respect to its customer relationships and infringed

Systems Americas trademarks and trade names Additionally during fiscal 2008 we settled another

litigation in which prior customer was seeking indemnification from us for costs the customer had

incurred in defending suit brought against it by third party which alleged that Versant product

that was discontinued in 2004 infringed the third partys intellectual party Litigation can be expensive

to defend can consume significant amounts of management time and can result in judgments or

settlements that could have adverse effects on our results of operations financial condition and cash

reServes

We will incur increased costs to comply with certain requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of 2002 and

regulations relating to corporate governance
matters and public disclosure The provisions of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002 related rules adopted or proposed by the SEC and by the NASDAQ Stock Market

and recent accounting pronouncements including accounting rules regarding the expensing of stock

options and accounting for uncertainty in income taxes have increased our costs to evaluate the

implications
of these laws regulations and standards and comply with their requirements Based on the

market price of our common stock on April 30 2008 we became an accelerated filer under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for our fiscal year ended October 31 2008 which resulted in our

having to comply with the provisions
of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act regarding certain

assessments and auditor attestations regarding internal control structure reporting Compliance with

these assessment and attestation obligations has increased our general and administrative expenses In

addition to maintain high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure we intend to invest

resources to comply with existing requirements and standards

Although we believe we currently have adequate internal control over financial reporting we are required

to assess our interAal control over financial reporting on an annual basis and any future adverse results from

such assessment could result in loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and have an adverse

effect on our stock price Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 SOX 404 and

the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC to implement SOX 404 we are required to furnish
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an annual report in our Form 10-K regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting The reports assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of our
fiscal year must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial

reporting identified by management Managements assessment of internal control over financial

reporting requires management to make subjective judgments and because this requirement to provide

management report has only been in effect since 2004 some of our judgments will be in areas that

may be open to interpretation Therefore we may have difficulties in assessing the effectiveness of our
internal controls and our auditors who are required to issue an attestation report along with our

management report may not agree with managements assessments Although we currently believe our
internal control over financial reporting is effective the effectiveness of our internal controls is subject
to the risk that our controls may become inadequate ffwe are unable to assert that our internal

control over financial reporting is effective or if our auditors are unable to provide an attestation

report regarding the effectiveness of otir internal controls or qualify such report or fail to provide such

report in timely manner we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports which would have an adverse effect on our stock price

Adoption and application of accounting regulations and related interpretations and policies regwthng
revenue recognition could caiste us to defer recognition of revenue or recognize lower revenues and profits

Although we use standardized license agreements designed to meet current revenue recognition criteria

under
generally accepted accounting principles we must often negotiate and revise terms and

conditions of these standardized agreements particularly in multi-element or multi-year transactions

As our transactions increase in complexity with the sale of larger multi-product multi-year.licenses

negotiation of mutually acceptable terms and conditions with our customers can extend the sales cycle
for our products and in certain situations may require us to defer recognition of revenue on such

licenses We believe that we are in compliance with Statement of Position 97-2 Software Revenue

Recognition as amended however these future more complex multi-element multi.year license

transactions which may require additional accounting analysis to account for them accurately could

lead to unanticipated changes in our current revenue accounting pradtices and may contain terms

affecting the timing of our revenue recognition

Charges to earnings resulting from the application of the purchase method of accountin for the merger
with Poet and FastObjects and our acquisition of the db4o assets may adversely affect the market value of ur
common stock In accordance with the U.S generally accepted accounting principles we account for

our mergerwith Poets our acquisition of FastObjects Inc and our fiscal 2009 acquisition of the db4o
assets of Servo Software using the purchase method of accounting which results in charges tO earnings
that could have material adverse effect on the market value of our common stock Under the
purchase method of accounting we have allocated the total estimated purchase price of Poet and

FastObject to net tangible asets..ancLamortizable intangible assets-based-on their fair-values-as of the-

respective dates of the closing of these acquisitions and recorded the excess of the purchase price over
those fair values as goodwilL We will incur additional depreciation rand amortization expense over the

useful lives of certain intangible assets acquired in connection with these acquisitions which will extend
into future fiscal years In addition to the extent the value of goodwill or intangible assets is impaired
we may be required to incur material charges relating to the impairment of those assets Such

amortization and potential impairment charges could have material impact on our results of

operations

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property could impair our ability to successfully compete
Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects
of our products obtain or use information that we regard as proprietary or use or make copies of our

prOdtictsin violation of license agreements Policing -unauthorized use of our products is difficult and

enforcing our proprietary rights is potentially expensive In addition the laws of many jurisdictions do

not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States Shrink-wrap
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licenses may be wholly or partially unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and copyright

and trade secret protection for software may be unavailable in certain foreign countries Our means of

protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate and our competitors may independently develop

similar technologies which they could then market and sell to our customers which could have an

adverse impact on our revenues

We may be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement We expect that developers of

object-oriented and other technologies will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number

of products competitors and patents in our industry sector grows Intellectual property infringement

litigation can also arise from acquisitions by the Company of businesses or assets For example in 2004

we were served with complaint filed by Systems America Inc alleging that we received

misappropriated intellectual property from Mokume Software Inc when we acquired Mokume in

November 2002 and that Mokume had interfered with certain business relationships of Systems

America Although this action was settled with Systems America prior custOmer of Versant sought

indemnification from us for alleged infringement of intellectual property rights asserted against it by

Systems America with respect to product that we discontinued in 2004 The customers

indemnification claims included seeking recovery of costs it incurred in defending now settled suit

brought against it by Systems America who had asserted that its intellectual property rights had been

infringed The prior customer and Versant reached settlement agreement with respect to this pending

litigation on June 2008 for cash settlement payment of $800000 and full mutual release of

claims Any claim of this type whether meritorious or not could be time-consuming could result in

significant litigation expenses could cause product shipment delays and require us to enter into royalty

or licensing agreements or pay amounts in settlement of the claims or pursuant to judgments If any of

our products or technologies were found to infringe third-party rights royalty or licensing agreements

to use such third-party rights might not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all and we might

be enjoined from marketing an infringing product or technology each of which circumstances could

have material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market The listing Qf our common stock on

The NASDAQ Capital Market may be perceived as negative by investors and may adversely affect

the liquidity and trading price of our common stock We may be unable to re-list our common stock on

The NASDAQ Global Market System or NGMS

We may engage in future acquisitions of businesses or assets that could dilute our shareholders and cause

us to incur debt or assume contingent liabilities As part
of our strategy we may from time to time

review opportunities to buy other businesses or technologies that would complement our current

products expand the breadth of our markets or enhance our technical capabilities or that may

otherwise offer us growth opportunities In the event of any future acquisitions we potentially might

take any or all of the following actions

pay amounts of cash to acquire assets or businesses

issue stock that would dilute current shareholders percentage ownership

iicur debt and/or

assume liabilities

Such acquisitions also involve numerous risks including the following

problems combining the acquired operations technologies or products or integration of new

personnel

the incurrence of substantial transaction costs to effect such acquisitions
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the incurrence of unanticipated costs in completing such acquisitions or in inheriting unforeseen

liabilities and expenses of acquired businesses

diversion of managements attention from our coEe business

adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers

risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and

potential loss of kay employees of purchased organizations

Pursuant to this
strategy in December 2008 we acquired from privately-held Servo Software Inc

for cash assets associated with Servo Softwares db4o open source database solution for the embedded
device market We acquired these assets with the objective of expanding our product line and obtaining

access to new customers -and additional revenue opportunities However this acquisition is subject to

many of the risks of acquisitions outlined above including the fact that this product may generat
losses for future fiscal pcriods and adversely affect our results of operations In addition the d4o-
business employees are located in many different countries and thus we face additional chaUenges in

integrating these new personnel and retaining them The loss of any of the db4o team membes who

joined us followmg the acquisition could adversely affect our business and financial objectives for this

acquisition and result in additional costs

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate the db4o business or any

other businesses products or technologies that we might purchase in the future

Our stock price is volatile Our revenues operating results and stock price have historically been

and may continue to be subject to significant volatility particularly on quarterly basis We have

previously experienced revenues and earnings results- that were significantly below levels expected by

security analysts and investor which have had an immediate and significant adverse effect on the

trading price of our common stock This may occur again in the future Additionally as significant

portion of our revenues are often realized late in fiscal quarter we may not be aware of any revenues

shortfall until late in quarter which when announced cOuld result in an even more immediate and

adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock In December 2008 our Board of Directors

approved stock repurchase program under which the Company is authorized to potentially repurchase

up to $5.0 million worth of our outstanding common shares Repurchases of our shares would reduce

the number of our outstanding common shares and might incrementally increase the potential for

volatility in ur stock by reducing the potential volumes at which our common shares may trade in the

public markets

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal administrative sales and marketing operations are headquartered at an

approximately 6800 square foot office facility we lease that is located at 255 Shoreline Drive Suite 450
Redwood City California 94065 Our current lease of this facility has term of thirty-six months which

commenced in June 2007

Additionally we also lease office space for our international subsidiaries in Hamburg Germany
and Pune India under multi-year operating lease agreenents We believe that all of Our current

facilities are in reasonably good operating condition and will be adequate for our requirements for the

next several years Based on current commercial real estate market conditions we believe that we will

be able to lease alternative comparable facilities in Germany India or in U.S if required to do so
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Item Legal Proceedings

We may from timeto time be subject to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of

business Currently we are not subject to any material legal proceedings required to be disclosed under

this Item

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal

2008
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PART II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equit Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol VSNT Our
common stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq National Market on July 18 1996 From July 19
1999 until March 2000 our cOmmon stock was traded on the Nasdaq SmaliCap Market From
March 2000 until September 30 2002 our common stock was traded on the Nasdaq National

Market Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market formerly the Nasdaq
SmaliCap Market since October 2002 We requested that listing of our common stock be transferred

to the Nasdaq Capital Market as of October 2002 since it then seemed unlikely that in the near

term we would continue to be able to satisfy the then-applicable listing criteria of the Nasdaq National

Market System

The following table lists the high and low bid prices of our common stock reported on the Nasdaq
Capital Market for the periods indicated during the last two fiscal years

Fiscal year ended October 31 2008 High Low

Fourth
quarter $30.50 $14.99

Third
quarter $33.44 $24.02

Second
quarter $31.14 $23.46

First
quarter $30.32 $18.66

Fiscal year ended October 31 2007

Fourth quarter $22.87 $18.40

Third quarter $25.10 $18.02

Second quarter $19.70 $13.71

First quarter $15.15 $10.06

Shareholdec

There were approximately 95 holders of record of our common stock as of January 2009 We
believe that significant number of beneficial owners of our common stock hold their shares in street

name Based on information available to us we believe that there are approximately 2709 beneficial

owners of our common stock

Dividend Policy

We have neither declared nor paid any cash dividend on our common stock in the past We
currently intend to retain future earnings if any to fund development and growth of our business and
therefore do not anticipate that we will declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock in the

foreseeable future

In connection with our merger with Poet in fiscal 2004 the holders of our then outstanding shares

of Series Preferred Stock had their outstanding shares of Series Preferred Stock converted into

shares of our common stock at an increased conversion rate of three shares rather than two shares of

common stock per each share of Series Preferred Stock In addition the exercise price of certain

common stock purchase warrants held by such preferred shareholders was reduced from $21.30 to

$16.60 per share and the term of such warrants was extended by one year As result of these actions

deemed dividend in the amount of approximately $2.4 million was recorded during the three months

ended April 30 2004 Please see Item Selected Financial Data
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Versant made no issuances of unregistered securities in fiscal 2008

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

No repurchases of Versant equity securities were made by or on behalf of Versant or any

affiliated purchaser as defined in SEC Rule lOb-18 in the fourth quarter of our fiscal
year

ended

October 31 2008 In December 2008 we announced stock repurchase program pursuant to which the

Company was authorized to potentially repurchase up to $5.0 million of its common stock

Stock Performance Graphs and Cumulative Total Return

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Versant common stock with

the cumulative total return on the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Computer and Data

Processing Index for each of the last five fiscal years ended October 31 2008 assuming an investment

of $100 at the beginning of such period and the reinvestment of any dividends The comparisons in the

graphs below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of nor intended to forecast future

performance of our common stock

$200

$180

$160

$140

$120

$100

$80

$60

$40

$20

$0

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATiVE TOTAL RETURN

Among Versant Corporation The NASDAQ Composite Index

And The NASDAQ Computer Data Processing Index

10/03

Versant Corporation NASDAQ Composite --0--- NASDAQ Computer Data Processing

$100 invested on 10/31/03 in stock index-including reinvestment of dividends Fiscal year

ending October 31

10/04 10/05 10/06 10/07 10/08

23



Item SeLected Financial Data

The selected historical financial data presented below are derived from the consolidated financial

statements of Versant Corporation The selected consolidated financial data set forth below is qualified
in its entirety by and should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Consolidated Financial Statements of Versant

and notes thereto included elsewhere in this
report

It should also be noted that in fiscal 2004 we completed merger with Poet on March 18 2004
which increased our revenues and operating expenses for part of fiscal 2004 and substantially increased

the number of outstanding shares of our common stock at fiscal year-end for purposes of computing
net loss per share in fiscal 2004 We recorded an operating loss on the liquidation of foreign

subsidiary for approximately $245000 for fiscal 2007 and incurred restructuring charges of

approximately $218000 $638000 and $3 million for fiscal 2006 2005 and 2004 respectively and

charges of approximately $129 million and $1 million related to impairment of goodwill and

mtangible assets for fiscal 2005 and 2004 respectively and deemed dividend to preferred

shareholders of $24 million fiscal 2004 In addition in fiscal year 2005 and pnor fiscal years we
determined stock compensation expense according to then-effective APB Opinion No 25 whereas in

fiscal
years 2006 2007 and 2008 we determined stock-based compensation expense in accordance with

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123R Each of the above items has an impact on the

comparability of the selected fmancial data presented in Item of this report

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thousands except for per share amounts

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

Total revenues $25298 $21150 $16745 15746 $17697
Net income loss from continuing operations 9391 7329 3602 $14971 7952
Deemed dividend to preferred shareholders 2422
Net income loss from continuing operations

attributable to common shareholders 9391 7329 3602 $14971 $10374
Net income loss per share from continuing

operations attributable to common shareholders

basic 2.52 2.01 1.01 4.23 3.33
Net income loss per share from continuing

operations attributable to common shareholders

diluted 2.48 1.98 1.01 4.23 3.33
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 3729 3649 3577 3539 3117
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 3783 3708 3584 3539 3117
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash cash equivalents and short-term investments $27234 $19086 8231 3958 3313
Total assets $38561 $30466 $20261 16246 32545
Total long-term liabilities 374 674 770 897 1400
Total stockholder equity $33154 $23165 $13792 8988 22879
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As indicated in the paragraph above in Item of this repor1 this Fonn 10-K including this Item

contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

the Securities Act of 1933 These forward-looking statements are based on Versant current expectations

about our business industi operating results and financial condition and reflect our current beliefs and

assumptions as of the date of this report based upon information that is reasonably available to us at the

date of this report In many cases you may identify these forward-looking statements by words such as

wilaY choul4 may might bdieves anticipates expects intends estimates and similar

expressions These forward-looking statements include among other things projections of our future

financial performance financial condition and trends anticipated for our business We caution investors that

forward looking statements are only predictions or estimates based upon our current expectations about

future events The forward-looking statements are not guarantees or assurances of our future performance

and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties that are inherently difficult to assess and predict Our

actual results and performance may differ materially from the results and performance anticipated by any

forward-looking statements due to these risks and uncertainties some of which are discussed in Item 1A of

this report under the heading Risk Factors Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various

disclosures made by us in this report and in our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business

financial performance or financial condition

Background and Overview

We design develop market and support high performance object-oriented database management

systems and provide related maintenance and professional services Our products and services address

the complex data management needs of enterprises and providers of products requiring data

management functions Our products and services collectively comprise our single operating segment

which we call Data Management

Our end-user customers typically use our products to manage data for business systems and to

enable these systems to access and integrate data necessary for the customers data management

applications Our data management products and services offer customers the ability to manage

real-time XML and other types of hierarchical and navigational data We believe that by using our

data management solutions customers cut their hardware costs accelerate and simplify their

development efforts significantly reduce administration costs and deliver products with significant

competitive edge

Our Data Management business is currently comprised of the following key products

Versant Object Database or VOD previously known as VDS seventh generation object

database management system that is used in high-performance large-scale real-time

applications We also offer several optional ancillary products for use with Versant Object

Database to extend Versant Object Databases capabilities provide compatibility and additional

protection of stored data

FastObjects an object-oriented database management system that can be embedded as high

performance component into customers applications and systems

db4o an open source object database software solution targeted towards the embedded device

market

Our Versant Object Database product offerings are used primarily by larger organizations such as

technology providers telecommunications carriers government defense agencies defense contractors

healthcare companies and companies in the financial services and transportation industries each of

which have significant large-scale data management requirements With the incorporation of Poets
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FastObjects solution into our product line following our March 2004 merger with Poet we expanded

the scope of our solutions to also address the data management needs of smaller business systems
With the recent acquisition of db4o in December 2008 we further expanded the scope of our solutions

to mclude the embedded device market

Our customers data management needs can involve many business functions ranging from

management of the use and sharing of companys internal enterprise data to the processing of

externally originated information such as customer enrollment billing and payment transaction data

Our solutions have also been used to solve complex data management issues such as fraud detection

risk analysis and yield management

In addition to our product offerings to assist users developmg and deploying applications based

on Versant Object Database FastObjects and db4o we offer
variety of services mcludmg consultmg

trammg and technical support services

We license our products and sell associated maintenance training and consulting services to

end-users through our direct sales force and through value-added resellers systems integrators and

distributors

In addition to these products and services we resell related software developed by third parties To

date substantially all of our revenues have been derived from the following data management products

and related services

Sales of licenses for Versant Object Database and FastObjects

Maintenance and technical support services for our products

Consultmg and trainmg services

Nonrecurring engineering fees received in connection with providing services associated with

Versant Object Database

The resale of licenses and maintenance training and consulting services for third-party products
that complement Versant Object Database

Reimbursements received for out of-pocket expenses which we incurred and are recorded as

revenues in our statements of income

We acquired our newest product db4o through an asset purchase we consummated in December

2008 after the close of fiscal 2008 Consequently the financial statements included in this report and

the discussion of our financial results for fiscal years ended 2006 through 2008 in the remainder of this

Item do not reflect any revenues expenses or other business activity related td the db4o product

Financial Highlights for Fiscal 2008

Our net revenues in fiscal 2008 were $25 million an mcrease of $4 million or 20% from

net revenues of $21.2 million in fiscal 2007 This increase in revenues was primarily due to the

closing in fiscal 2008 of several significant transactions with existing customers through both our

European and North American operations We .depend heavily on our installed customer base

for future revenues from licenses of additional products or upgrades of existing products and

related maintenance renewal fees

Net income for fiscal 2008 was $9.5 million compared to net income of $7.6 million in fiscal

2007 Net income from continuing operations for fiscal 2008 was $9.4 million compared to net

income from continuing operations of $7.3 million in fiscal 2007 The increase of $2.1 million in

net income from continuing operations in fiscal 2008 was due directly to our increased revenues

in fiscal 2008
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Our combined sales and marketing research and development and general and administrative

expenses were $13.2 million in fiscal 2008 an increase of $2.0 million or 18% from

$11 million reported fiscal 2007 This increase was primarily due to an increasc in
our

general and administrative expenses and to lesser degree to an increase in oiir research and

development expenses and sales and marketmg expenses durmg fiscal 2008

Cash provided by operations in fiscal 2008 was $8.7 million compared to $10.0 million of cash

provided by operations in fiscal 2007. The decrease in cash provided by operations in fiscal 2008

was primarily due to cash usage resulting in reduction in other- liabilities as result- of payment

of corporate taxes for the tax years
ended in 2007 and 2008 as well as bonuses paid in fiscal

2007 due to performance over targeted bonus levels not repeated in fiscal 2008 and to lesser

extent reduction in deferred revenues a-nd an increase in trade accounts receivable During

fiscal 2008 ou cash and cash equivalents balance increased by $81 million to $27.2 million at

October 31 2008 compared to $19.1- million at October 31 2007

Fiscal 2008 and Beyond

During fiscal 2008 we focused our sales and marketing efforts on our data management products

Versant Object Database and FastObjects and on related maintenance consulting and training services

Versant Object Database was the key focus of otir marketing efforts and the major souite of our

license and service revenues in fiscal 2008

We agam expect to derive most of our revenues fiscal 2009 from Versant Object Database and

FastObjects licenses and related serices

On December 2008 we acquired the assets of the database software business of privately-held

Servo Software Inc formerly db4objects for $2.4 million in cash including $300000 of

contingent payments. db4o is an open source object database software solution targeting the

embedded device market It is distributed under free open source licenses to large open source

commumty of approximately 50000 registered members located around the world and some cases is

licensed on fee-beaxing basis to certain customers for redistribution

Like many other software companies we dO not -operate with significant backlog of orders Our

license revenues in particular are- difficult to forecast The outlook into the Companys anticipated

performance in fiscal 2009 is much more uncertain than in prior years due principally to the recent

significant worldwide recession However we currently expect our business to be at level essentially

comparable to fiscal 2008 Due to the recentstrengthening of the U.S dollar against the euro

comparable level of business activity will translate into lower amount of dollar-denominated revenue

for the Company in fiscal 2009 assuming that the current U.S dollar euro currency exchange rate

continues during fiscal 2009 Therefore for fiscal year 2009 we currently forecast revenues of between

$22 million and $24 million and diluted earnings per share of between $2.00 and $2.40 Withoi4t

limitation the estimates and forecasts in this paragraph are forward-looking statements
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated fmancial statements requires us to make estimates and

judgments that affect the reported amount of our assets and liabthties at the date of our financial

statements and of our revenues and expenses dunng the reportmg penod covered by our financial

statements We base these estimates and judgments on information reasonably available to us such as

our historical experience and trends industry economic and seasonal fluctuations and on our own
internal projections that we derive from that information Although we believe our estimates to be

reasonable under the circumstances there can be no assurances that such estimates will be accurate

given that the application of these accounting policies necessarily involves the exercise of subjective

judgment and the making of assumptions regarding many future variables and uncertainties We
consider critical those accounting policies that require our most difficult subjective or complex

judgments and that are the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of

operations These critical accounting policies relate to revenue recognition goodwill and acquired

intangible assets and income taxes

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues in accr4ance with the provisions of Statement of Position SOP 97-2

Software Revenu Recognition SOP 98-9 Modification of SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition with

Respect to Certain Transactions and SOP 1-1 Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and
Certain Production-Type Con tracts Our revenues consist mainly of revenues earned under software

license agreements maintenance support agreemtits otherwise known as post-contract customer

support or PCS and to lesser degree agreements for consulting and training activities

We use the residual method to recognize revenues when license agreement includes one or more
elements to be delivered by us at future date If there is an undelivered element under the license

arrangement we defer revenues based on vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE of the fair

value of the undelivered element as determined by the price charged when the element is sold

separately If VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements of transaction we defer

all revenues from that transaction until sufficient evidence of the fair value exists or until all elements

have been delivered Under the residual method discounts are allocated only to the delivered elements

in multiple element arrangement with any undelivered elements being deferredbased on the vendor

specific objective evidence of the value of such undelivered elements We typically do not offer

discounts on future undeveloped products

Revenues from software license arrangements including prepaid license fees are recognized when
all of the followifig cntena are met

Persiwsive evidence of an arrangement exists

Delivery has occurred and there are no future deliverables except PCS

The fee is fixed and determinable If we cannot conclude that fee is fixed and determinable

then assuming all other criteria have been met we recognize the revenues as payments become
due in accordance with paragraph 29 of SOP 97-2

Collection is probable

If an acceptance period or other contingency exists revenues are not recognized until customer

acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period or until satisfaction of the contingency as

applicable Our license fees are generally non-cancelable and non-refundable Also our customer

agreements for prepaid deployment licenses do not make payment of our license fees contingent upon
the actual deployment of the software Therefore customers delay or acceleration in its deployment
schedule does not impact our revenue recognition in the case of prepaid deployment license

Revenues from related PCS for all product lines are usually billed in advance of the service being
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provided and are deferred and recognized on straight-line basis over the term in whith the PCS is to

be performed which isgenerally twelve months In soEne cases PCS revenues are paid in arrears of the

service being provided and are recognized as revenues at the time the customer provides
report

to us

for deployments made during given time period fraining and consulting revenues are recognized

when purchase order is received the services have been performed and collection is deemed

probable Consulting services are billed on an hourly daily or monthly rate framing classes are billed

based on group or individual attendance

We categorize our customers into two broad groups End-Users and Value Added Resellers

VARs End User customers are companies who use our products internally and do not redistribute

our product outside of their corporate organizations VAR customers include traditional Value Added

Resellers Systems Integrators Original Equipment Manufacturers OEMs and other vendors who

redistribute our products to their external third party customers either separately or as part of an

integrated product

We license our data management products through two types of perpetual licensesdevelopment

licenses and deployment licenses Development licenses are typically sold on per seat basis and

authorize customer to develop and test an application program that uses our software product Pnor

to an End-User customer bemg able to deploy an application that it has developed under our

development license it must purchase deployment licenses based on the number of computers

connected to the server that will run the application using our product For certain applications we

offer deployment licenses priced on per user basis Pricing of Versant Objcct Database and

FastObjects licenses varies according to several factors including the number of computer servers on

which the application runs and the number of users that are able to access the server at any one time

Customers may elect to simultaneously purchase development and deployment licenses for an entire

project These development and deployment licenses may also provide for prepayment to us of

nonrefundable amount for future deployment

VARs and distnbutors purchase development licenses from us on per seat basis on terms similar

to those of development licenses that we sell directly to End-Users VARs are authorized to subhcense

deployment copies of our data management products that are either bundled or embedded in the

VARs applications and sold directly to End-Users VARs are required to report their distribution of

oui software and are charged royalty that is either based on the number of copies of the application

software that are distributed or computed as percentage of the selling price charged by the VARs to

their end-user customers These royalties from VARs may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment

Provided that all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met revenues from arrangements

with VARs are recognized as to prepaid license arrangements when the prepaid licenses are sold to

the VAR and ii as to other license arrangements at the time the VAR provides royalty report to us

for sales made by the VAR during given period

Revenues from our resale of third-party products or services are recorded at total contract value

with the corresponding cost included in the cost of sales when we act as principal in these

transactions by assuming the risks and rewards of ownership including the risk of loss for collection

delivery or returns When we do not assume the risks and rewards of ownership revenues from the

resale of third-party products or services are recorded at contract value net of the cost of sales

On occasion at customers request we perform engineering work to port our products to an

unsupported platform or to customize our software for specific functionality or we perform any other

non-routme technical assignment for customer In these mstances we recognize revenues

accordance with SOP 81-1 Accounting Research Bulletin ARB No 45 As Amended Long-Term

Construction Type Contracts and use either the time and matbnal percentage of completion or

completed contract methods for recognizing revenues We use the percentage of completion method if

we can make reasonable and dependable estimates of labor ºOsts and hours required to complete the
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work in questioL We periodically review these estimates in connection with the work performed and

rates actually charged and recognize any losses when identified Progress to completion is determined

using the cost-to-cost method whereby cost incurred to date as percentage of total estimated cost

determines the percentage completed and revenue recognized When using the percentage of

completion method the following conditions must exist

An agreement must include provisions that clearly specify the rights regarding goods or services

to be provided and received by both parties the consideration to be exchanged and the manner
and terms of settlement

The customer is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract

Versant is able to satisfy its obligations under the contracL

The completed contract method is used when reasonable or dependable estimates of labor costs

and time to complete the work cannot be made As result in such situations we defer all revenues

until such time as the work is fully completed

Management makes significant judgments and estimates in connection with the determination of

the revenue we recognize each accounting period If we had made different judgments or utilized

different estimates for any penod material differences the amount and timing of revenue recognized

would have resulted

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

We account for purchases of acquired compatties in accordance with SFAS No 141 Business

Combinations and account for the related acquired intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No 142
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets In accordance with SFAS 141 we allocate the cost of the acquired

companies to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired according totheir respective fair

values as of the date of completion of the acquisition with the remainig amount being classified as

goodwill Certain mtangible assets such as acquire1 technology are amortized to expense over time

while rn-process research and development costs or IPRD if any are charged to operations

expenditures at the time of acquisition

We test for-anygoodwill impairment within our single Data Management oeratingsegrnent All

our goodwill reflected in the financial statements in this report has been aggregated from and

acquired in connection with the following acquisitions

Versant Europe acquired in 1997

Poet Holdings Inc acquired in March 2004

Technology of JDO Genie PTY Ltd acquired in June 2004 and

FastObjects mc acquired in July 2004

We test goodwill for impairment in accordance with SFAS 142 which requires that goodwill be

tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least annually and more frequently upon the

occurrence of certain events as provided in SFAS 142We use the market approach to asSess the fair

value of our assets and this value is compared with the carrying value of those assets to test for

impairment The total fair value of our assets is estimated by summing the fair value of our equity as
indicated by Versant publicly traded share pnce and shares outstanding plus control premium less

our liabilities Under this approach the estimated fair value of our assets is greater than their

carrymg value then there is no goodwilj impairment If the estimated fair value of our assets is less

than their carrying value then we allocate the reporting units estimated fair value to its assets and

liabilities as though the reporting unIt had Just been acquired in business combination The

impairment loss is the amount if any by which the implied fair value of goodwill allocable to the

30



reporting unit is less than that reporting units goodwill carrying amount and would be recorded in

operating results during the period of such impairment

Identifiable intangibles are currently amortized over five years in relation to the JDO Genie

PTY Ltd acquisition six years
in relation to the FastObjects Inc acquisition and seven years

in

relation to our acquisition of Poet using the straight-line method in each of these cases

We performed our annual valuation and analysis of goodwill based on the requirements of

SFAS 142 in October 2008 October 2007 and October 2006 We did not perform impairment tests

related to our intangible assets during fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 based on the requirements

of SFAS 144 as there were no triggering events which might indicate impairment As result we

determined that the value of our goodwill and intangible assets had been fairly recorded in our

financial statements and therefore no impairment charges against our goodwill and intangible assets

related to our Poet JDO Genie PTY and FastObjects acquisitions were recorded in fiscal 2008 fiscal

2007 and fiscal 2006

Income Taxes

We estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate and account for

income taxes payable as part of the preparation of our consolidated financial statements This proces

involves estimating our actual current tax expense as well as assessing temporary differences resulting

from differing treatment of items such as depreciation and amortization for financial and tax reporting

purposes These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which are included in our

consolidated balance sheet to the extent deemed realizable We then assess the likelihood that our

deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and the extent we believe that

recovery is not likely We establish valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets to the

extent such assets are not deemed to be realizable If we establish valuation allowance or increase it

in given period then we must increase the tax provision in our statements of income

Significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded

against our net deferred tax assets Due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax

assets we have established full valuation allowances at October 31 2007 and October 31 2008 for our

deferred tax assets

In addition we adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
Interpretation Number 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes FIN 48 on November

2007 Previously we had accounted for tax contingencies in accordance with Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No Accounting for Contingencies As required by FIN 48 which

clarifies SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes we recognize the financial statement benefit of

tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain

the position following an audit For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold the

amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has greater
than 50 percent

likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority At November

2007 we applied FIN 48 to all tax positions for which the statute of limitations remained open and

determined there are no material unrecognized tax benefits as of that date In addition we determined

that there have been no material changes in unrecognized benefits since November 2007 As result

the adoption of FIN 48 did not have material effect on our financial condition or results of

operations

We are subject to U.S federal income taxes and to income taxes in various states in the U.S as

well as in foreign jurisdictions Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation

of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply With few exceptions

we-are no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or foreign tax examinations by tax authorities

for tax years
before 2003

We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision

for income taxes for all periods presented which were not significant
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the historical results of operadons for Versant for Our three fiscal

years ended October 31 2008 2007 and 2006 expressed as percentage of total revenues

Percentige of
Revenues

Fiscal year ended

October 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues

License
.63% 60% 51%

Maintenance
36 39 40

Professional services

Total revenues io ioo

Cost of revenues

License

Amortization of intangible assets

Maintenance

Professional services

Total cost of revenues
io 18

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 14 16 19
Research and development 16 16 19
General and administrative

22 21 22
Loss on the liquidation of foreign subsidiary

Restructunng

Total operating expenses

Income from operations .. 39 36 21

Outside shareholders income from VIE
interest and other income net

Oainondisposal of VIE

Incothe from continuing operations btfore taxes 43 39 24
Provision for income taxes

Net mcome from contlnumg operafions 37 35 22
Net income from discontinued operations net of mcome taxes

Gain from sale of discQntmued operations net of income taxes

Net income 38% 36% 26%

Revenues

Total Revenues The following table summarizes our total revenues in thousands except
percentages for fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006
Fiscal Year ended October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Total revenues $25298 $21150 $16745 $4148 20% $4405 26%
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Total revenues are comprised of license fees and fees for maintenance training consulting

technical and other support services Fluctuations in our total revenues can be attributed to changes in

product and customer mix general trends in information technology spending changes in geographic

mix and the corresponding impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates Further product life

cycles impact revenues periodically as old contracts expire and new products are released Our revenues

as shown in the above table and in the accompanying statements of income included in this report
do

not include revenues from our disposed WebSphere consulting practice Instead as required by

generally accepted accounting principles our fmancial statements report former WebSphere activities as

net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes See NOTE of our NOTES TO

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS in Item of this Report for more information

regarding this transaction

Our total revenues increased by $4.1 million or 20% in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 This

increase resulted primarily from 26% increase in license revenues and 10% increase in maintenance

revenues in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 and included approximately $1.7 million of revenues

comprising 42% of the $4.1 million increase in total revenues resulting from favorable foreign

currency exchange rate fluctuations We believe factors that caused our license revenues to increase in

fiscal 2008 over fiscal 2007 included continuing increased maturity and focus of our sales organization

the continuing increased acceptance and success of our VAR customers applications with end-users

the overall reputation and acceptance of our products in the vertical markets including

telecommunications and defense that we serve and the strong
Euro as compared to the United States

Dollar in fiscal 2008 which resulted in higher consolidated revenues in fiscal 2008 Maintenance

revenues increased in fiscal 2008 over fiscal 2007 primarily as result of the increased license revenues

in the same period

Our total revenues increased by $4.4 million or 26% in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 This

increase resulted primarily from 50% increase in license revenues and 22% increase in maintenance

revenues in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 and included approximately $1.1 million of revenues

comprising 25% of the $4.4 mfflion increase in total revenues resulting from favorable foreign

currency exchange rate fluctuations This increase was partly offset by decrease of approximately

$1.3 million in professional services revenues in fiscal 2007 versus fiscal 2006

No one customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues in fiscal 2008 or for the

quarter ended October 31 2008 One customer accounted for 14% of our total revenues for fiscal 2007

and one customer accounted for 21% of our total revenues for the quarter ended October 31 2007 No

one customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenues in fiscal 2006 and one customer

accounted for 30% of our total revenues for the quarter ended October 31 2006

The inherently unpredictable business cycle of an enterprise software company makes discernment

of continued and meaningful business trends difficult In terms of license revenues we are still

experiencing lengthy sales cycles and customers preference for licensing our software on an as

needed basis versus the historical practice of prepaying license fees in advance of usage factor

which can adversely affect the amount of our license revenues License revenues also are critical

factor in driving the amount of our services revenues as new license customers typically enter into

support and maintenance agreements with us from which our maintenance revenues are derived over

future fiscal periods

We are currently expecting our total revenues for fiscal 2009 to be at similar level as in fiscal

2008 However due to the recent strengthening of the dollar against the euro this same level of

business activity would translate into lower dollar-denominated revenue number than our total

revenues for fiscal 2008 Therefore for fiscal year 2009 we currently forecast total revenues of between

$22 million and $24 million
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Revenues by Category The following table swnmarizes our revenues by category in thousands

except percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Total revenues by category

Ucense revenues

Maintnance revenues

Professional services revenues

$15922

9041

335

Total $25298

Fiscal 2008 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

Fiscal Year ended October 31 Increase ecrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percthtage In Dollars Percentage

$12681 8469 $3241 2% 4212 50%

8225 6726 816 10% 1499 22%
244 1550 91 37% 1306 84%

$21150 $16745 $4148 20% 4405 26%

Percentage of revenues by

categ.ry

License ievenues 63% 60% 51%
Maintenance revenues 36% 39% 40%
Professional services revenues 1%. 1% 9%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Fiscal 2008 Conmared to Fiscal .2007

Licenserevenues License revenues represent perpetual license fees received and recognized from

our End-Users and Value AddedResØllers

License revenues were $15.9 million or 63% of total revenues for fiscal 2008 an increase of

approximately $3 million or 26 from $127 million or 60% Of total revenues reported for fiscal

2007 The higher license revenues for flkal 2008 ere mainly aftributÆble to several significant license

transactions with four telecommumcations customers together totafing approximately $53 million and

included favdrable foreign currency fluctuations of approximately $1 million compnsmg 34% of the

$3.2 million increse in license revenues howevŁtthese increases in license revenues for fiscal 2008

were partially offset by approximately $23 million of license revenues from two ctistomers in the

telecommunications sector that weie recognizcd in lscal .207 but not repeatd in fiscal200..

The majonty of the growth in out license revethies fiscal 2008 over fiscal 2007 was driven

primaæly by license transactions with existing VAR custOmers in the telecommunications industry

which was our largest vertical market in fiscal 2008

Maintenance revenues Maintenance and technical support revenues include revenues derived from

maintenance agreements under which we provide customers with internet and telephone access to

support personnel and software upgrades dedicated technical assistance and emergency response

support options

Maintenance revenues were $9.0 million or 36% of total revenues for fiscal 2008 an increase of

$816000 or 10% from $8.2 million or 39% of total revenues reported for fiscal 2007 The increase

in maintenance revenues for fiscal 2008 was due primarily to incremental maintenance revenues of

approximately $528000 recognized in fiscal 2008 from maintenance agreements attributable to license

revenue growth from both U.S and European based customers over the past fiscal year and back

maintenance and maintenance revenues of approximately $340000 denved from two European based

telecommunications customers Fiscal 2008 mamtenance revenues also included favorable foreign

currency fluctuations of approximately $569000 compnsmg 70% of the $816000 mcrease

maintenance revenues
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Professional seivices revenues Professional services revenues consist of revenues from consulting

training and technical support as well as billable travel expenses incurred by our professional services

organization

Professional services revenues were $335000 or 1% of total revenues in fiscal 2008 an increase

of $91000 or 37% from $244000 or 1% of total revenues reported in fiscal 2007 This increase in

the absolute amount of professional services revenue for fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 was mainly

attributable to consulting revenues derived from our European operations

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

License revenues License revenues were $12.7 million or 60% of total revenues in fiscal 2007

an increase of $4.2 million or 50% from license revenues of $8.5 million or 51% of totalrevenes

reported in fiscal 2006 The higher license revenues for fiscal 2007 were due in part to two significant

license agreements with two U.S customers for approximately $787000 and $479000 and One

significant license transaction with U.S customer for approximately $1.0 million sourced througF our

European operations as well as three additional license agreements with three European customers for

approximately $1.1 million $689000 and $270000 and included favorable foreign currency exchange

fluctuations of approximately $653000 comprising 16% of the $4.2 million increase in license

revenues

The majority of the growth in our license revenues in fiscal 2007 over fiscal 2006 was driven

primarily by license transactions with existing VAR customers in the telecommunications industry

which was our largest vertical market in fiscal 2007

Maintenance revenues Maintetiance revenues were $8.2 million or 39% of total revenues in

fiscal 2007 representing an increase of $1.5 million or 22% from maintenance revenues of

$6.7 million or 40% of total revenues reported in fiscal 2006 The increased maintenance revenues for

fiscal 2007 are due primarily to incremental revenues of $1.1 million recognized during fiscal 2007 from

new maintenance agreements attributable to the license revenue growth from both U.S and European

based customers and to lesser extent maintenance revenues of $266000 related to the sale of

premium support and maintenance agreements for software applications using older versions Of our

software The increased maintenance revenues for fiscal 2007 included favorable foreign currency

fluctuations of approximately $370000 comprising 25% of the $1.5 million increase in maintenance

revenues

Professional services revenues Professional services revenues were $244000 or 1% of total

revenues in fiscal 2007 decline of $1.3 million or 84% from $1.6 million or 9% of total revenues

reported in fiscal 2006 This decline in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 was mainly due to the fact

that in fiscal 2006 we recognized $1.3 million in revenues from two significant

percentage-of-completion consulting projects with two European customers but had no such

corresponding professional services revenue transactions of this magnitude in fiscal 2007
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International revenues The following table summarizes our total revenues by geographic area in
thousands except percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006
Fiscal Year ended October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Iecrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Total revenues by geographic area

North America 9292 9679 6175 387 4% $3504 57%

Europe 13275 10672 10138 2603 24% 534 5%
Asia 2731 799 432 1932 242% 367 85%

Total $25298 $21150 $16745 $4148 20% $4405 26%

Percentage of revenues by

geographic area

North America 37% 46% 37%

Europe 52% 50% 60%
Asia 11% 4% 3%

Total 100% 100%__100%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Total revenues increased $4.1 million or 20% in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 The increase

in total revenues was due primarily to revenue increase of $2.6 million in our European operations as

result of closing several significant transactions during fiscal 2008 aud revenue increase of

$1.9 million from our Asian region offset by decrease of 387000 in our North American operations

International non-North American revenues represented approximately 63% and 54% of our

total revenues in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 respectively

Revenues from North America The $387000 or 4% revenue decrease from North America in

fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 was mainly due to an approximate decrease of $330000 in license

revenuesiroin the Llefense sector

tevenues from Europe The $2.6 million or 24% revenue increase from Europe in fiscal 2008

compared to fiscal 2007 was due mainly to the closing of license transactions with two European based

telecommunications customers totaling approximately $2.6 million in fiscal 2008 and included

approximtely $1.7 million revenues resulting from favorable foreign currency fluctuations

Since the Companys acquisition of Poet Holdings Inc in early 2004 we have generally derived

higher percentage of international revenues due to stronger demand for our products in Europe We
expect in the future to continue to experience somewhat strOnger demand for our products in Europe
as compared to our other geographic markets

Revenues from Asia We also experienced an increase of $1.9 million or 242% in revenues from

our Asia Pacific region during fiscal 2008 primarily due to three significant license transactions totaling

approximately $1.9 million with two Asia Pacific telecommunications customers

variety of factors may impact Versants future revenues including the potential strengthening of

the U.S dollar which would have the effect of reducing portions of our revenue resulting from

favorable currency exchange fluctuations and the generally more difficult economic environment

currently being experienced in the U.S and Europe which may negatively impact demand for our

products and services

36



Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Total revenues mcreased $44 million or 26% in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 The increase

in revenues was due primarily to revenue increase of $3 million in our North American operations

as result of closing several significant transactions with U.S customers during fiscal 2007

Additionally there was revenue increase of $901000 from our European and Asian regions

International non-North American revenues represented approximately 54% and 63% of our

total revenues in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 respectively

Revenues from North America The $3.5 million or 57% revenue increase from North America

in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 was mainly due to two significant transactions with two North

American customers totaling approximately $1.3 million as well as the closing of one significant license

and maintenance transaction with U.S customer for approximately $1.4 million in revenues sourced

through our European operations

Revenues from Europe The $534000 or 5% revenue increase from Europe in fiscal 2007

compared to fiscal 2006 was due mainly to the closing of three license agreements with three European

customers for approximately $2.0 million during fiscal 2007 offset by decrease of $1.3 million in

professional services revenues in fiscal 2007 versus fiscal 2006 due to the fact that two significant

percentage-of-completion consulting projects iii fiscal 2006 were not replaced with comparable projects

in fiscal 2007

Revenues from Asia We also experienced an increase of $367000 or 85% in revenues from our

Asia Pacific region during fisca 2007 primarily due to royalties of $226000 from an existing Asian

customer

Sincethe Companys acquisition of Poet Holdings Inc in early 2004 we have generally derived

higher percentage of international revenues than we had previously due to stronger
demand for our

products in Europe The closing of significant license and maintenance transaction with U.S

customer for approximately $1.4 million in revenues sourced through our European operations during

fiscal 2007 has been included as North American revenues This one transaction accounted for 40% of

the overall North American revenue increase for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 and accounted for

much of the increase in the percentage of our revenues sourced from North America in fiscal 2007 as

compared to fiscal 2006 We expect in the future to experience somewhat stronger demand for our

products in Europe as compared to our other geographic markets including North America

Cost of Revenues

Cost of Revenues The following table summarizes the cost of revenues in thousands except

percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

Fiscal Year ended October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Peicentage

Total revenues $25298 $21150 $16745 $4148 20% 4405 26%

Cost of license revenues 309 142 313 167 118% 171 55%

Cost of maintenance revenues 1446 1469 1442 23 2% 27 2%

Cost of professional service revenues 112 112 1021 0% 909 89%
Amortization of intangibles

315 315 315 0% 0%

Total cost of revenues 2182 2038 3091 144 7% $1053 _34%

Gross margin $23116 $19112 $13654 $4004 21% 5458 40%

Gross margin percentage 91% 90% 82%
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Cost of revenues was $2.2 million or 9% of total revenues in fiscal 2008 an increase of $144000
or 7% from the cost of revenues of $2.0 million or 10% of total revenues reported in fiscal 2007
This increase was primarily due to an increase cost of license revenues of $167 000 or 118% and

included unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations of approximately $106000 The increase in cost of

license revenues of $167000 in fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 was primarily related to the

reversal of warranty reserves upon expiration of the warranty period in Our European operations during
fiscal 2007 that was not repeated in fiscal 2008 These warranty reserves .were related to two consulting

arrangements completed in fiscal 2006

Cost of revenues was $2.0 million or 10% of total revenues in fiscal 2007 decline of

$1.1 million or 34% from the cost of revenues of $3.1 million or 18% of total revenues reported in

fiscal 2006 This decline resulted primarily from decrease in cost of professipnal services revenues of

$909000 or 89% and included unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations of approximately $314000
The decrease in cost of professional services in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 was directly related

to substantial decrease in our lower margin professional services revenues due to the reallocation of

headcounts in our European consulting team from professional sºivices activities to research and

development efforts as result of the completion of major pertentage-of-completion consulting projects

with two European customers in fiscal 2006 that were not replicated in fiscal 2007

Gross margin percentages gross margin as percentage of total revenues improved to 91% in

fiscal 2008 over 90% in fiscal 2007 and 82% in fiscal 2006

Cost of license revenues Cost of license revenues consists primarily of royalties and costs of third

party products which we resell to our customers as well as product mdia and shipping and packaging

costs

The following table summarizes the cost of license revenues in thousands except percentages in

fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006
October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollals Percentage

LiØense

Revenues $15922 $12 $8469 $3241 26% $4212 50%
Cost 309 142 313 167 118% 171 55%

Margin $15613 $12539 $8156 $3074 25% $4383 54%

Margin percentage 98% 99% 96%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Cost of license revenues was $309000 or 2% of license revenues in fiscal 2008 and increased

$167000 oi 118% from the cost of license revenues of $142000 or 1% of license revenues in fiscal

2007 The increase was primarily due to the reversal of warranty reserves upon expiration of the

warranty period in our European operations during fiscal 2007 that was not repeated in fiscal 2008
These warranty reserves were related to two consulting arrangements completed in fiscal 2006

License margin percentage was at consistent level of 98% in fiscal 2008 compared to 99% in fiscal

2007

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Cost of license revenues was $142000 or 1% of license revenues in fiscal 2007 and decreased

$171000 or 55% from the cost of license revenues of $313000 or 4% of license revenues in fiscal

2006 The decrease was primarily due to the reversal of warranty reserves upon expiration of the
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warranty period in our European operations during fiscal 2007 for which there were no counterparts
in

fiscal 2006 These warranty reserves were related to two consulting arrangements completed in fiscal

2006

License margin percentage increased by 3% points
in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 as

result of the decrease in cost of license revenues in fiscal 2007

Cost of maintenance revenues Cost of maintenance revenues consists primarily of customer

support personnel and related expenses including payroll employee benefits and allocated overhead

The following table summarizes the cost of maintenance revenues in thousands except

percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Maintenance

Revenues $9041 $8225 $6726 $816 10% $1499 22%

Cost 1446 1469 1442 23 -2% 27 2%

Margin $7595 $6756 $5284 $839 12% $1472 28%

Margin percentage 84% 82% 79%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Cost of maintenance revenues was $1.4 million or 16% of maintenance revenues for fiscal 2008

reprsenting decrease of $23000 or 2% from $1.5 million or 18% of maintenance revenues

reported in fiscal 2007 The overall cost of maintenance revenues in absolute dollars remained relatively

consistent in these two fiscal years The slight decrease in absolute dollars of $23000 was primarily due

to reduction in facility expenses of approximately $153000 in our U.S operations as result of our

occupying lesser square footage in our Redwood City facility than in our former Fremont offices This

decrease was partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations of approximately $77000 and

an increase in salary and related expenses and bonus expense of approximately $45000 in our U.S

operations

Maintenance margin percentage improved by 2% points in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007

primarily due to our providing increased maintenance and support services with approximately the

same number of personnel as we used to provide such services in fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Cost of maintenance revenues was $1.5 million or 18% of maintenance revenues in fiscal 2007

representing an increase of $27000 or 2% from the cost of cost of maintenance revenues of

$1.4 million or 21% of maintenance revenues reported in fiscal 2006 The overall cost of maintenance

revenues remained relatively consistent in these two years The increase in absolute dollars of $27000

in fiscal 2007 was mainly due to an increase in commission and bonus expense in both our European

and U.S operations

Maintenance margin percentage improved by 3% points
in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006

primarily due to our providing increased maintenance and support services with approximately the

same number of personnel as we used to provide such services in fiscal 2006

Cost of professional services revenues Cost of professional services consists of salaries bonuses

third party consulting fees and other costs associated with supporting our professional services

organization
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The following table summarizes the cost of professional services revenues in thousands except

percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006
October 31 Increase Decrease Ipcrease Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Professional services

Revenues $335 $244 $1550 $91 37% $1306 84%
Cost 112 112 1021 0% 909 -89%

Margin $223 $132 529 $91 69% 397 75%

Margin percentage 67% 54% 34%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Cost of professional services revenues was $112000 or 33% of professional services revenues in

fiscal 2008 consistent with the cost of professional services revenues of $112000 or 46% of

professional services revenues in fiscal 2007

In Europe there is typical one-year warranty requirement for all of our products and seçices

Prior to our merger with Poet in March 2004 Poet Holdings Inc provided for reserve for such

warranties that could be in excess of its regular maintenance programs As of October 31 2008 we
continued to maintain warranty reserve of approximately $9000 related to the FastObjects products
in Europe

The professional services margin percentage improved by 13% points in fiscal 2008 compared to

fiscal 2007 due to better utilization of our professional personnel and increased professional services

revenues fiscal 2008 with essentially the same cost base for these services as fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Cost of piofessional servces revenues was $112000 or 46% of professional services revenues in

fiscal 2007 and decreased $909000 or 89% from the cost of professional services revenues of

$1.0 million or 66% of professional services revenues in fiscal 2006 This decrease was primarily due

to the reallocation of headcounts in our European consulting team from professional services activities

to research and development efforts as result of the completion of major percŁntagŁ-of-completion

consulting projects with two European customers in fiscal 2006 that were not replicated in fiscal 2007

As of October 31 2007 we maintained warranty reserve of approximately $10000 related to the

FastObjects products in Europe Pursuant to our consulting percentage-of-completion engagements with

certain European customers we recorded additional warranty reserves of $128000 for fiscal 2006

These reserves were subsequently reversed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 upon expiration of

the one-year warranty penod

The professional services margin percentage improved by 20% points in fiscal 2007 compared to

fiscal 2006 due to better utilization of our professional personnel

Amortization of Intangible Assets The amortization of intangible assets in fiscal 2008 consists of

the amortization of intangible assets acquired in our 2004 acquisitions of Poet HQldings Inc

FastObjects Inc and JDO Genie technology
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The following table summarizes the amortization of intangible assets in thousands except

percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Poet Holdings Inc 189 189 189 0% 0%

JDO Genie PTY LTD 110 110 110 0% 0%

FastObjects Inc 16 16 16 0% 0%

Total amortization of purchased intangibles $315 $315 $315 0% 0%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Amortization of intangible assets was $315000 or 2% of license revenues in fiscal 2008 which

was consistent with the amount incurred in fiscal 2007 We expect to incur quarterly
amortization

charges of approximately $79000 for each of the first two quarters of fiscal 2009 and $69000 and

$51000 for the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2009 respectively The amortization charges

projected for fiscal 2009 do not include any estimates for amortization of intangible assets related to

the db4o asset purchase in December2008

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Amortization of intangible assets was $315000 or 2% of license revenues in fiscal 2007 which

was consistent with the amount incurred in fiscal 2006

Operating Expenses

Operating Expenses The following table summarizes our operating expenses in thousands except

percentages for fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

Fiscal Year ended October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 3620 3392 3062 228 7% 330 11%

Research and development 4066 3410 3147 656 19% 263 8%

General and administrative 5479 4401 3712 1078 24% 689 19%

Loss on the liquidation of foreign

subsidiary
245 245 100% 245 100%

Restructuring
218 218 100%

Total $13165 $11448 $10139 $1717 15% $1309 13%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Total operating expenses were $13.2 million or 52% of total revenues in fiscal 2008 and increased

$1.7 million or 15% from $11.4 million or 54% of total revenues reported in fiscal 2007 The

$1.7 million or 15% increase of total operating expenses in absolute dollars for fiscal 2008 resulted

primarily from an increase in our general and administrative and research and development expenses

and to lesser degree from an increase in our sales and marketing expenses discussed further below

This increase also included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange fluctuation of $695000 However

total operating expenses in fiscal 2008 represented lower percentage of total revenues than did total

operating expenses in fiscal 2007
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In June 2007 we relocated our U.S corporate headquarters from Fremont California to Redwood

City California As result of this relocation we anticipate reduction in our quarterly operating

expenses for financial reporting purposes of approximately $125000 in building lease and related

facility expenses through the end of the current lease term which is now scheduled for May 2010 This

reduction in our lease and facility expenses is pnmarily due to the fact that we occupy less square

footage our new Redwood City facility than in our former Fremont offices

Sales and MarketinR Sales- and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related

expenses commissions earned by -sales personnel trade shows travel and other marketing
communication costs such as adveitising aid other marketing programs

Sales and marketing expenses were $3.6 million or 14% of revenues in fiscal 2008 an increase of

$228000 or 7% compared to $3.4 million or 16% of total revenues in fiscal 2007 The $228000 or
7% increase in absolute dollars for fiscal 2008 was primarily due to an approximate $184000 increase

in salary and related
-expenses as result of the addition of three persons to the sales and marketing

organization in oUr European operations an unfavoiabIe foreign currency eitohange flUctuations of

approximately $247000 an approximate $131000 increase in tockbasØd couilpensation expense

primarily due to higher market price of our stock during fiscal 2008 and an approximate $112000
increase in marketing expenses related to advertising campaigns trade shbws and other marketing

programs in both our European and U.S operations These increases were partially offset by an

approximate $323000 decrease in sales commission and bonus expense in our European operations due

to over-performance of the sales targets in fiscal 2007 that were not repeated in fiscal 2008- and an

approximate $115000 decrease in facility expenses in our U.S operations as aresult of our occupying
lesser square footage our Redwood City facility than our former Fremont offices

We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase moderately in fiscal 2009 over fiscal 2008

due to our recent acquisition of db4o in December 2008 as well as both recent and antithpated

increases in sales personnel and in marketiig prograrn and that sales and marketing expenses will

contmue to represent considerable percentage of our total
operating expenditures in the future

Research and Development Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel

and related expenses including payroll and employee benefits expenses for facilities and payments

made-to- outside softwaxe-development contractors

Research and development expenses were $4.1 million or 16% of revenues for fiscal- 2008 an

increase of $656 or 19% compared to $3.4 million or 16% of revenues in fiscal 2017 The

$656000 or 19% increase in absolute dollars for research- and development expenses in fiscal 2008

was mainlydue to unfavorable foteign currency exchange fluctuations of approximately $338000 an

increase of approximately $257000 as result of using third party contractors for- certain research and

development projects an approximate $139000 increase in stockbased compensation expense primarily

due to higher market price of our stock during fiscal 2008 an increase of two personnel in our

European operations resulting in an increase of approximately $120000 in salary and payroll related

expenses and an increase in building rent expense in our Indian facility of approximately $92000 from

fiscal 2007 These increases were partially offset by decrease in research and development expenses
due to headcount reductions of four personnel in our U.S operations resulting in reduction of salary

and payroll related expenses of approximately $186000 during fiscal 2008 and by decrease of

approximately$84000 in our European operations due to the fact in fiscal 2007 we transferred certain

technical support personnel to research and development projects but did not do so in fiscal 200$

We anticipate that we will continue to invest significant resources in research and development

activities in the future to develop new products advance the technology of our existing products and

develop new business opportunities inctuding research and development activities related to our recent

acquisition of db4o in December 2008 We expect our research and development expenses to increase

moderately in fiscal 2009 compared to research and development expenses levels in fiscal 2008
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General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel

and related expenses- and general operating expenses

General and administrative expenses were $5.5 million or 22% of total revenues in fiscal 2008 an

increase of $1.1 million or 24% compared to $4.4 million or 21% of total revenues in fiscal 2007

The $1 million or 24% increase absolute dollars in general and admmistrative expenses in fiscal

2008 was primarily due to $800000 settlement of litigation an approximate $567000 increase in

SOX 404 related costs including audit fees consulting services and salary related expenses an

approximate $242000 mcrease in stockbased compensation expense pnmanly as result of higher

market price for our stock in fiscal 2008 and unfavorable foreign currency exchange fluctuations of

approximately $111000 These increases were partially offset by an approximate $304000 decrease in

facility expenses in our U.S operations as result of our occupying lesser square footage in our

Redwood City facility than in our former Fremont offices and an approximate $219000 decrease in

bonus expense for one of our executive officers

We expect our general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2009 to decrease moderately from

fiscal 2008 We incurred the costs of litigation settlement and related legal costs in fiscal 2008 that we

do not expect to repeat in fiscal 2009 and we expect some moderate cost reductions related to

compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley of 2002 following our initial implementation in

fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Total operating expenses were $11.4 million or 54% of total revenues in fiscal 2007 and increased

$1.3 million or 13% from $10.1 million or 61% of total revenues reported in fiscal 2006 The

$1.3 million or 13% increase of total operating expenses in absolute dollars for fiscal 2007 resulted

primarily from an increase in our general and administrative and sales and marketing expenses and to

lesser degree from an increase in our research and development expenses discussed further below

This increase also included an unfavorable foreign currency exchange fluctuation of $334000 However

total operating expenses in fiscal 2007 represented lower percentage of total revenues than did total

operating expenses in fiscal 2006

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses were $3.4 million or 16% of total revenues

in fjscal 2007 an increase of $330000 or 11% compared to $3.1 million or 19% of total revenues in

fiscal 2006 The increase in absolute dollars for sales and marketing expense for fiscal 2007 was partly

due to an approximate $477000 increase in sales commissions and bonuses payable as result of

higher revenues for the Company in fiscal 2007 than in fiscal 2006 in both our European and U.S

operations and an approximate $127000 increase in marketing expenses related to advertising

campaigns and trade shows in our European operations The increase was partially offset by one

headcount reduction in our U.S operations resulting in reduction of salary severance and other

payroll related expenses totaling $212000 and an approximate $68000 decrease in marketing programs

in our U.S operations

Research and Development Research and development expenses were $3.4 million or 16% of

revenues for fiscal 2007 an increase of $263000 or 8% compared to $3.1 million or 19% of

revenues in fiscal 2006 The increase in absolute dollars for research and development expenses for

fiscal 2007 was mainly due to an increase of seven headcounts in our European operations resulting in

an increase of approximately $1.0 million in research and development expenses from fiscal 2006 an

increase of $108000 in bonus expenses as result of improved financial results in fiscal 2007 as

compared to fiscal 2006 and an increase building rent expense in our Indian facility of

approximately $40000 over fiscal 2006 These increases were partially offset by decrease in research

and development expenses in our U.S operations due to headcount reductions of four personnel which

resulted in reduction of salary and payroll related expenses of approximately $1.0 million
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General and Administrative General and administrative expenses were $4.4 million or 21% of

total revenues in fiscal 2007 an increase of $689000 or 19% compared to $3.7 million or 22% of

total revenues in fiscal 2006 The increase in absolute dollars for fiscal 2007 was primarily due to an

approximate $391000 increase in legal fees and costs assocIated with then-pending litigation an

approximate $373000 increase bonuses as result of improved fmancial results fiscal 2001 as

compared to fiscal 2006 an approximate $145000 increase in stock-based compensation expense due to

stock option grants and increased participation in our Employee Stock Purchase Plan and an

approximate $74000 net increase in facility expenses as result of costs related to the relocation of our

corporate headquarters from Fremont California to Redwood City California These mcreases

were offset by one headcount reduction in our U.S operations resulting In reduction of salary

severance and other payroll related expenses totaling $287000 and an approximate $101000 decrease

in accountmg and auditmg fees in our operations

Loss on the Liauidation of Foreign Subsidiary Loss on the liquidation of foreign subsidiary

reflects the realization of accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments related to our former

subsidiary Versant Ltd upon completion of its liquidation in fiscal 2007

The loss on thó liquidation of foreign subsidiary was $245000 or 1% of total revenues in fiscal

2007 with no conparable amount in fiscal 2006 We elected to liquidate Versant Ltd our subsidiary in

the United Kingdom to reduce costs and centralize our European operations The liquidation of

Versant Ltd was completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 and in accordance with the provisions

of SFAS 52 we recorded $245000 operating loss to reflect the realization of accumulated foreign

currency translation adjustments related to Versant Ltd

Outside Shareholders Income from Variable Interest Entuy or LIE

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Outside shareholders income from VIE $138 $138 100%

During the three months ended July 31 2005 as part of our restructuring plan we spun off the

atsets of our VOA.Net product to Vanatec GmbH private company and we committed to capital

cOntributinn to Vanatec of an additional 212500 euros or $260000 which we contributed in full on

November 2005 We dttermined that equity at risk in Vanatec was not sufficient to permit it to

finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support and accordingly we considered

Vanatec variable interest entity in accordance with FIN 46R Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities As Amended

Vanatecs results of operations were mcluded in our consoiLdated financial statements for the three

month periods ended July 31 2005 October 31 2005 and January 31 2006 and for the period from

February 2006 through March 27 2006 During the three months ended January 31 2Q06 we

absorbed our share of Vanatecs losses up to the point that it exceeded variable interest liability and

subsequent to that we absorbed 100% of the losses that Vanatec had incurred for an additional amount

of $35000 for the three months ended January 31 2006 In addition we continued to absorb 100% of

Vanatecs losses for an additional amount of $70000 for the period between February 2006 and

March 27 2006 until we determined that we were no longer required to consolidate Vanatecs

operating results as described below

On March 27 2006 we sold our 19 6% interest in Vanatec to third party mvestor for 4900 euros

and entered into joint ownership agreement with Vanatec with respect to certain technology we had

previously licensed to Vanatec According to this agreement Vanatec is obligated to pay Versant

running royalty at rate of six percent of its net proceeds but no less than 30 euros per copy from
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licenses it grants of the technology co-owned by Vanatec and Versant for period of five years

following the effective date of this agreement Further at any time during the royalty period Vanatec

had the right to exercise buyout for its royalty obligations by making one-time payment to Versant

of 100000 euros which Vanatec exercised during the three months ended October 31 2008 when it

remitted the buyout payment of 100000 euros to Versant As -a result of Versants sale of its interest in

Vanatec and this agreement Versant determined that it was-no longer the primary beneficiary of

Vanatec as defined by FIN 46 and thus was no longer required to consolidate Vanatecs operating

results after March 27 2006

Interest and Other Income Ne

Interest and other income net consists of interest income earned from our cash and cash

equivalents net of interest expense due to our financing activities miscellaneous refunds and foreign

exchange rate gains and losses as result of settling transactions denominated in currencies other than

our functional currency

The following table summarizes our other income net in thousands except percentages in fiscal

20O8 .2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Interest and other income net

Interest income $880 $531 $154 $349 66% $377 245%

Interest expense -80% 17%
Foreign exchange gain loss 13 90 77 86% 96 1600%
Other income 96 54 91 95% 42 78%

Total $871 $532 $208 $339 64% $324 156%

Fiscal 2008 compared to Fiscal 2007

Interest and other income net was $871000 or 4% of total revenues in fiscal 2008 compared to

$532000 or 3% of revenues in fiscal 2007 The increase in absolute dollars of $339000 or 64% was

largely due to an increase of $349000 in interest income from both our European and U.S operations

as result of higher cash balances and included favorable foreign currency fluctuations of

approximately $50000 This increase was partially offset by the absence in fiscal 2008 of other income

associated with the sale of excess furniture related to the relocation of our U.S headquarters that was

recognized in the third quarter of fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal -2006

Interest and other income net was $532000 or 3% of revenues in fiscal 2007 compared to

$208000 or 1% of revenues in fiscal 2006 The increase in absolute dollars of $324000 or 156% was

largely due to an increase of $377000 in mterest mcome from both our European and operations

as result of higher cash balances as well as higher interest rates and an increase of $42000 in other

income primarily associated with the sale of excess furniture and equipment related to the relocation of

our U.S.headquarters and was partially offset by $96000 in unfavorable foreign exchange rate

fluctuations

Gain on Diposal of VIE

As discussed above we are no longer required to consolidate the operating results of Vanatec as of

March 28 2006 therefore we recorded gain of $131000 related to the deconsolidation of Vanatec in
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our consolidated statements of income during the thre months ended April 30 2006 This amount is

comprised of the reversal of the excess losses that we had absorbed previously for $105000 the

consideration that we received from third party investor in dieu of our interest at Vanatec of $6000

the transfer of property and equipment for $11000 other comprehensive income for $6000 and offset

by foreign currency losses of $3000 Consequently the results of Vanatec are not included in th

Companys consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal years
ended October31 2007 and

2008

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes primarily consists of corporate income taxes for out sUbsidiaries in

Germany and India and to lesser extent foreign withholding taxes and state jncorne and franchise

taxes in the U.S

The following table summarizes our provision for income taxes inthouands except percentages

in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

October 31 Increase Decrease lnerease Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Provision for income taxes

Foreign withholding tixcs 253 51 $202 396% 44 629%

Provision for income taxes Europe 1155 751 336 404 4% 415 124%

Provision for income taxes India 19 15 15 27% 0%

Federal state and franchise taxes 50 32 46 92% 18 56%

Total $1431 $867 $390 $564 65% $477 122%

Although we have not exhausted our net operating tax loss carry forwards in Germany the

German tax code provides for certain annual statutory limitations related to the use of tax loss carry

forward amounts The provision for income taxes in Germany of approximately $1.2 million $751000

and $336000 for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 respectively were Ættiibutablº to taxable

income related to Our German operations that were in excess of the ailowable utilization of the tax loss

carry forwards ad therefore 5ubjeit to corporate taxes

We incurred foreign withholding taxes and state income and franchise taxes of approximately

$257000 $101000 and $39000 in fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 respectively which we have

included in our mcome tax provision

At October 31 2008 we had U.S federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of

approximately $69.7 million and $12.0 million respectively and U.S federal and state tax credit carry

forwards of approximately $1.3 million and $700000 respectively The federal and state net operating

loss
carry

forwards
expire

on various dates through 2025 The U.S federal tax credit carry forwards

expire on various dates through 2023 if not utilized The state tax credit can be carned forward

indefinitely Additionally at October 31 2008 we had German net operatmg tax loss carry forwards of

approximately $32 million The German tax code provides for certam annual statutory limitations

related to the use of tax loss
carry

forward amounts For each taxable year we may utilize German tax

loss
carry

forwards fully up to the first mfllion euros of taxable income and thereafter the tax loss

carry
forwards are limited to 60% of taxable income Due to our history of operating losses we believe

that there is sufficient uncertainty regarding the realizability of these carry forwards and therefore

valuation allowance of approximately $37.1 million has been recorded against the Companys net

deferred tax assets We will continue to assess the realizability of the tax benefit available based On

actual and forecasted operating results
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Due to change in ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 the availability of

net operating loss and tax cariy
forwards to offset federal taxable income in future periods is subject to

an annual limitation

portion of defetred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertains to net operating loss carry

forwards resulting from tax deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately

$1.6 million When recognized the tax benefit of these loss carry forwards will be accounted for as

credit to additional paid-in capital rather than reduction of income tax expense

Income from Discontinued Operations Net of Income Taxes

In February 2006 we sold our WebSphere consulting business in exchange for one-time cash

payment plus certain contingent payments during 24-month period following the close of the

transaction As result we have reflected the results of operations of the WebSphere consulting

practice for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 as income from discontinued operations net of

income taxes Therefore reported revenues for these periods no longer include any revenues from the

WebSphere consulting practice

The following table summarizes our income -from discontinued operations net of income taxes in

thousands except -percentages in fiscal 2008 2007 and 2006

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2008 vs 2007 Fiscal 2007 vs 2006

October 31 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

2008 2007 2006 In Dollars Percentage In Dollars Percentage

Income from discontinued operations net of

mcome taxes $98 $304 $231 $206 68% $73 32%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Under the Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 2006 between Sima and Versant we were

entitled to receive contingent earn-out payments from Sima related to the WebSphere business for

24-month period following the closing of the Agreement. This 24-month payment period expired on

January 31 2008

IcQme from discontinued operations net of income taxes was $98000 in fiscal 2008 compared to

$304000 in fiscal 2007 Income from discontinued operations in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 represented

primarily royalty payments from WebSphere during these two fiscal years

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Income from discontmued operations net of income taxes was $304000 in fiscal 2007 compared to

$231000 in fiscal 2006 Income from discontinued operations in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 represented

primarily royalty payments from WebSphere during these two years

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and ash Equivalents

--

In fiscal 2008 we financed our operations and met our capital expenditure requirements primarily

through cash flows from operations As of October 31 2008 we had cash and cash equivalents of

approximately $27.2 million an increase of $8.1 million over the $19.1 million of cash and cash

equivalents we held at October 31 2007

As of October 31 2008 $9.5 million of our $27.2 millionin cash and cash equivalents at that date

was held in foreign fmancial institutions of which $2.1 million was held in foreign currencies
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The following table summarizes our cash balances held in foreign cdrrencies and their equivalent

U.S dollar amounts in thousands

As of October31 2008

Local Curreicy U.S Dollar

Cash in foreign currencr

Euro 1366 $1783
British Pound 28 47

India Rupee Rs 12605 241

Total $2071

We transact business in various foreign currencies and accordingly we are subject to expösüre

from adverse movements inforeign currency exchange rates The effect ofhaiigesh foreign currency

exchange tates on our net operating results in fiscal 2008 were comprised of $1.7 milhiOflof fuvorble

foreign currency fluctuatidn on our revenueS $106000 of unfavorable foreign currency fuctiiations on

our cost of revenues and $695000 of unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations on our oŁrating

expenses resulting in net favorable effect of approximately $899000 in our staeients of inqome for

fiscal 2008 Operating expenses mcurred by our foreign subsidiaries are denominated pnmanly local

currencies We currently do not use financial instruments to hedge these operating expenses We intend

to assess the need to utilize financial instruments to hedge currency exposures on an ongoing basis

during fiscal 2009

Our exposure to foreign exchange risk is related to the magnitude of foreign net profits and losses

denominated in euros as well our net position of monetary assets and monetary liabilities in the

euro This exposure has the potential to produce either gains or losses within our consolidated results

However in some instances our European operations act as natural bedg sinc botb operating

expenses as well as revenues are denominated in local currencies In these instances although an

unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the euro against the U.SdOllar will result in lower

revenues when translated into U.S dollars our European operating expenditures will be lower as well

Additionally held approximately 92% of our total casfi balance at October 31 2008 in the fOrm of

U.S dollars to assist in neutralizing the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

In relation tO our cash balances held overseas there wCre no European Union foreign exchange

restrictions on repatriating our overseas-held cash to the United States However we may be subject to

income tax withholding in the source countries and to U.S federal and state income taxes in the future

if the cash payment or transfer from our subsidiaries to the U.S parent were to be classified as

dividend Other payments made by our European overseas subsidiaries in the ordinaiy course Of

business e.g payment of rQyalties or interest from the subsidiaries to the U.S parent were generally

not subject to income tax withholding due to tax treaties

Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money tuarket accounts interest rate

risk is not considered significant

On December 2008 our Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program Under the

program we are authorized to potentially repurchase up to $5.0 million worth of our tutstanding

common shares from time to time on the open market in block trades or otherwise Any repurchases

made under the program are expected to be funded from the companys working capital In Pecewber

2008 we committed $24 million in cash including $300000 of contingent payments to acquire the

assets of the database software busmess of pnvately held Servo Software Inc formerly

db4objects Inc. Taking into consideration the cash outflows related to both the db4o acquisition of

assets and potential common stock repurchases we believe that with our current cost structure and
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based on our current estimates of revenues and collections in fiscal 2009 we can reasonably expect to

operate at moderate positive cash flow level in fiscal 2009

Cash Flow provided by Operating Activities

This table aggregates certain line items from our cash flow statements for the following fiscal years

to present the key items affecting our operating activities in thousands

Fiscal Year ended October 31

Net cash provided by operating activities 2008 2007 2006

Net income $9489 7633 4301

Gain from the disposal of assets 599
Loss on the liquidation of foreign subsidiary 245

Net income from discontinued operations 98 304 231
Non-cash adjustments 1505 1052 674

Accounts receivable 536 689 260
Other assets 18 266 194

Accounts payable accrued liabilities and other liabilities 929 195 1342
Deferred revenues 748 324 673

Deferred rent 62 137

Total $8658 $10038 3273

The main source of our operating cash flows is cash collections from customers who have

purchased our products and services Our primary uses of cash in operating activities are payments for

personnel related expenditures and facilities costs

Fiscal 2008

We generated $8.7 million of cash flows from operations in fiscal 2008 This was primarily derived

from $9.5 million in net income offset by $929000 reduction in accounts payables and other

liabilities

Non-cash adjustments were $1.5 million as reflected in our cash flow statement in fiscal 2008

which were primarily stock-based compensation expense of $921000 and depreciation and amortization

expense of $638000 Non-cash adjustments may increase or decrease in the future and as result this

might positively or negatively impact our future operating results but they will not have direct impact

on our cash flows

The timing of payments to our vendors for accounts payable and collections from our customers

for accounts receivable will impact our cash flows from operating activities We typically pay our

vendors and service providers in accordance with their invoice terms and conditions Our standard

payment terms for our invoices are usually between 30 and 60 days net

We measure the effectiveness of our collection efforts by an analysis of our accounts receivable

and our days sales outstanding DSO We calculate DSO by taking the ending accounts receivable

balances net of bad debt allowance divided by the average daily sales amount Average daily sales

amount is calculated by dividing the total quarterly revenue recognized net of changes in deferred

revenues by 91.25 days Collection of accounts receivable and related DSO could fluctuate in the future

periods due to timing and amount of our revenues and the effectiveness of our collection efforts Our

DSOs were 51 days 38 days and 56 days for the three months ended October 31 2008 October 31

2007 and October 31 2006 respectively
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Our working capital was $25.4 mfflion as of October 31 2008 compared to $15.3 million as of

October 31 2007

Fiscal 2007

We generated $10.0 mfflion of cash flows from operations in fiscal 2007 This was primarily derived

from $7.6 million in net income and $955000 reduction in accounts receivables and other asset

Non-cash adjustments were $1.1 million as reflected in our cash flow statement in fiscal 2007

which were primarily depreciation and amortization expense of $637000 and stock-based ccm1penstion

expense of $416000

Our working capital was $15.3 million as of October 31 2007 compared to $6.2 million as of

October 31 2006

We relocated our U.S corporate headquarters from Fremont California to Redwood City

California in June 2007 occupying less square footage As result of this relocation we experienced

reduction in our annual operating expenses for financial reporting purposes of approximately $500000

Fiscal 2006

We gentrated $3.3 million of cash flows from operations in fiscal 2006 This was primarily derived

from $4.3 million in net income and was partially offset by $806000 cash used as result of reduction

in accounts payables accrued liabilities and other liabilities deferred revenues and deferred rent

Non-cash adjustments were $674000 as reflected in our cash flow statement in fiscal 2006 which

were primarily depreciation and amortization expense of $518000 and stock-based compensation

expense of $236000

Cash Flow provided by used in Investing Activities

Our primary uses of cash in investing activities have typically been for the purchases of property

and equipment mostly information technology related equipment In fiscal 2006 we sold Our

WebSphere consulting practice and our interests in Vanatec the proceeds from which are reflected in

investing activities

Fiscal 2008

In fiscal 2008 net cash used in investing activities was approximately $240000 which represented

cash used for purchases of property and equipment

We anticipate our overall spending related to property and eqUipment in fiscal 2009 to be at

consistent levels compared to fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2007

In fiscal 2007 net cash used in investing activities was approximately $677000 This amount was

comprised of the following

Cash used for purchases of property and equipment of approximately $735000 including costs

related to the replacement of outdated server equipment and other computer related equipment

in Germany U.S and India and to lesser extent capital expenditures related to the relocation

of our U.S corporate headquarters to Redwood City California offset by

Cash inflows of approximately $58000 from the sale of excess furniture and equipment in the

U.S

50



Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 2006 net cash provided by investing activities was approximately $385000 which

comprised of the following

Cash inflows from the proceeds of sale of our WebSphere practice and interests of Vanatec for

approximately $506000 plus $23000 of cash generated from sales of property and equipment

offset by

Cash used in purchases of property and equipment of $144000

Cash Flow provided by Financing Activities

Our main source of cash from financing activities has been proceeds from sales of common stock

under our employee stock option and stock purchase plans and in the periodsthat we had receivable

line of credit in place periodic draw-downs on the credit line that we typically repaid within month

Fiscal 2008

In fiscal 2008 $782000 of cash was provided by financing activities comprised of the following

Cash inflows of $792000 due to proceeds from the sale of common stock under our stock option

and employee stock pijrchase plans and

Principal payments of $10000 under capital lease obligations

Our future liquidity and capital resources could be impacted by the exercise of outstanding

common stock options and the cash proceeds we receive upon exercise of these securities As of

October 31 2008 we had approximately 188000 shares available to issue under our current equity

incentive and director plans The timing of the issuance of options under these plans the duration and

timing of their vesting schedules and their grant price will all impact the timing of any exercises and

proceeds Accordingly we cannot estimate the amount of such proceeds at this time

Our former $3.0 million credit facility with financial institution expired by its terms in June 2007

and wecurrently do not anticipate establishing another credit or loan facility in fiscal 2009

Fiscal 2007

In fiscal 2O07 $484000 of cash was provided by financing activities comprised of the following

Cash inflows of $499000 due to proceeds from the sale of common stock under our stock option

and employee stock purchase plans reduced by

Principal payments of $15000 under capital lease obligations

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal.2006 $140000 of cash was provided by financing activities comprised of the following

Cash inflows of $192000 due to proceeds from the sale of common stock under our stock option

and employee stock purchase plans offset by

Cash payments of $39000 for the repayment of the borrowing under our line of credit and

principal payments of $13000 under capital lease obligations

Commitments and Contingencies

Our principal commitments as of October 31 2008 consist of obligations under operating leases for

facilities and equipment commitments
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On March 23 2007 we entered into an office building lease with CA-Shorebreeze Limited

Partnership pursuant to which we are leasing approximately 6800 square feet in an office facility

located in Redwood City California The lease has term of thirty-six months which commenced in

June 2007 The Redwood City California office that is the subject of the lease serves as our U.S

headquarters replacing our former facility in Fremont California whose lease expired on June 30

2007 Monthly rent under the lease for our Redwood City office was initially approximately $19000 and

is subject to 4% annual increases thereafter The total rent payable over the full thirty-six month lease

term net of two months rent abatement will be approximately $671000 We have an option to extend

the term of the lease for one additional one-year period at rent equal to the then fair market lease

rate Pursuant to the lease the landlord has agreed to provide tenant improvement allowance of

approximately $101000 Any tenant improvement costs exceeding this allowance were borne by us

Rental expense under this agreement including contractual rent increases is recognized on

straight-line basis We also lease field office space in Europe and India generally under multi-year

operating lease agreements Consolidated rent expense in fiscal years ended October 31 2008

October 31 2007 and October 31 2006 was approximately $550000 $735000 and $877000

respectively

Our annual minimum commitments as of October 31 2008 under non-cancelable operating leases

are listed as follows in thousands

Rental Equipment
Lease Leases Total

Fiscal year ending October 31
2009 $548 $16 $564

2010 211 217

2011

Thereafter

Total $7

On December 2008 our Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program Under the

program we are authorized to potentially repurchase up to $5.0 million worth of our outstanding

common shares from time to time on the open market in block trades or otherwise Any repurchases

made under the program are expected to be funded from the companys working capital However

nothing obligates us to repurchase shares pursuant to this stock repurchase program and the program

may be terminated at any time In December 2008 we committed $2.4 million in cash including

$300000 of contingent payments to acquire the assets of the database software business of

privately-held Servo Software Inc formerly db4objects Inc. Taking into consideration the cash

outflows related to both the acquisition of db4o assets and potential common stock repurchases we

believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents plus cash that we forecast to be generated from

operations will be sufficient to finance our operations during the next twelve months However if we

fail to generate adequate cash flows from operations in the future due to an unexpected decline in our

revenues or due to sustained increase in cash expenditures in excess of the revenues generated then

our cash balances may not be sufficient to fund our continuing operations without obtaining additional

debt or equity financing Additional cash may also be needed to acquire or invest in complementary

businesses products or to purchase or license technologies and we expect that in the event of such an

acquisition or investment that is significant and requires that we pay cash consideration it will be

necessary
for us to seek additional debt or equity financing

$3.0 million credit facility we had with financial institution expired by its terms in June 2007
and we currently do not anticipate establishing another credit or loan facility in fiscal 2009
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to new accounting pronouncements and the impact of these

pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements see Note of Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements under item of this report

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign currency hedging instruments We transact business in various foreign currencies and

accordingly we are subject to exposure from adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates

The effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our net operating results in fiscal 2008

consisted of $1.7 million of favorable foreign currency fluctuations on our revenues $106000 of

unfavorable foreign currency
fluctuations on our cost of revenues and $695000 of unfavorable foreign

currency fluctuations on our operating expenses resulting in net favorable effect of approximately

$899000 in our statements of income for fiscal 2008 Operating expenses incurred by our foreign

subsidiaries are denominated primarily in local currencies We currently do not use financial

instruments to hedge these operating expcnses We intend to assess the need to utilize financial

instruments to hedge currency exposures on an ongoing basis during fiscal 20119

Our exposure to foreign exchange risk is related to the magnitude of foreign
net profits and losses

denominated in euros as well as our net position of monetary assets and monetary liabilities in the

euro This exposure has the potential to produce either gains or losses within our consolidated results

However in some instances our European operations act asa natural hedge since both operating

expenses as well as revenues are denominated in local currencies In these iistances although an

unfavorable change in the exchange rate of the euro against the U.S dollar will result in lower

revenues when translated into U.S dollars our European operating expenditures will be lower as well

Additionally we held approximately 92% of our total cash balance at October 31 2008 in the form of

U.S dollars to assist in neutralizing the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

We do not own any derivative financial instruments

Interest rate risk Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money market accounts therefore we

do not believe that our interest rate risk is significant at this time
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Versant is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 Versants internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation offinancial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertam to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation

of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accountingprinciples and that

receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the Company and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements due to human error or the improper circumvention or overriding of internal

controls In addition projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions and that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may change

adversely over time

Management assessed the effectiveness of Versants internal control over financial reporting as of

October 31 2008 In makmg its eyaluation of the effectiveness of Versants internal control over

fmancial reportmg management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Spoirisoxing Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
Based on its assessment of internal cbntrol over financial reporting Versants management has

concluded that as of October 31 2008 Versants internal control over financial reporting was effective

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

We reviewed the results of managements assessment with the Audit Committee of Versants Board of

Directors

Versants independent registered public accounting firm Grant Thornton LLI has issued an

attestation report on the effectiveness of Versants ipternal control over financial reporting Its report

appears immediately after this report

Is Jerry Wong

Jerry Wong
Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer

January 14 2009

Is Jochen Witte

Jochen Witte

President and Chief Executive Officer

January 14 2009
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Report on Internal Control over Fi.nancial Reporting

Board of Directors and Shareholders of Versant Corporation and Subsidianes

We have audited Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries Internal Control over Financial Reporting

as of October 31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cornmision COSO Versant

Corporation and Subsidiaries management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for Its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Report On Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our

responsibility is to
express an opinion on Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries internal control rover

financial reportingbased on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and pØrforni the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal coptrol over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Ouraudit included obtaining an understanding of internal cQntrol over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and perfonning such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opmion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions abs

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance withauthorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatenients Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Versant Corporation and Subsidianes maintained in all matenal respects effective

internal control over financial reporting as of October 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal

ControlIntegrated Framework issued by COSO

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Versant Corporation

and Subsidiaries as of October 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of income

shareholders equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended October 31 2008 and our report dated January 13 2009 expresses an unqualified

opinion on these statements

Is Grant Thornton LLP

San Francisco California

January 13 2009
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM cont

Report on Consolidated Financial Statements

Board of Directors and Shareholders of Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Versant Corporation and

Subsidiaries as of October 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of income

shareholders equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended October 31 2008 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An

audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries at October 31 2008

and 2007 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three

years
in the period ended October 31 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company adopted the

provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Interpretation Number 48 Accounting

for Uncertainty in Income Tcires on November 2007

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Versant Corporation and Subsidiaries internal control over financial

reporting as of October 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
and our report

dated January 13 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Grant Thornton LLP

San Francisco California

January 13 2009
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands

Property and equipment net

Goodwill

Intangible assets net

Other assets

ibtal assets

UABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Deferred revenues

Deferred rent

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenues

Deferred rent

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $16 and

$68 at October 31 2008 and October 31 2007 respectively

Other current assets

Total current assets

October 31 October31
2008 2007

27234 $19086

2801

399

30434

670

6720

565

172

38561

2330

506

21922

835

6720

881

108

30466

157

2756

3707

6627

641

29

7301

96004

1346

74185

23165

30466

371

1525

3120

17

5033

317

13

44

5407

97717

183

64746

33154

38561

Stockholders equity

common stock no par value 7500000 shares authorized 3746581 and

3671924 shares issued and outstanding as of October 31 2008 and

October 31 2007 respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive income net

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders equity
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YERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

in thousands except for per share amounts

Fiscal Year Ended

October 31 October 31 October 31
2008 2007 2006

Revenues

License $15922 $12681 8469

Maintenance 9041 8225 6726

Professional services 335 244 1550

Total revenues 25298 21150 16745

Cost of revenues

License 309 142 313

Amortization of intangible assets 315 315 315

Maintenance 1446 1469 1442

Professional services 112 112 1021

Total cost of revenues 2182 2038 3091

Gross profit 23116 19112 13654

Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 3620 3392 3062

Research and development 4066 3410 3147

General and administrative 5479 4401 3712

Loss on the liquidation of foreign subsidiary
245

Restructuring
21$

Total operating expenses 13165 11448 10139

Income from operations 9951 7664 3515

Outside shareholders income from VIE 138

Interest and other income net 871 532 208

Gain on disposal of VIE 131

Income from continuing operations before taxes 10822 8196 3992

Provision for income taxes 1431 867 390

Net income from continuing operations 9391 7329 3602

Gain from sale of discontinued operations net of income taxes 468

Net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes 98 304 231

Net income 9489 7633 4301

Basic income per share

Net income from continuing operations
2.52 2.01 1.01

Earnings from discontinued operations net of income tax 0.02 0.08 0.19

Net income per share basic 2.54 2.09 1.20

Diluted income per share

Net income from continuing operations
2.48 1.98 1.01

Earnings from discontinued operations net of income tax 0.03 0.08 0.19

Net income per share diluted 2.51 2.06 1.20

Shares used in per share calculation

Basic 3729 3649 3577

Diluted 3783 3708 3584

Non-cash stock-based compensation included in the above expenses

Cost of revenues 58 65 39

Sales and marketing
221 90 41

Research and development 178 39 79

General and administrative 464 222 77

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSiVE INCOME

in thousands except for share amount

Balance at October 31 2005

ESPP

Exercise of stock options

Forfeiture of common stock

Mokume Cancellation

Non-cash stock based

compensation expense

Adjustment from deferred

compensation to APIC

Net income

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Total comprehensive income

ESPP

Exercise of stock options

Non-cash stock based

compensation expense

Net income

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Total comprehensive income

Adjustment to retained earnings

related to FIN 48

ESPP

Exercise of stock options

Non-cash stock based

compensation expense

Net income

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Total comprehensive income

Balance at October 31 2008

29468 183

45488 316

416

1tal

Shareholders

Equity ________
8988

64

128

50

192

44

4301 4301

125 -125 125

______
4426

$13792

183

316

416

7633 7633

825

$23165

50
290

502

921

9489 9489

1163 1163

$8326

$33154

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Common
Accumulated Other

Deferred Accumulated Comprehensive

Shares Amount Compensation Deficit Income

3560837 $94755 $44 586119 396

19630

25499

64

128

Thtal

Comprehensive

Income

8998 50

192

44

Balance at October 31 2006 3596968 $95089

Balance at October 31 2007 3671924

4301

581818 521

7633

825

$96004 $74185 1346

50
18984 290

55673 502

921

9489

1163

3746581 $97717 564746 183

825

8458



VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

Cash flows from operating activities

Netincome

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

lain from sale of discoætinuØd operations net of income taxes

Gain on disposal of Variable Interest Entity

Net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes

Loss on the liquidation foreign subsidiary

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of intangible assets

Stock-based compensation

Write off of property and equipment

Non-cashoperating expenses related to cancellation of common stock

Recoveiy of bad debt allowance

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities and other liabilities

Deferred revenues

Deferred rent

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of Websphere

Proceeds from sale of Vanatec

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Purchases of property and equipment

Net cash provided by used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activitie

Proceeds from sale of common stock net

Principal payments under capital lease obligations

Net payments under short-term note and bank loan

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net iæcrase in cash and cash equivalents from operating investing and financing

activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operation

Cash and cash equiyalents at beginning of period

Citih and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flows information

Cash paid for

Interest

Foreign federal foreign withholding and state income taxes

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities

Mokume common stock cancellation

Non cash stock compensation expense

Fiscal Year Ended October 31

2008 2007 2006

9489 7633 $4301

468
131

98 304 231
245

323 322 203

315 315 315

921 416 236

25

50
54 55

536 689 260
18 266 194

224 557
1153 196 785

748 324 673

62 137

8658 10038 3273

500

58 23

240 735 144

240 677 385

792 499 192

10 15 1339
782484 140

1150 706 244

8050 10551 4042

98 304 231

19086 8231 3958

$27234 $19086 $8231

1$
$f806 150 54

50
921 416 236

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAkIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

October 31 2008

NOTE THE COMPANY AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Versant Corporation with its subsidiaries collectively referred to in this report as Versarit or

the Company was incorporated In California in August 1988 Versant is leadmg provider of
bbect

onented data management software that forms critical component of the infrastructure of enterprise

computing The Company designs develops markets and supports object-oriented database

management system products to solve complex data management and data integration problems of

enterpnsds Versant also provides related product support tramng and coilsultmg services to assist

users in the use of Its products and in development and deployment of software applications based on
its products The Company operates its busmess within single operating segment referred to as Data

Management Versants principal executive offices are located in Redwood City California Versant has

mternational operations in Germany and India and markets its software products and related

rnalntenance services directly through telesales and field sales organizations in North America and

Germany and mchrectly through distributors and resellers worldwide

Versant is subject to the risks commonly associated with similar sized companies in the software

mdustry These risks mclude but are not limited to the following dependence on key product
fluctuations of operatmg results lengthy sales cycles for its products product concentration

dependence on continued customer acceptance of object database technology competition limited

customer base dependence on key individuals dependence on international operations foreign

currency exchange rate fluctuations and the Companys ability to adequately finance its ongoing

operations

The Company generated net income of $95 million $76 million and $43 million fiscal 2008
fiscal 2007 ind fiscal 2006 respectively Management anticipates fundmg future operations from its

current cash resources and its future cash flows from operations However if the Companys financial

results fall short of projections additional debt or equity may in the future be required to finance

operations and the Company might in such circumstances need to nnplenlent cost reductions No
assurances can be

given that in such circumstances the Company would be successful in obtammg any
such additional debt or equity capital that may be required

In July 2005 Versant through its subsidiary Versant GmbH entered into certain agreements to

effect spin-off of tangible assets technology rights and contracts related to Its Versant Open Access

.NET VOA.NET business to .Vanatec GmbH then newly formed privately held company based in

Germany hi accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Interpretation No 46

FIN 46R Vanatecs operating results were rncruded Versants consolidated financial

statØmedts from July 2005 through March 27 2006 On March 27 206 Versant sold its entWe equity

mterest Vanatec to third party investor and entered into Joint ownership agieement with Vanatec

with respect to technology it had previously licensed to Vanatec see Note for more detailed

description of the Vanatec transaction As result of this sale of its interest in Vanatec as of

March 28 2006 Versant was no longer required to consolidate the operating results of Vanatec and as

such the Company consolidated financial statemnts for fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2008 do not include the

accounts of Vanatec

In February 2006 Versant completed the sale of the assets associated with its WebSphere
consulting practice to Sima Solutions newly formed privately held corporation based in the United

States Versants WebSphere consulting practice provided consulting and training services to end-users

of IBMs WebSphere application server software As result of this transaction Versant has ceased
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

October 31 2008

NOTE ThE COMPANY AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION Continued

providing WebSphere consulting services see Note for more detailed description of the WebSphere

transaction Consequently the Companys accompanying consolidated financial statements do not

include financial results of the WebSphere consulting practice as part
of continuing operations Instead

as required by generally accepted accounting principles the Companys financial statements report

former WebSphere activities as net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes

In October 2007 Versant completed the liquidation of Versant Ltd its subsidiary in the United

Kingdom See Note for more detailed description of the liquidation of Versant Ltd. Upon the

completion of this liquidation in accordance with the provisions of FASB Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 52 Foreign Currency Translation SFAS 52 Versant recorded

$245000 operating loss in the Companys consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2007 to reflect the

realization of foreign currency translation adjustments related to the liquidated subsidiary

As of October 31 2008 Versant had total of 82 full time employees

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include 100% of the assets liabilities revenues expenses

and cash flows of Versant and all entities in which Versant has controlling voting interest

subsidiaries and from July 2005 through March 27 2006 the variable interest entity VIE required

to be consolidated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America GAAP see Note for details Intercompany accounts and transactions among

consolidated companies have been eliminated in consolidation

The financial position and operating results of foreign operations are consolidated using the local

currency as their functional currency Local currency assets and liabilities are translated into U.S

dollars at the rates of exchange on the balance sheet date and local currency revenues and expenses

are translated at average rates of exchange during the period Resulting translation gains or losses are

included in the accompanying consolidated statement of shareholders equity as component of

accumulated other comprehensive income

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make

estimates and assumptions which affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three

months or less at the time of purchase The Companys cash and other cash equivalents at October 31

2008 and October 31 2007 consisted of deposits in banks and money market funds As of October 31

2008 and 2007 cash balances held in foreign financial institutions were $9.5 million and $12.0 million

respectively
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

October 31 2008

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Companys financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of

credit risk copsist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable The Company
maintains its cash and cash equivalents with high quality fmancial institutions and invests in highly

rated short-term securities The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts as an estimate

of the inability of its customers to Iiake required payments The allowance was $i600O and $68000 at

October 31 2008 and October 31 2007 respectively The amount of Companys allowance is based

on historical experience and an analysis of its accounts receivable balances Credit .loses to date have

been within managements expectations However actual results could differ from such cstimates.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation computed using the

straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets generally ranging from three to

five years Depreciation commences upon placing the asset in serviee Each capital lease is recorded at

the lesser of the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease or the present value of the

minimum lease payments as of the beginning of the lease term Leased assets are amortized on

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term Leasehold improvements

are amortized over the shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term The Company reviews its

property and equipment for impairment periodically or whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the cariying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

The following table summarizes the breakdown of the Companys property and equipment as of

October 31 2008 and October 31 2007 in thousands

As of October 31

2008 2007

Computer equipment $1344 1380
Furniture and fixtures 483 551

Software 649 585

Leasehold improvements 60 61

Capital lease and other assets 35 35

2571 2612
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1901 1777

670 835

Total depreciation expense for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 was $323000 $322000 and

$203000 respectively

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Asss

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in

business combinations In July 2001 the FASB approved the issuance of SFAS No 142 GdOdwill and
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUB SIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

October 31 2008

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Other Intangible Assets SFAS 142 SFAS 142 provides guidance on how to account for goodwill and

certain intangible assets after an acquisition is completed

Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test VŁrsant uses the market approach to assess the

fair value of its goodwill and intangible assets which is then compared to the carrying value of those

assets to test for impairment The total fair value of Versants assets is estimated by summing the fair

value of Versants equity as indicated by Versant publicly traded share price and shares outstanding

plus control premium debt and current liabilities Under this approach if the estimated fair value of

Versants assets is greater than the carrying value of these assets then there is no apparent goodwill

impairment If the estimated fair value of Versant assets is less than the carrying value of these assets

then Versant allocates the reporting units estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities as though the

reporting unit had just been acquired in business combination The impairment loss is the amount if

any by which the implied fair value of goodwill is less than that reporting units goodwill canying

amount and would be recorded in earnings during the period of such impairment

Versant performed its annual evaluations of the Companys goodwill based on the requirements of

SFAS 142 in October 2008 October 2007 and October 2006 As result of these impairment tests and

valuation analysis Versant determined that no impairment charges against the Companys goodwill

were required in fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006

For the purpose of testing for goodwill impairment in its single Data Management operating

segment Versant has aggregated the goodwill for the following acquisitions

Versant Europe acquired in 1997

Poet acquired on March 18 2004

Technology of JDO Genie acquired on June 30 2004 and

FastObjects Inc acquired on July 2004

The goodwill balances as of October 31 2008 and October 31 2007 are as follows in thousands

As of October 31 2008 As of October 31 2007

Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Goodwill

Versant Europe and India $3277 $3036 241 $3277 $3036 241

Poet Holdings Inc 5752 5752 5752 5752

FastObjects Inc 677 677 677 677

JDO Genie PTY LTD 50 50 50 50

Total $9756 $3036 $6720 $9756 $3036 $6720

Versant evaluates its long-lived assets including intangible assets other than goodwill for

impairment in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets SFAS 144 SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets and intangible

assets other than goodwill be evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

65



VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

October 31 2008

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable The recoverability test compares

the carrying amount of the asset or asset group to the expected undiscounted net cash flows to be

generated by these assets If the carrying amount of the asset or asset group is less than the expected

undiscounted net cash flows to be generated by these assets an impairment loss is recorded in earnings

durmg the penod of such impairment and is calculated as the excess of the carrying amount of the

asset or asset group over its estimated fair value

Identifiable intangibles are currently amortized over five years in relation to the acquisition of

technology of JDO Genie PTY Ltd six
years in relation to the FastObjects Inc acquisition and seven

years in relation to the merger with Poet using the straight-line method in each of these cases

Intangible assets consist of acquired technology and customer relationships

Versant tests and evaluates its intangible assets for impairment whenever indicators of potential

impairment are identified

In fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 as there were no triggering events in such fiscal
years

which might indicate impairment of Versants intangible assets the Company did not perform

impairment tests and valuation analysis of its intangible assets Based on the requirements SFAS 144
Versant determmed that the value of the Companys intangible assets had been fairly recorded its

financial statements and therefore no impairment charges against the Companys intangible assets

related to the Companys Poet and FastObjects acquisitions were recorded in fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007

and fiscal 2006

The Companys intangible assets balances as of October 31 2008 and October 31 2007 are as

follows in thousands

As of October 31 2008 As of October 31 2007

Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Cairying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Intangible assets

Poet Holdings Inc

Amortized over yrs $1919 $1454 $465 $1919 $1265 $654

JDO Genie PTY LTD
Amortized over yrs 550 477 73 550 367 183

FastObjects Inc

Amortized over yrs 148 121 27 148 104 44

Total $2617 $2052 $565 $2617 $1736 881
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

October 31 2008

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNWICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

The projected amortization of the Companys existing intangible assets as of October 31 2008 is as

follows in thousands

Amortization

Fiscal year ending October 31
2009 278

2010 200

2011 87

Thereafter

Total $565

Revenue Recognition

Versant recognizes revenues accordance with the prvisions of Statement of Position SOP
97-2 Software Revenue Recognition SOP 98-9 Modification of SOP 97-2 Software

1evenue Recognition

with Respect to Certain Transactions and SOP 81-1 Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and

Certain Production-Type Contracts The Companys revenues consist mainly of revenues earned under

software license agreements maintenance support agreements otherwise known as post-contract

customer support or PCS and to lesser degree agreements for consulting and training
activities

Versant uses the residual method to recognize revenues when license agreement mcludes one or

more elements to be delivered by us at future date If there js anundelivered element under the

hcene arrangement the Company defers revenues based on vendor-specific objective evidence

VSOE of the fair value of the undelivered element as determined by the price charged when the

elernet is sold separately If VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements of

transaction the Company defers all revenues from that transaction until sufficient evidence of the fair

value exists or until all elements have been delivered Under the residual method discounts are

allocated only to the delivered elements in multiple element arrangement with any undelivered

elements being deferred based on the vendor-specific objective evidence of theyalue such

undelivered elements Versant typically does not offer discounts on future undeveloped products

Revenues from software license arrangements including prepaid license fees are recognized when

all of the following criteria are met

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists

Delivery has occurred and there are no future dehverabes except
PCS

The fee is lixed a-nd determinable if we cannot conclude that fee is fixed and determinable

then assuming all other criteria have been met we recognize the revenues as payments become

due in accordance with paragraph 29 of SOP 97-2

Collection is probable

If an acceptance period or other contingency exists revenues are not recognized until customer

acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period or until satisfaction of the contingency as-

applicable The Companys license fees are generally non-cancelable and non-refundable Also the
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Companys customer agreements for prepaid deployment licenses do not make payme1t of our license

fees contingent upon the actual deployment of the software Therefore customers delay or
acceleration in its deployment schedule does not impact our revenue recognition in the case of

prepaid deployment license Revenues from related PCS for all product lines are usually billed in

advance of the service being provided and are deferred and recognized Ii straight-line basis over the

term in which the PCS is to be performed which is generally twelve months In some cases PCS
revenues arpaid in arrears of the service being provided and are recognized as revenues at the time

the customer provides the Company report for deployments made during given time perid

framing and consulting revenues are recognized when purchase order is received the services have

been performed and collection is deemed probable Consulting services are billed on an hourly daily or

monthly rate framing classes are billed based on group or individual attendance

Versant categorizes its customers into two broad groups End-Users and Value Added Resellers

VARs End User customers are companies who use the Companys products internally and do not

redistribute the Companys product outsthe of their corporate organizations VAR customers mclude

traditional Value Added Resellers Systems Integrators Ongmal E4uipment Manufacturers OEMs
and other vendors who redistribute Vetsants products to then external third party customers either

separately or as part of an mtegrated product

Versant licenses its data management products through two types of perpetual licenses

development licenses and deployment licenses Development licenses are typically sold on per seat

basis and aUthonze customer develop and test an application program that ues Versants software

product Prior to an End-User customer bemg able to deploy an apphcation that it has developed

under the Companys development license it mtt purchase deployment licenses based on the number
of computers connected to the server that will run the application usmg Versants product For certaifl

applications Verant offers depibyment licenses priced on pe user basis pricing of Versant Object

Database and FastObjects licenses varies accordmg to several factors mcludmg the number of

computer servers on which the application runs and the number of users that are able to access the

server at any one time Customeis may elect to simultaneously purchase development and deployment

hcenses for an entire project These dvelopment and deployment licetthes may also provide for

prepayment to Versant of tionrefundable amOunt for future deploythent

VARs and distributors purchase development licenses from Versail on per seat basisn terms
similar to those of development licenses that the Company sells directly td End-Users VAIs are

authorized to sublicense deployment copies of Versants data management products that are either

bundled or embedded in the VARs applications and sold directly to End-Users VARs are required to

report their distribution of Versants software and are chafged royalty that is either based on the

number of copies of the application software that are distributed or computeç percentage of the

selling price charged by the VARs to their end-user customers These royalties from VARs may be

prepaid in full or paid upon deployment Provided that all other conditions for revenue recognition

have been met revenues from arrangements with VARs are recognized as to prepaid license

arrangements when the prepaid licenses are sold to the VAR and ii as to other license

arrangements at the time tie VAR provides royalty report to Versant for sales made by the VAR
during given period
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Revenues from the Companys resale of third-party products or services are recorded at total

contract value with the corresponding cost included in the cost of sales when Versant acts as principal

in these transactions by assuming the risks and rewards of ownership including the risk of loss for

collection delivery or returns When the Company does not assume the risks and rewards of

ownership revenues from the resale of third-party products or services are recorded at contract value

net of the cost of sales

On occasion at customers request Versant performs engineering work to port our products to

an unsupported platform or to customize our software for specific functionality or any other

non-routine technical assignment In these instances Versant recognizes revenues in accordance with

SOP 81-1 Accounting Research Bulletin ARB No 45 As Amended Long-Term Construction-Type

Contracts and uses either the time and material percentage of completion method or the completed

contract method for recognizing revenues The Company uses the percentage of completion method if

it can make reasonable and dependable estimates of labor costs and hours required to complete the

work in question The Company periodically reviews these estimates in connection with the work

performed and rates actually charged and recognizes any losses when identified Progress to completion

is determined using the cost-to-cost method whereby cost incurred to date as percentage of total

estimated cost determines the percentage completed and revenue recognized When using the

percentage of completion method the following conditions must exist

An agreement must include provisions that clearly specify the rights regarding goods or services

to be provided and received by both parties the consideration to be exchanged and the manner

and terms of settlement

The customer is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract

Versant is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract

The completed contract method is used when reasonable or dependable estimates of labor costs

and time to complete the work cannot be made As result in such situations Versant defers all

revenues until such time as the work is fully completed

Management of the Company makes significant judgmepts and estimates in connection with the

determination of the revenue Versant recognizes in each accounting period If Versant had made

different judgments or utilized different estimates for any period material differences in the amount

and timing of revenue recognized would have resulted

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currencies of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are their respective local

currencies The Company translates the assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries into the U.S

dollar at the current exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date and revenues and expenses are

translated using rates that approximate the average rates of exchange during the period Gains and

losses from translation adjustments are included in stockholders equity in the consolidated balance

sheet caption as other comprehensive income
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Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive mcome presented in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets consist of cwnulative foreign currency translation adjustments

The following table summarizes the breakdown of comprehensive income for the years ended

October 31 2008 October 31 2007 and October 31 2006 in thousands

flscal year eflded0ctober 31

2008 2007 2006

Net income as reported 9489 $7633 $4301

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1163 825 125

Other comprehensive income 8326 $$458 $4426

Warranties and Indemnfication Obligations

The Company recognizes warranty and indemnification obligations under SFAS No As
Amended Accounting for Contingencies SFAS FASB Interpretation No 45 Guarantor

Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees Including Indirect Gu rantees of Indebtedn ss of

Others and FASB Concepts Statement SFAC No As Amended Using Cash Flow Information

and Piesent Value in Accounting Mearurementt These pronoüncemeits require guarantor to recognize

and disclose liability for obligations it has undertaken in relation to the issuance Of the guarantee

The Companys software license agreements generally include certain provisions for indemnifring

customers against liabilities if the Companys software products infringe upon third pÆrtsintellectual

property rights The Company has not provided for any reserves for such warranty liabilities

The Companys software license agreements also generally include warranty that the Companys
software products will substantially operate as described in the applicable program documentation. The

Company also warrants that services the Company performs will be providçd in miner consistent

with industry standards To date Versant has not incurred any material costs associated with these

product and service performance warranties and as such the Company has not provided for any

reserves for an such warranty liabilities in its operatmg results

In Europe there is typically one-year warranty period for all of the Companys products and

services In fiscal 2006 pursuant to the consulting engagements with certain European customers

Versant recorded $128000 warranty reserve based on historical experience and expeted need at that

time in its consolidated financial statements These warranty reserves were subsequently reversed

durmg the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 upon expIration of the one year warranty penod As result

Versant had $10000 warranty reserve balance as of October 31 2007 its consolidated financial

statements compared to total warranty reserve balance of $136000 of October 31 2006 As of

October 31 2008 Versant had $9000 warranty reserve balance in its consolidated financial

statements
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Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers under certam mamtenance

software and service contiacts for which the revenue earning process
has not been completed and

revenue has not been recognized Deferred revenues are recognized as revenue ratably over the life of

the contract or when the service is rendered and the Company has satisfied all other revenue

recognition criteria

As of October 31

2008 2007

Maintenance $3437 $4305

framing and consulting _____
43

Total $3437 $4348

Accrued Liabilities

The breakdown of short-term accrued liabilities for the fiscal
years

ended October 31 2008 and

October 31 2007 were asfollows

As of October 31200
Payroll and related 23 $1334

Thxes payable 226 1031

Other 376 391

Total $1525 $2756

Software Development Costs

Software development costs are included in product development and are expensed as incurred

After technological feasibility is established material software development costs are capitalized in

accordance with SFAS No 86 Accounting forthe Costs of Computer Software to be SO14 Leased or

Othewise Marketed The time period between achieving technological feasibility which Versant has

defined as the establishment of working model which typically occurs when the beta testing

commences and the general availability of such software has generally been short and therefore to

date software development costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant No software

development costs have been capitalized for the periods ended October 31 2008 October 31 2007 and

October 31 2006 since the timing of achieving technological feasibility and general availability has not

been materially diffrrent

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes based on SFAS

No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes SFAS 109 Under the asset and liability method deferred tax

assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
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financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities The Company
records valuation allowance to reduce tax assets to an amount for which realization is more likely

than not The Company has recorded valuation allowance for substantially all of its deferred tax

assets except to the extent of deferred tax liabilities as it is presently unable to conclude that it is

more likely than not those nçt deferred tax assets wilt be realized.

The Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
Interpretation Number 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes FIN 48 on November

2007 Previously the Company had accounted for tax contingencies in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No Accounting for Contingencies As required by

FIN 48 which clarifies -SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes the Company recognizes the

financial statement benefit of tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would

more likely than nt sutain the position following an audit For tax positions meeting the

more-likely-than-not threshold the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit

that has greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the

relevant tax authority At November 2007 the Company applied FIN 48 to all tax positions for which

the statute of limitations remained open and determined there were no mateji4 previously recognized

tax benefits as of that date As result the adoption of FIN 48 did not have material effect on the

Companys financial condition or results of operations

The Company is subject to U.S federal income taxes and to income taxes in various states in the

U.S as well asin foreign jurisdictions Thx regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the

interpretatión of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply With

few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or foreign tax

examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2003 The Company does not anticipate significant

changes to its uncertain tax positions through October 31 2009

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in the

provision for income taxes for all periods presented which were not significant

The Company adopted the provisions of Emerging Issues Thsk Force EITF Issue No 06-03

How Taxes Collected fivni Cussomer and Remitted to Government Authoities Should Be Presented in the

Income Statement That is Gross versus Net Presentation effective January 2007 EITF No 0603

allows companies to cthoose either the gross basis or net basis of income statement presentation for

taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities and requires companies to

disclose such policy The Company applies the net basis presentation for taxes collected from customers

and remitted to government authorities

Stock-$ased Compensation

On November 2005 Versant adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No 123R
Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R and Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Staff

Accounting Bulletin No 107 SAB 107 using the modified-prospective transition method See
Note for details

Prior to fiscal 2006 Versant accounted for stock issued to employees in accordance with

Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees PB 25 as
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interpreted by FIN 44 Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation and complied

with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No.123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation SFAS 123
Under APB 25 compensation expense was based on the difference if any on the date of the grant

between the fair value of the Companys stock and the exercise price of the option Stock compensation

was amortized over the vesting period of the individual awards in manner consistent with the method

described in FASB Interpretation No 28 Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable

Stock Option Award Plus In addition the Company accounted for stock issued to non-employees in

accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123 Pursuant to SFAS 123 stock-based compensation is

accounted for at the fair value of the equity instruments issued or at the fair value of the consideration

received whichever is more reliably measurable

Employee Benefit Plans

The Companys employee.savings and retirement plan is qualified under Section 401k of the

United States Internal Revenue Code Employees may make voluntary tax-deferred contributions to

the 401k Plan up to the statutorily prescribed annual limit No matching contributions to employees

voluntary contributions to the 401k Plan were made by the Company in fiscal years 2008 2007 and

2006

Segment afld Geographic Information

SFAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information establishes

standards for the manner in which public companies report
information about operating segments in

annual and interim fmancial statements It also establishes standards for related disclosures about

products arid services geographic areas and major customers The method for determining what

information to report js based on the way management organizes the operating segments within the

Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance The Companys chief

operating decision-maker is considercd to be the Companys chief executive officer CEO The CEO

reviews financial information presented on an entity level basis accompanied by non-aggregated

information about revenues by product type and certain information about geographic regions for

purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance The entity level financial

information is identical to the information presented in the accompanying statements of income

Therefore the Company has determined that it operates in single operating segment Data

Management

The Company operates in North America Europe and Asia In general revenues are attributed to

the country in which the contract originates
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The following tables summarize revenues and long-lived assets by each geographic region in

thousands

Fiscal year ended October 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues by region

North America 9292 9679 6175

Europe 13275 10672 10138

Asia 2731 799 432

Total $25298 $21150 $i6745

Fiscal year ended October 31

2008 2007

Total long-lived assets by region

North Amenca $229 $282

Europe 383 460

Asia 230 201

Total $842 $943

Recent Accountzng Pronouncements

In May 2008 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 162

SFAS 162 The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles This statement identifiesthe

sources of accounting principles and the fiamework for selecting the principles used in preparation of

financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S GAAE
This statement is effective November 15 2008 Versant will adopt SFAS 162 as required and its

adoption is not expected to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements

In April 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No 142 FSP No 142 Determination of

the Useful Life of Intangible Assets FSP No 142-3 amends the factors that should be considered

developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of recognied

intangible asset under FASB Statement No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets This FSP shall be

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim

pericds within those fiscal years FSP No 142-3 is effective for Versant beginning November 2009

The Company will adopt this FSP as required and is currently evaluating the related accounting and

disclosure requirements

In March 2008 the FASB issued FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 161

SFAS 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities SFAS No 161 requires

companies with derivative instruments to disclose information that should enable financial statement

users to understand how and why company uses derivative instruments how derivative instruments

and related hedged items are accounted for under FASB Statement No 133 Accounting for Derivative

Instruments and Hedging Activities and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect
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companys financial position financial performance and cash flows SFAS 161 is effective for financial

statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 SFAS 161 is

effective for Versant beginning February 2009 The Company will adopt SFAS 161 as required and

its adoption is not expected to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement No 141 revised Business Combinations

SFAS 141R The standard changes the accounting for business combinations including the

measurement of acquirer shares issued in consideration for business combination the recognition of

contingent consideration the accounting for pre-acquisition gain and loss contingencies the recognition

of capitalized in-process research and development the accounting for acquisition-related restructuring

cost accruals the treatment of acquisition-related transaction costs and the recognition of changes in

the acquirers income tax valuation allowance SFAS 141R is required to be applied prospectively to

business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual

reporting period beginning on or after December 15 2008 As such SFAS 141R will become effective

for Versant on November 2009 The Company is currently assessing the impact of SFAS 141R on its

consolidated financial statements

In December 2007 the FASB issued Statement No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated

Financial Statements an amendment of ARB No 51 SFAS 160 The standard changes the

accounting for noncontrolling minority interests in consolidated financial statements including the

requirements to classify noncontrolling interests as component of consolidated stockholders equity

and the elimination of minority interest accounting in results of operations with earnings attributable

to noncontrolling interests reported as part of consolidated earnings Additionally SFAS 160 revises the

accounting for both increases and decreases in parents controlling ownership interest SFAS 160 is

effective for Versant beginning November 2009 and will apply prospectively except for the

presentation and disclosure requirements which will apply retrospectively The Company believes

adoption of SFAS 160 will not have an impact on its consolidated financial statements

In September 2006 the FASB issued Statement No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157
This statement clarifies the definition of fair value and the method used to measure fair value and

requires expanded financial statement disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and

liabilities SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after

November 15 2007 This new guidance will become effective for Versant beginning November 2008

and the Company believes SFAS 157 will not have material impact on its financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued Statement No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets

and Financial Liabilities SFAS 159 SFAS 159 provides Fair Value Option under which

company may irrevocably elect fair value as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for

certain financial assets and liabilities This Fair Value Option will be available on contract-by-contract

basis with changes in fair value recognized in earnings as those changes occur The effective date for

SFAS 159 is the beginning of each reporting entitys first fiscal year that begins after November 15

2007 Therefore SFAS 159 will become effective for Versant beginning November 2008 SFAS 159

also allows an entity to early adopt the statement as of the beginning of an entitys fiscal year that

begins after the issuance of SFAS 159 provided that the entity also adopts the requirements of SFAS

No 157 The Company believes adoption of SFAS 159 will not have an impact on the consolidated

financial statements
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Since fiscal 2006 Versant has accounted for share-based compensation costs in accordance with

SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107
Share-Based Payment SAB 107 and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No.110 Share-Based Payment

SAB 110 SFAS 123R was adopted using the modified-prospective transition method The

Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee stock

option compensation at the date of grant which
requires the use of significant assumptions including

expected volatility and expected life Historical volatility was used in estimating the fair value of share-

based awards rather than implied volatility while the expected life was estimated based on histoncal

model that takes into consideration other factors that could possibly impact the future expected life of

the options Further as required under SFAS 123R the Company estimates forfeiture rates for those

options granted which are not expected to vest Changes in these mputs and assumptions can matenally

affect the measure of estimated fair value of our share based compensation The estimated fair value is

charged to
earnings on straight-line basis over the

vesting period of the underlying awards which are

generally three years under the Companys Equity Incentive Plans and two years under the Directors

Stock Option Plans While the estimate of fair value and the associated charge to earnings materially

impacts the Companys results of operations it has no impact on its cash position

Prior to November 2005 Versant accounted for stock issued to employees accordance with

the recognition and measurement provisions of APB 25 and its related Interpretations as permitted by

SFAS 123 For fiscal 2005 the Company also did not record any compensation expense in connection

with its Employee Stock Purchase Plan since the purchase price of the stock was 85% of the lower of

the fair market value of its common stock at the beginning or the end of each offermg period as APB
No 25 provided safe harbor not requiring compensation expense connection with such an

employee stock plan arrangement

Effective November 2005 the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of

SFAS 123R and SAB 107 using the modified-prospective transition method Under the modified-

prospective transition method the recognized compensation cost includes tjie following components

First for all share-based payments granted prior to November 2005 but not yet vested as of

November 2006 compensation cost is based on the
grant date fair value estimated ift accordance

with the original provisions of SFAS 123

Second for all share based payments granted or modified subsequent to November 2005

compensation cost is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of

SFAS 123R

SFA 123R requires companies to estimate forfeiture rates at the time of grant and to revise these

estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeiture rates differ from those estimates Versant applies the

forfeiture rate to the unvested portion of the option valuation and performs true up for the amount of

the valuation to be recorded if the actual forfeiture rate is different from the one applied pnor

periods The current forfeiture rate for the unvested portion of the option valuation recognized as of

October 31 2008 is 19% for employee plans and 11% for director plans respectively

Versant estimates the fair value of employee stock options and rights to purchase shares under its

employee stock purchase plan or ESPP using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model This is
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consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123R SAB 107 and the Companys prior period pro forma

disclosures of net income loss including share-based compensation

The purchase price of shares which employees may acquire under the Companys employee stock

purchase plan or ESP1 at any purchase period is 85% of the lesser of either of the following the fair

market value of the shares on the offering date or the fair market value of the shares on the purchase

date Since the 85% threshold is no longer safe harbor under SFAS 123R Versant records

compensation expense based on the estimated fair value of the shares granted under the ESPE

Versant uses historical model to arrive at the expected life of its options but it takes into

consideration other factors that could possibly impact the future expected life of the options As of

October 31 2008 the Company determined that the estimated expected life of an employee share

option granted under the Companys Equity Incentive Plan was 2.4 years

The expected life for the options granted under the Directors Plans to the board members who

are not full time employees of Versant is 5.75 years Versant used the simplified method allowed by

SAB 107 and SAB 110 to arrive at this calculation Under the simplified method the expected term is

equal to vesting term plus original contractual term divided by two

Versant uses the U.S freasury Strip rates listed on the last Thursday of every month on The Wall

Street Journal to compute risk-free interest rate

Versant uses the historical volatility over the expected term of the options to estimate the expected

volatility The Company however takes into account other current information available to determine

the expected volatility Versant uses the historical volatility as the best estimate of the future volatility

of its common stock

Versant does not expect to realize any current tax benefits in fiscal 2008 related to stock options or

shares issued under its ESPP Versant currently provides full valuation allowance for its deferred tax

assets and accordingly valuation allowance is also provided for any tax effects of stock-based

compensation expense pursuant to SFAS 123R

Versant has not distributed any dividends to its common shareholders and does not expect to do so

in the near future

The fair vàlües of each option granted and each share issued under the ESPP are estimated on the

date of grant using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model based on the following weighted average

assumptions

Stock Options ESPP

Fiscal year ended October 31 Fiscal year ended October 31

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Expected life in years 2.35.75 years 2.25.75 years 2.25.75 years months months months

Weighted-average Risk-free

interest rate 2.32%3.22% 4.17%4.85% 4.28%5.23% 2.O1%3.31% 4.76%5.OO% 3.2%4.76%

Volatility 57%88% 71%107% 87%115% 48%52% 52%80% 72%83%
Dividend yield
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Stock-based compensation expenses recognized Under SFAS 123R in the consolidUted statements

of income related to stock options and ESPP for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 andflscal2006 were as follows

Flsca1arended

October 31

2008 2W
Stock options expenses under FAS 123R $807 $320

Stock expenses related to ESPP under FAS 123R 114 96

ibtal non cash stock expenses $921 $416

2008

Shares Welghted average

in thousands eiercise price

.235 $16.75

127 22.40

56 9.01

29.64

303 $20.40

296 $29.66

184

20%

192

44

$236

The following table summarizes the changes in stock option activities under the Companys equity-

based compensation plan during fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 respedtively

Flscaar ended October 31

200

Outstanding at the beginning of the period

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited and Expired

Outstanding at the end of the period

Options exercised at the end of the fiscal

year since inception

Options exercisable at the end of the fiscal

year

Shares

jn thousands

185

102
46

235

239

Weighted average

exercise price

$16.91

14.57

6.94

35.80

$16.75

$32.61

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options as of

October 31 2008

$21.13 117 $20.61

Options Outstanding

Exercise Prices

From $3.00 to $6.00

From $6.13 to $9.20

From $10.2G to $16.00

From $17.19 to $40.00

From $42.00 to $122.20

From $465.50 to $1287.00

Options Exercisable

Number Weighted

outstanding at average

October 31 remaIning
2008 contractual

in thousands life

23 5.63

32 6.79

56 7.47

183 8.57

1.74

1.28

303 7.75

Weighted

average

exercise

price

4.39

6.94

10.66

22.28

94.23

629.80

20.40

Number
exettisable at

October31
2008

in thousands

23

26

35

91

184

Wçighted

average

jemainmg
contractual

life

5.59

6.64

7.10

8.12

1.74

1.28

7.09

Weighted

average

exercise

puce

4.41

7.01

10.80

23.58

94.23

629.80

21.73
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The summary of the status of Versants nonvested shares as of October 31 2008 and changes

during the fiscal year ended October 31 2008 is as follows

Weighted-average

Shares grant-date

Nonvested shares in thousands fairvalue

Nonvested at October 31 2007 118 7.36

Granted 127 10.67

Vested 100 7.47

Forfeited 5.50

Nonvested at October 31 2008 143 9.62

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and

fiscal 2006 were $10.67 $8.33 and $3.40 respectively The total fair value of shares granted during

fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 were $1.4 million $908000 and $231000 respectively The

aggregated intrinsic values of options exercised during fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 were

$1.1 million $581000 and $120000 respectively The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal

2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 were $747000 $240000 and $167000 respectively

The total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested options were $1.3 million at

October 31 2008 and will be recognized using the straight-line attribution method ratably for the

subsequent three years However the Company will adjust total stock-based compensation cost for

changes in estimated forfeiture rates and true-ups

NOTE DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On February 2006 Versant completed the sale of the assets associated with its WebSphere

consulting practice to Sima Solutions Sima privately held U.S based company Versants

WebSphere practice provided consulting and training services to end-users of IBMs WebSphere

application server software As result of this transaction Versant ceased conducting its WebSphere

consulting practice In connection with Versants sale of its WebSphere assets certain employees of

Versant who formerly worked in Versants WebSphere Practice joined Sima

The WebSphere transaction based on SFAS 144 Impairments of Long Lived Assets and

Discontinued Operations met the criteria of long-liyed asset disposal group held for sale at the end

of the first quarter ended January 31 2006 As result Versant has reflected the results of operations

of its WebSphere consulting practice for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 as discontinued

operations Therefore reported revenues for these periods no longer include any revenues from the

WebSphere consulting practice The results from the discontinued WebSphere operations however are

reported as net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes

Under the Sale Agreement between Versant and Sima the Company was entitled to receive

contingent payments from Siina related to the WebSphcre business for 24-month period following the

closing of the Agreement This 24-month period expired on January 31 2008 Consequently no further

royalties were payable from Sima to Versant for periods after Versants fiscal quarter ended January 31

2008 For fiscal 2008 Versant recorded $98000 in royalties from Sima pursuant to the Sale Agreement

as net income from discontinued operations
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WebSphere sales proceeds

Lease cancellation

Legal fees

Gain from sale of discontinued operations net of income taxes

WebSphere first quarter royalty

WebSphere second quarter royalty

WebSphere third quarter royalty

WebSphere fourth quarter royalty

Other WebSphere revenues net of expenses

Net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes

NOTE RESTRUCTURING

Versant has undergone several restructuring programs since fiscal 2004 with the intent of reducing

ongomg operatmg costs

Fiscal 2005

In June 2005 Versant committed to and began implementing restructuring program to realign its

resources to focus on its Versant Object Database product Versant assessed its product portfolio and

associated research and development efforts and expenditures and then streamlined the rest of its

operations to support those reassessments Pursuant to this restructuring program Versant planned to

spin off and eliminate marginally profitable or non-strategic products lines consolidate development

activities eliminate four management positions
and certam duplicate positions marketing functions

and programs and centralize its sales support functions

In July 2005 Versant through its subsidiary Versant GmbH entered into certain agreements to

effect spm-off of tangible assets techhology rights and contracts related to its Vrsant Open Access

.NET VtA.NET business to Vanatec GmbH Vanàtec then newly formed privately held

German based company In connection with that spin-off seven former Versant employees departed

Versant to join Vanatec and partneiship formed by those individuals received an 80.4% equity

interest in Vanatec with Versant retaining the remaining 19.6% equity interest In connection with that

The WebSphere sale transaction was reflected the consohdated financial statements of fiscal

2006 During fiscal 2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 Versant recorded $98000 $304000 ad $231000

respectively in royalty payments from WebSphere as income from discontinued operations The

following table reflects the gain from the disposal of the discontinued WebSphere operation in fiscal

2006 and royalty income from discontinued operations net of income taxes for WebSphere during fiscal

2008 fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006

Fiscal Year Ended
October 31

2008 2007 2006

$$---$500

$82

16

24

$468

$90
81 41

61 91

72 118

19
$98 $304 $231

Total $98 $304 $699
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spin-off on July 29 2005 Versant committed to provide funding to Vanatec in total amount not to

exceed 425000 euros or $520000 in two equal installments of 212500 euros or $260000 each on

August 2005 and November 2005 which Versant contributed to Vanatec In addition during the

three months ended July 31 2005 Versant contributed 25000 euros or $30000 to Vanatec therefore

the total cash capital contributed and committed by Versant to Vanatec was 450000 euros or

$550000 VOA.NET was one of the aforementioned non-strategic product lines which Versant decided

to spin off as part of its restructuring efforts designed to enable Wrsant to focus on its core database

business and progress towards its long-term profitability goal

During fiscal 2005 Versant determined that equity at risk in Vanatec was not sufficient to permit it

to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support therefore Versant determined

that Vanatec was variable interest entity in accordance with FIN 46R Consolidation of Variable

Interest Entities As Amended Vanatec results were included in Versants consolidated financial

statements from July 2005 through March 27 2006 in which the criteria Of FIN 46R for consolidation

are met Accordingly variable interest entity liability in the amount of $137000 was recorded in

Versants accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of Qctober 31 2005
reflecting

the

80.4% equity interest in Vanatec held by the former Versant employees The recording of the

aforementioned variable interest entity liability resulted in corresponding restructuring charge of

$480000 during fiscal 2005 On March 27 2006 Versant sold its 19.6% interest in Vanätec to third

party investor for 4900 euros and entered into joint ownership agreement with Varnitec with respect

to certain technology Versant had previously licensed to Vanatec result of the transaction Yersant

determined that it was no longer the primary beneficiary of Vanatec and thus in accordance with

FIN 46R is no longer required to consolidate its operating results effective March 28 2006 See

Note of these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity

for further information regarding this transaction with Vanatec.

In fiscal 2005 Versant recorded total restructuring charges of approximately $638000 which

included approximately $280000 of severance payments for headcount reductions $480000 related to

the aforementioned Vanatec spin off of which $24000 related to legal fees incurred due to the

VOA.Net spin-off offset by $122000 adjUstment as result of the sublease of the Compaays UI
facilities

Fiscal 2006

The restructuring programs initiated in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 were effectively completed

in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 In fiscal 2006 Versant recorded total restructuring expenses of

approximately $218000 which consist primarily of severance payments due to headcount reductions

As of October 31 2006 there remained $448000 restructuring accrual and zero variable interest

entity liability on Versants consolidated balance sheet

Fiscal 2007 and beyond

The $448000 restructuring accrual balance as of October 31 2006 was fully paid during fiscal 2007

As result there was no longer restructuring accrual On Versants consolidated balance sheet as of

October 31 2007 There was no restructuring activity during fiscal 2008
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The following table summarizes the Companys restructuring activities from October 31 2004

through October 31 2007 in thousands

Facility Employee
1.eases Terminations Others/VanatØc Ibtal

Opening accrual balance as of October 31 2004 $2107 504 2611

Non-cash adjustment during the fiscal year 2005 122 280 480 638

Net cash payments during the fiscal
year 2005 804 784 343 1931

Accrual and variable interest liability as of October 31
2005 $1181 137 1318

Non-cash adjustment during the fiscal year 2006 218 218

Net cash payments during the fiscal year 2006 951 951
Deconsolidation of.Vanatec adjustment during the fiscal

year 2006 137 137

Accrual and variable interest liability as of October 31
2006 $448 448

Non-cash adjustment durmg the fiscal year 2007

Net cash payments during the fiscal year 2007 448 448

Aerrual and cariable interest liability as of October 31
2007 __

The facility lease payments during fiscal 2007 fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 were related to Versants

obligations for its California and European facilities which were accrued for as part of the

restructuring plans

NOTE LIQUIDATION OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARY

Versant elected to liquidate Versant Ltd its subsidiary in the United Kingdom to reduce costs

and centralize European operations The liquidation of Versant Ltd was completed in the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2007

Upon the completion of the liquidation of Versant Ltd in October 2007 in accordance with the

provisions of SFAS 52 Versant recorded $245000 operating loss to reflect the realization of

accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments related to Versant Ltd corresponding amount

was recorded to eliminate accumulated other comprehensive loss component of equity previously

recorded in Versant Ltd.s balance sheet This loss represents the net unrealized foreign currency

translation losses accumulated from changes in exchange rates and the related effects from the

translation of assets and liabilities of Versant Ltd in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 52

NOTE CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY

In July 2005 Versant through its subsidiary Versant GrnbH entered into certain agreements to

effect spin-off of tangible assets technology rights and contracts related to its Versant Open Access

.NET VOA.NET business to Vanatec GmbH then newly formed privately held German based
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company Versant subsequent to this agreement determined that the equity at risk in Vanatec was not

sufficient to permit the company to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial

support from Versant therefore it considered Vanatec variable interest entity in accordance with

FIN 46R
As result in accordance with FIN 46R Vanatecs operating results were included in Versants

consolidated financial statements for the three-month periods ended July 31 2005 October 31 2005

and January 31 2006 During the three months ended January 31 2006 Versant absorbed its share of

Vanatecs losses up to the point that it exceeded the variable interest liability and subsequent to that it

continued to absorb 100% of the losses that Vanatec had incurred for an additional amount of $35000

for the three months ended January 31 2006 During the three months ended April 30 2006 Versant

continued to absorb 100% of Vanatecs losses for an additional amount of $70000 for the period

between February 2006 and March 27 2006

On March 27 2006 Versant sold its 19.6% interest in Vanatec to third party investor for

4900 euros and entered into joint ownership agreement with Vanatec with respect to certain

technology Versant had previously licensed to Vanatec As result of the aforementioned transaction

Versant determined that it was no longer the primary beneficiary of Vanatec and thus in accordance

with FIN 46R was no longer required to consolidate its operating results effective March 27 2006

According to this agreement Vanatec would pay Versant running royalty at rate of six percent of its

net proceeds but no less than 30 euros per copy of the technology subject to the licenses granted for

period of five years following the effective date of the agreement Further at any time during the

royalty period Vanatec had the right to exercise .a buyout for its royalty obligations by making

one-time payment to Versant of 100000 euros Vanatec exercised this buy-out right during the three

months ended October 31 2008 and remitted the buyout payment of 100000 euros to Versant so that

no further royalties are payable to Versant from Vanatec

As Versant was no longer required to consolidate the operating results of Vanatec as of March 27

2006 it recorded gain of approximately $131000 on deconsolidation representing the reversal of the

excess losses that it had absorbed and the consideration that it received from the third party investor in

lieu of its interest in Vanatec The gain is reported as Gain on Disposal of Variable Interest Entity in

the accompanying consolidated statement of income for fiscal 2006

NOTE LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Versants principal commitments as Of October 31 2008 consist of obligations under operating

leases for facilities and equipment commitments

Versant leases office space for its U.S headquarters in Redwood City California and also leases

field office space in Hamburg Germany and Pune India under multi-year operating lease agreements

Consolidated rent expense in fiscal years
ended October 31 2008 October 31 2007 and October 31

2006 was approximately $550000 $735000 and $877000 respectively
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The Companys future annual minimum commitments as of October 31 2008 under non-cancelable

operating leases are hsted as follows thousands

Rental Equipment
Lease Leases Ibtal

Fiscal year ending October31

2009 $548 $16 $564

2010.- 211 217

2011

Thereafter

Total

NOTE SEfLEMENT OF LITIGATION

Versants software license agreements generally include certain provisions for indemnifying

customers against liabilities if the Companys software products infringe upon third partys intellectual

property rights prior customer of the Company sought indemnification from Versant for alleged

infringement ofintllectuaL property rights related to product that Versant discontinued in 2004 The

customers indemnification claims included seeking recovery of costs it incurred in defending aixw
settled suit brought against the customer bya third party who had asserted that such third partys

intellettual property rights had been infringed The Company and this irior customer reached

settlement agreement with respect to this pending litigation on June 2008 for cash settlement

payment of $800000 and full mutual release of claims The Conipany had previously recorded

contingency reserve for this litigatiOn of approximately $63000 in the fiscal quarter ended January 31

2007 As result of this settlement an additional charge of $800000 was recorded to general and

administrative expenses for the fiscal quarter ended April 30 2008 which is reflected in the

accompanying consolidated statement of mcome for fiscal 2008 to reflect this settlement payment of

$62500 was made to the customer durmg the fiscal quarter ended April 30 2008 and settlement

payment of $800000 was made to the customer durmg the fiscal quarter ended July 31 2008

NOTE 10 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND INCOME PER SHARE

Basic and diluted net income per common share has been computed using the weighted average

number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period less shares subject to repurchase
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The following table presents the -calculation of basic and diluted net income per share in thousands

except per share amounts

Fiscal year ended October 31

2008 2007 2006

Net income from continuing operations $9391 $7329 $3602
Net income from discontinued operations net of income taxes 98 304 231

Gain from sale of discontinued operations net of income taxes 468

Net income $9489 $7633 $4301

Calculation of basic net income per share

Weighted average common shares outstanding 3729 3649 3577
Net income from continuingoperations 2.52 2.01 1.01

Earnings from discontinued operations net of income tax 0.02 1.08 0.19

Net income per share basic 2.54 2.09 $1.20

Calculation of diluted net income per share

Weighted averagecommon shares outstanding 3729 3649 3577
Dilutive effect of employee and director stock options 54 59

Weighted averagecommon shares outstanding and potentially dilutive

common shares 3783 3708 3584

Net income from continuing operations 2.48 $1.98 1.01

Earnings from discontinued operations net of income tax 0.03 0.08 0.19

Net income per share diluted 2.51 2.06 $1.20

NOTE 11 INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 109 which requires

an asset and liability approach to accounting for income taxes Deferred tax liabilities and assets are

determined based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis

of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted
statutory tax rates in effect at the balance

sheet date The Company records valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets when

uncertainty regarding realizability exists

Income before provision for income taxes consisted of the following in thousands

Fiscal year ended October 31

2008 2007 2006

United States 2050 $2404 930

International 8870 6096 3761

$10920 $8500 $4691
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The proviS1óii fot income takes consisted of thefollŁwing in thousands

Fiscal year ended October 31

2008 2007 2006

Current

Federal

State 50 32

Foreign 1174 766 351

Foreign withholding 253 51

Total current $1431 $867 $390

Deferred

Federal

State

Total deferred

Total provision for income taxes $1431 $867 $390

The provision for mcome taxes differs from the amount estimated by applying the statutory federal

income tax rate to mcome before taxes as follows thousands

FIscal year ended October 31

2008 2007 2006

Federal tax at statutory rate 382 2975 1642

State tax at statutory rate net of federal benefit 491 442 188

Change in valuation allOwance 8387 2636 420

Foreign tax differential 959 10 1053

Foreign tax dividend 2650

Decrease in ta credits .. 1853

Other 43 96 33

Provision for income taxes $1431 867 390
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The components of the net deferred tax asset were as follows in thousands

Fiscal year ended
October 31

200S 2007

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwards 35331 42127

Tax credit carryforwards 1756 3525

Other 62 116

37149 45536

Valuation allowance 37149 45536

Net deferred tax asset

At October 31 2008 the Company bad federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of

$69.7 million and $12.0 million respectively and federal and state tax credit carry forwards of

$1.3 million and $700000 respectively The federal and state net operating loss carry forwards expire

on various dates through 2025 The federal tax credit carry forwards expire on various dates through

2023 if not utilized The state tax credit can be carried forward indefinitely Additionally at

October 31 2008 the Company had German net operating tax loss carry forwards of approximately

$32.0 million The German tax code provides for certain annual statutory limitations related to the use

of tax loss carry forward amounts For each taxable year the Company may utilize German tax loss

carry forwards fully up to the first million euros of taxable income and thereafter the tax loss
carry

forwards are limited to 60% of taxable income Due to the Companys history of operating losses the

Company believes that there js sufficient uncertajnty regarding the realizability of these carry forwards

and therefore valuation allowance of approximately $37.1 million has been recorded against the

Companys net deferred tax assets The Company will continue to assess the realizability of the tax

benefit available based on actual and forecasted operating results

Due to change in ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 the availability of

net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards to offset federal taxable income in future periods is

subject to an annual limitation

portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertains to net operating loss carry

forwards resulting from tax deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately

$1.6 million When recognized the tax benefit of these loss carry forwards will be accounted for as

credit to additional paid-in capital rather than reduction of income tax expense

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty

in Income Taxes FIN 48 on November 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN 48 the

Company recognized an approximate $50000 increase in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits

which was accounted for as reduction to the November 2007 retained earnings balance The

Companys total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of November 2007 the adoption date and

October 31 2008 was approximately $50000 and $1.7 million respectively An adjustment of

$1.6 million based on analysis performed during the year was made to the opening November 2007
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balance to account for certain deferred tax assets as unrecognized tax benefits This amount was

previously recorded as deferred tax asset which carried full valuation allowance therefore there is

no impact on the financial statements

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in

thousands

Balance as of November 2007 50

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 40

Additions for tax positions of prior years 1610

Reductions for tax positions of prior years

Settlements

Balance at October 31 2008 $1700

If recognized the entire $1.7 million of these unrecognized tax benefits would affect the effective

tax rate

The Company is subject federal mcome taxes and to income taxes various states in the

as well as foreign jurisdictions Tax regulatioiis within each jurisdiction are subject to the

interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply With

few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to federal state and local or foreign tax

examinations by tax authorities for tax years
before 2003 The Company does not anticipate significant

changes to its current uncertam tax positions through October 31 2009

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in the

provision for mcome taxes for all penods presented which were not significant

NOTE 12 EMPLOYEE AND DIRECTOR BENEFIT PLANS

Versant has or had during fiscal 2008 the following option plans in place

2005 Equity Incentive Plain

At the Companys Annual Meeting of Shareholders on August 22 2005 the Companys

shareholders approved the adoption of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan On that date the Company

immediately terminated use of the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan and ceased to grant stock options or

other stock awards under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan instead granting them under the 2005 Equity

Incentive Plan

Under Versants 2005 Equity Incentive Plan options are generally granted to its employees with

three-year vesting schedule in which .25% of the option vests and becomes exercisable nine months

from the grant date and thç remaining 75% vests ratably on monthly-basis thereafter over the

remaining 27 months of the vesting schedule All options granted to employees under the Companys

2005 Equity Incentive Plan expire ten years
after the grant date Grant holders generally have three

months after
leaving he Company to exercise their vested options
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The purpose of adopting the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was to continue to reserve and make

available under that plan the same number of common shares that would have been reserved and

available for future option grants and stock awards under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan if it were not

then expiring Accordingly the number of common shares initially reserved for issuance under the 2005

Equity Incentive Plan was equal to the number of shares that were reserved and available for issuance

under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan on the date the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was approved by the

Companys shareholders plus any shares that in the future would have become available for issuance

under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan due to the expiration of unexercised options or other forfeitures

of equity awards granted under that plan Thus adoption and approval of the 2005 Equity Incentive

Plan in fiscal 2005 did not result in any increase in the number of shares of Common Stock available

for equity awards beyond the number of shares that would otherwise have been available for issuance

under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan if it did not expire

At its 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders on April 23 2007 the Company shareholders

approved an amendment to 2005 Equity Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of Common

Stock reserved for issuance under the plan by 200000 shares

1996 Equity Incentive Plan

Under Versants 1996 Equity Incentive Plan options were generally granted to its employees with

three-year vesting schedule in which 25% of the option vests and becomes exercisable nine months

from grant date and the remaining 75% vests ratably on monthly-basis thereafter over the remaining

27 months of the vesting schedule Versants Compensation Committee from time to time approved

non-standard stock option vesting schedules for the purposes of employee retention or bonus grants

such as three-year grant with 25% vesting in three months and the remaining vesting ratably on

monthly-basis thereafter or an option grant
with 100% of the option grant vesting three months after

the grant date All options granted to employees under the Companys 1996 Equity Incentive Plan

expire ten years after the grant date Grant holders generally have three months after leaving the

Company to exercise their vested options Versant ceased granting options under its 1996 Equity

Incentive Plan in August 2005 and no further options will be granted under the 1996 Equity Incentive

Plan

2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

On August 22 2005 the Companys shareholders approved the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

at the 2005 Annual Meeting of the Companys shareholders The Company immediately terminated use

of the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan upon such approval of the 2005 Director Stock Option Plan

and ceased to grant
stock options Or other stock awards under the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan

and instead thereafter granted them under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

Under Versants 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan Versant grants 4000 options as an initial grant

to new directors on the Board who are not employees of the Company or of parent subsidiary or

affiliate of the Company Outside Directors and grants 4000 additional options to each Outside

Director as an annual succeeding grant thereafter Both initial and succeeding option grants vest 50%

on the first and second anniversaries of the option grant The options granted under the 2005

Directors Stock Option Plan expire ten years
after the grant date Directors have seven months after

leaving their directorships to exercise their vested options
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The purpose of adopting the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan was to continue to reserve and

make available under that plan the same- number of common shares that would be reserved and

available for future option grants under the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan if it were not then

expiring Accordingly the number of common shares initially reserved for issuance under the 2005

Directors Stock Option Plan was equal-to the number of shares that were reserved and available for

issuance under the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan on the date the 2005 Directors Stock Option

Plan was approved by the Companys shareholders on August 22 2005 the Directors Plait Effective

Date plus any shares that in the future would have become available for issuance under the 1996

Directors Stock Option Plan due to the expiration of --unexercised options granted under that plan or

the Companys repurchase of shares issued under that plan at their original issue price Thus adoption

and approval of the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan- did not result in any increase in-the number of

shares of Common Stock available for options beyond the number of shares that would otheiwise have

been available for issuance under the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan if it did not expire

At its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders on April 24 2008 the Companys shareholders

approved an amendment to the 2005 Directors Stock Option- Plan to increase the number of shares of-

Common Stock reserved for issuance under the plan by 50000 shares

1996 Directors Stock Option Plan

Under Versants 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan Versant granted 4000 options as an -initial

grant to new directors of the Board and 2000 options as an annual succeeding grant thereafter Both

grants vest 50% on the first and second anniversaries of the option grant The options granted under

the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan expire ten years
-after the grant date Directors have seven

months after leaving their directorships to exercise their vested options under the 1996- Directors Stock

Option Plan Versant ceased granting options under its 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan in August

2005 and no further options will be granted under the 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan

Versant acquired all of Poets stock option plans in connection with our March 2004 acquisition of

Poet Prior to the acquisition Poet had the following plans in place

Poet 1995 Stock Option Plan

Under Poets 1995 Stock Option Plan options were generally granted with four-year vesting

schedule of which 25% are yested twelve months after the date of grant with the remaining options

vesting ratably on monthly-basis over the remaining 36-month vesting period Poet approved

non-standard stock option vesting schedules for the purposes of employee retention or bonus grants

including an option grant with 100% of the option grant vested at months

Poet 2001 Non-statutory Plan

Standard-vesting under this plan was three-year vesting schedule with 33% of the options vesting

one year after the date of grant and the remaining options vesting ratably on monthly-basis over the

remaining 24month vesting period

Poet Director Plan

Under Poets 1999 Director Plan options were generally granted to -its directors with three-year

vesting schedule with 33% vesting twelve months- from the option grant date with remaining vesting
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ratably on monthly-basis over the remaining 24-month vesting period Poet granted options as

approved by Poets Board of Directors with non-standard option vesting including an option grant

vesting 100% on the fourth anniversary of the grant date and four-year grant with 25% vesting on

each subsequent anniversary of the grant date

No further options will be granted under any of Poets option plans

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

As of October 31 2008 the Company had reserved shares of common stock for the following

purposes

Employee stock purchase plan 26950
Stock options available for grant 187716
Unexercised stock options 303324

517990

Stock Option Activities

The stock option activities in fiscal years 2008 2007 and 2006 were as follows

Options Number of Weighted
available for options average

grant outstanding exercise price

Balance at October 31 2005 266937 301487 $24.90

Authoried

Granted 67875 67875 5.65

Exercised/Expired 163776 26824 5.01

Canceled 157948 157948 29.40

Balance at October 31 2006 193234 184590 $16.89

Authorized 200000

Granted 108866 108866 14.57

Exercised/Expired 34422 45488 6.94

Canceled 12486 12486 35.80

Balance at October 31 2007 262432 235482 $16.75

Authorized 50000

Granted 127100 127100 22.40

Exercised/Expired 1201 55673 9.01

Canceled 3585 3585 29.64

Balance at October 31 2008 187716 303324 $20.40

NOTE 13 FORFEITURE OF COMMON STOCK

In November 2002 Versant acquired Mokume Software Inc Mokume In October 2004

Systems America Inc served complaint against Versant in lawsuit alleging that former employees of
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SystemsArnerica who left that company to form Mokuine misappropriated Systems America trade

secrets and confidential information unfairly competed with Systems Amerita and infringed Systems

Americas trademarks The Systeins.Anierica suit alleged that when Versant acquired Mokume it

acquired the benefit of the allegedly misappropriated trade secrets confidential infoiimation customer

relationships trademarks and trade names and thus Systems America sought damages and
injunctjve

relief from Versant In connection with this litigation Versant in turn sought indemæificatidæ from the

former stockholders of Mokume under the terms of the merger agreement pursuant to which Versant

acquired Mokume in November 2002 Versants indemnification claims were madebn theiounds that

the allegations in andthe existence of the Systems America litigation constituted breachof certain

representations and warranties made by the former Mokume stockholders to Versant in the merger

agreement Versants indemnification rights entitled Versant to obtain indemnification by canceling and

recovering certain shares of Versant Common Stock issued to the former Mokuniestockholders in

connection with Versants acquisition of Mokume In addition to previous forfeitures shares in prior

fiscal years pursuant to written agreement with the representative of the former Mtikume

stockholders in accordance with the Mokume merger agreement 8998 shares of Versant Common

Stock held by the former Mokume stockholders were forfeited and cancelled as of January 12 2006 in

satisfaction of Versants indemnification rights

NOTE 14 VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

Versant evaluates and revises its bad debt allowance as part
of its quarter end

process
at each

subsidiary and corporate 1vó1 The Companys management assigns risk factor and percentage of risk

to each account receivable the collection of which is considered non-routine The Company also

assigns general reserveto all its overdue accounts excluding the non-routine items

The following table summarizes the activities in the Companys allowance for doubtful accounts in

thousands

Fiscal year ended

October 31

2008 20O7 2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Beginning balance 68 $62 $114

Provision in allowance for doubtful accounts 52 52
Ending balance $16 $8 $62
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NOTE 15 QUARTERLY INFORMATION unaudited

Summarized quarterly supplemental consolidated financial information for fiscal 2008 and 2007 is

as follows in thousands

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Income from operations

Net income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations net

of income tax 16

Net income $2233 $2658 $1993
Net income per share

Basic 0.60

Diluted 0.59

NOTE 16 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On December 2008 Versants Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program Under
the program Versant is authorized to potentially repurchase up to $5.0 million worth of its outstanding

common shares from time to time on the open market in block trades or otherwise Whether any such

repurchases are made will depend on market conditions the share price and other factors The

program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and no assurance can be given that any stock

repurchases will in fact be made under this program Any repurchases made under the program are

expected to be funded from the Companys working capital

On December 2008 Versant acquired the assets of the database software business of

privately-held Servo Software Inc formerly db4objects Inc for $2.4 million in cash including
$300000 of contingent payments db4o is an open source object database software solution targeting
the embedded device market It is distributed under free open source licenses to large open source

community of approximately 50000 registered members located around the world and in some cases is

licensed on fee-bearing basis to certain customers for redistribution

Fiscal 2008 Quarters Ended

October 31 July 31 April 30 January 31

$5993 $6300 $6721 $6284
535 526 552 570

$5458 $5774 $6169 $5714
$3066 $3082 $4035 $2981

$2392 $2692 $2134 $2733
$2233 $2658 $1977 $2523

Fiscal 2007 Quarters Ended

October 31 July 31 Apr41 30 January 31

$5561 $5248 $5190 $5151

$340 $562 $563 $573
$5221 $4686 $4627 $4578

$3097 $2701 $2790 $2860

$2124 $1985 $1837 $1718

$2015 $1873 $1825 $1616

$82 $72 61$ 81

$2605 $2087 $1934 $1906

0.71 0.54 071

0.70 0.53 0.69

0.57 0.53 0.53

0.56 0.52 0.52

$90
$1706

0.46

0.46
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ITEM Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Not app1icable

iTEM 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial

Officer evalUated the effectiveness of our disClosure controls and procedures as defmed in

Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the

Exchange Act as of October 31 2008 teejidf thefis4 period covered by this report on

Fonn 10-K Sedurities and change Commission orSEC iiiles.clefme the term disclosure controls

and procedures to mean companys controls ajd othr procedures that are designed to ensure that

information required to be disclosed in the reports
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is

recorded processed summarized and reported whin the time period specified the SECs rules and

forms Disclosure ccntrols and procethirds include without lunitation controls and procedures dtsigned

to ensure that mfornation required to be disclosed by company in its reports
filed under the

Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the companys management including its principal

executive and prmcipal financial officers or persons performing similar functions as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regaidmg required
disclosure

Based on the evaluation Of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures by our

management with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer our

Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of the end of the

period covered by this report our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that

information requiredto be disClosed in the reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is

recdrded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commissions

riilesand forns 10

control system no matter how well designed tnd operated can provide only reasonable not

absolute assurance that the objectives
of the control system iire met Further because of the mherent

limitations in all control sSrstems no evaluation of control can provide absolute assurance that all

control issues and instances of fraud if any have beeæ oi will be detected These inherent limitations

include the fact that thCre areresource constraints and that the benefits of controls must be

considered relative to their costs

ManagementAnnual Repon on InternaiControl over Financial Reporting

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item is set forth under the caption

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Item of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K which is incorporated herein by reference

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

fourth quarter of 2008 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

The certifications of Versants Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attached as

Exhibit 31.01 and Exhibit 31.02 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K include in paragraph of such

certifications information concerning Versants disclosure controls and procedures and internal control

over financial reporting Such certifications should be read in conjunction with the information

contained in this Item 9A for more complete understanding of the matters covered by such

certifications The certifying officers have worked to design or caused to be designed disclosure
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controls and procedures for the purpose of ensuring that material infonnation relating to Versant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to them by other personnel of Versant on

timely basis and internal control over finaiicial reporting designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles These disclosure controls and

procedures and internal control over finaiwial reporting were designed and adopted in good faith for

these purposes but it is recognized that these procedures must be continually evaluated and can always

merit further improvement

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The Board has adopted Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to Versants principal executive

officer principal financial officer principal accounting officer and all other employees of the Company
This Code of Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at http//www.versant.com We intend to

satisfy the disclosure requirement under this Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment to or

waiver from provision of this Code of Coiduct and Ethics by posting such information on our

website at http/Iwwversant.com on the investors relations page

The remainder of the information required for this Item 10 is incorporated by reference from our

Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to

be filed in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to

be filed in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to

be filed in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to

be filed in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits

required as part of this report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the widersigned thereunto duly

authorized

VERSANT CORPORATION

Dated /5/ JERRY WONG

January 14 2009
Jerry Wong
Vice President Finance

Chief Financial Officer

Duly Authorized Officer

Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer

Is J0cHEN WrITE

Joehen Witte

President and Chief Executive Officer

Duly Authorized Officer and Principal

Executive Officer and Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

By signing this Form 10-K below hereby appoint each of Jochen Witte and Jerry Wong as my
attorneys-in-fact to sign all ameidments to this Form 10-K on my behalf and to file this report on
Form 10-K including all exhibits and other documents related to the Form 10-K with the Securities

and Exchange Commission authorize each of my attorneys-in-fact to appoint substitute

attorney-in-fact for himself and perform any actions that he believes are necessary or appropriate to

carry out the intention and purpose of this Power of Attorney ratify and confirm all lawful actions

taken directly or indirectly by my attorneys-ir-fact and by any properly appointed substitute

attorneys-in-fact

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and the dates

indicated

Name ifle

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

President and Chief Executive OfficerIs JOCHEN vvITFE
January 14 2009

and Director
Jochen Witte

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER AN
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER

Vice President Finance and Chief
i5 JERRY vvONG

January 14 2009
Pinancial Officer

Jerry Wong

ADDITIONAL DIRECTORS

/5/ UDAY BELLARY Director
January 14 2009

Uday Bellary

Is WILLIAM HENRY DELEVATI Director January 14 2009

William Henry Delevati

/5/ HERBERT MAY Director January 14 2009

Herbert May

Is BERNHARD WOEBKER Director
January 14 2009

Bernhard Woebker
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2.02 Amendment to Agreement and Ilan of Merger dated as of

January 20 2004 by and among the Registrant
Poet

Holdings Inc and Puma Acquisition
Inc

203 Sharc Purchase and fransfer Agreement dated as of

September 13 2004 between Poet Software GmbH and ems

ePublishing AG and attached list of annexes thereto

translated to English from the original German text

2.04 Vanatec GmbH Asset Purchase Agreement

2.05 Vanatec GmbH Agreement on the Purchase and Assignment

of Share
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EXHIBIT 10.01

VERSANT CORPORATION
2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

As Adopted June 2005 and as Amended through April 12 2007

PURPOSE EFFECTIVE DATE The purpose of this Plan is to provide incentives to attract

retain and motivate eligible persons whose present and potential contributions are important to the

success of the Company its Parent and Subsidiaries by offering them an opportunity to participate
in

the Companys future performance through awards of Options Restricted Stock and Stock Bonuses

This Plan will become effective on the first date the Effective Late on which it has beer both

adopted by the Board and approved by the shareholders of the Company Capitalized terms not

defined in the text are defined in Section 23

SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

2.1 Number of Shares Available Subject to Sections 2.2 and 18 the total number of Shares

reserved and available for grant
and issuance pursuant to this Plan the Reserved Shares will be the

sum of the Available Prior Plan Shares as defined below plus any and all Forfeited Prior Plan

Shares as defined below provided that the number of Reserved Shares shall not exceed an aggregate

of 655685 Shares as constituted at the opening of business on the Effective Date The Available Prior

Plan Shares means the number of shares of the Companys Common Stock reserved for issuance

under the Companys 1996 Equity Incentive Plan as amended the Prior Plan on the Effective Date

that on the Effective Date are not issued and outstanding as result of the grant or exercise of

awards granted under the Prior Plan or Ii subject to stock options or other awards granted under the

Prior Plan that are then outstanding Forfeited Prior Plan Shares meanS shares of Common Stock

issued under the Prior Plan that are outstanding on the Effective Date and are thereafter repurchased

by the Company at their original issuance price pursuant to the terms of the Prior Plan and/or

agreements entered pursuant thereto and ii the shares of Common Stock that on the Effective Date

are subject to any then outstanding stock option granted under the Prior Plan and which thereafter

cease to be subject to such stock option for any reason other than its exercise The Available Pnor Plan

Shares and all Forfeited Prior Plan Shares will no loiger be available for grant and issuance under the

Prior Plan but will be available for grant and issuance under this Plan Subject to Sections 2.2 and 18

Shares that are subject to issuance upon exercise of an Option granted under this Plan but that

cease to be subject to such Option for any reascn other than exercise of such Option Shares that

are subject to any Award granted under this Plan but are forfeited or are repurchased by tbe Company

at their original issue price or Shares that are subject to an Award granted under this Plan that

otherwise terminates without Shares being issued will again
be available for grant and issuance in

connection with future Awards under this Plan At all times the Company shall reserve and keep

available sufficient number of Shares as shall be required to satisfy the requirements of all

outstanding Options granted under this Plan and all other outstanding but unvested Awards granted

under this Plan No more than ten million 10000000 Shares may be issued under this Plan pursuant

to the exercise of ISOs

2.2 Adjustment of Shares In the event that the number of outstanding Shares is changed by

stock dividend rftalization stock split reverse stock split subdivision combination reclassification

or similar change in the capital structure of the Company without consideration then the number

of Shares reserved for issuance under this Plan the maximum number of Reserved Shares set forth

in Section 2.1 above and the maximum number of Shares that may be issued under this Plan

pursuant to the exercise of ISOs as set forth in Section 2.1 above the Exercise Prices of and

number of Shares subject to outstanding Options the number of Shares subject to other

outstanding Awards and the numbers of Shares referenced in Section below will each be

proportionately adjusted subject to any required action by the Board or the shareholders of the

Company and compliance with applicable
securities laws provided however that fractions of Share

will either be replaced by cash payment equal to the Fair Market Value of such fraction of Share or

will be rounded up to the nearest whole Share as determined by the Committee



ELIGIBILITY ISOs as defined in Section below may be granted only to employees
including officers and directors who are also employees of the Company or of Parent or Subsidiary
of the Company All other Awards may be granted to employees officers directors consultants

independent contractors and advisors of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company
provided such consultants independent contractors and advisors render boæa fide services not in

connection with the offer and sale of securities in capital-raising transaction No person will be

eligible to receive more than 400000 Shares in any calendar year under this Plan pursuant to the grant
of Awards hereunder other than new employees of the Company or of Parent or Subsidiary of the

Company including new employees who are also officers and directors of the Company or any Parent
or Subsidiary of the Company who are eligible to receive up to maximum of 600000 Shares in the

calendar year in which they commence their employment person may be granted more than one
Award under this Plan

ADMINISTRATION

4.1 Committee Authority This Plan will be administered by the Committee or by the Board

acting as the Committee Subject to the general purposes terms and conditions of this Plan and to the

direction of the Board the Committee will have full power to implement and carry Out this Plan

Without limitation the Committee will have the authority to

construe and interpret this Plan any Award Agreement and any other agreement or document
executed pursuant to this Plan

prescribe amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to this Plan

select persons to receive Awards

determine the form and terms of Awards

determine the number of Shares or other consideration subject to Awards

determine whether Awards will be granted singly in combination with in tandem with in

replacement of or as alternatives to other Awards under this Plan or any other incentive or

compensation plan of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company

grant waivers of Plan or Award conditions

determine the vesting exercisability and payment of Awards

correct any defect supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in this Plan any Award
or any Award Agreement

determine whether an Award has been earned and

make all other determinations
necessary or advisable for the administration of this Plan

4.2 Committee Discretion Any determination made by the Committee with respect to any
Award will be made in its sole discretion at the time of grant of the Award or unless in contravention

of any express term of this Plan or Award at any later time and such determination will be final and

binding on the Company and on all persons having an interest in any Award under this Plan The
Committee may delegate to one or more officers of the Company the authority to grant an Award
under this Plan to Participants who are not Insiders of the Company

4.3 Exchange Act Requirements During all times that the Company is subject to Section 16 of

the Exchange Act the Company will take
appropriate steps to comply with the requirements of SEC

Rule 16b-3 or other rules of the SEC for the exemption of awards from the application of

Section 16b of the Exchange Act

OPTIONS The Committee may grant Options to eligible persons and will determine whether
such Options will be Incentive Stock Options within the meaning of the Code ISOs or Nonqualified
Stock Options NQSOs the number of Shares subject to the Option the Exercise Price of the



Option the period during which the Option may be exercised and all other terms and conditions of

the Option subject to the following

5.1 Form of Option Grant Each Option granted under this Plan will be evidenced by an Award

Agreement which will expressly identify the Option as an ISO or an NQSO Stock Option

Agreement and will be such form and contam such provisions which need not be the same for

each Participant as the Committee may from time to time approve and which will comply with and be

subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan

5.2 Date of Grant The date of grant of an Option will be the date on which the Committee

makes the determination to grant such Option unless otherwise specified by the Committee The Stock

Option Agreement and copy of this Plan will be delivered to the Participant within reasonable time

after the granting of the Option

5.3 Exercise Period Vesting Options may be exercisable immediately subject to repurchase

pursuant to Section 12 of this Plan or may be exercisable within the times or upon the events

determined by the Committee as.set forth in the Stock Option Agreement governing such Option

Notwithstandwg the foregoing no Option will be exercisable after the expiration of ten 10 years

from the date the Option is granted no ISO granted to person who directly or by attribution

owns more than ten percent 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the

Company or of any Parent Or Subsidiary of the Company len Percent Shareholder will be exercisable

after the expiration of five years from the date the ISO is granted and in no event shall an

Option that is granted to an epployee who is non-exempt employee for purposes of overtime pay

under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 be exercisable earlier than six months after its date of

grant The Committee also may provide for the exercise of Options to become exercisable at one time

or from time to time periodically or otherwise in such number of Shares or percentage of Shares as

the Committee determines provided that subject to earlier termination of the Option each Option

granted to non-officer employee shall vest at the rate of no less than twenty percent 20% of the

total number of Shares originally subject to such Option as such nupiber may be adjusted pursuant to

Section per year over the five year period begmning on the date such Option is granted subject

to such persons contmued employment with the Company or Parent or Subsidiary Unless the

Committee provides otherwise the vesting of an Option granted under this Plan may be suspended

during any leave of absence as may be set forth in any Company policy

5.4 Exercise Price The Exercise Price of an Option will be determined by the Committee when

the Option is granted and will not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the

date of grant 110% in the case of any ISO granted to Ten Percent Shareholder Payment for the

Shares purchased may be made in accordance with Section of this Plan

5.5 Method of Exercise Options may be exercised only by delivery to the Company of stock

option exØrcisº agreement the Exercise Agreement in form approved by the Committee which

need not be the same for each Participant stating thç number of Shares being purchased the

restrictions imposed on the Shares purchased under such Exercise Agreement if any and such

representations and agreements regarding Participants investment intent and access to information and

other majters if any as may be required or desirable by the Company to comply with applicable

securities laws together with payment in full of the Exercise Price for the number of Shares being

purchased

5.6 Trminatn Notwithstanding the exercise periods set forth in the Stock Option Agreement

exercise of an Option will always be subject to the following

If the Participant is Terminated for any reason except death or Disability then the Participant

may exercise such Participants Options only to the extent that such Options would have been

exercisable upon the Termination Date no later than three months after the Termination Date or

such shorter or longer time period not exceeding five years
after the Termination Date as may be

determined by the Committee with any exercise beyond three months after the Termination Date

deemed to be an NQSO but in any event no later than the expiration date of the Options



If the Participant is Terminated because of Participants death or Disability or the Pa4iicipant

dies within three months after Terminationother than because of Paiticipants death or disability

then Participants Options may be exercised only to the extent that such Options would have been

exercisable by Participant on the Termmation Date and riiust be exercised by Participant or
Participants legal representative or authorized assignee no later than twelve 12 months after the

Termination Date or such shorter or longer time penod not exceeding five years after the

Terthifiation Date as may be determined by the Committeç with any suth exercise beyond three

months after the Termination Date when the Termination is for any reason other than the Participants
death or Disability or twelve 12 months after the Termination Date when tlieTermination is for

Participants death or Disability deemed to be an NQSO but in any event no later than the expiration
date of the Options

If Participant is determined by the Board tb have committed an act of theft embezzlement
fraud dishonesty or breach of fiduciary duty to the Cothpany or Parent or Subsidiaiy neither such

Participant such Participants estate nor such other person who may then hold the Option shall be

entitled to exercise any Option with respect to any Shares whatsoever after termination of service

whether or not after termination of service such Participant may receive paythent from the COmpany or

Subsidiary for vacation pay for services rendered
prior to termination for services rendered for the day

on which termination occurs for salary in lieu of notice or for any other benefits In making the
determination described in this subsection the Boardsball give the Participant an opport%inity to

present evidence to the Board For the purpose of this paragraph termination of service shall be

deemed to occur on the date when the Company .dispatchs notice or advice to the Participant that

such Participants service is terminated

5.7 Limitations on F4xercise The Committee may speify reasonable minimum number of

Shares thatmay be purchased on any exercise of an Option provided that such minimum number will

not prevent Participant from exercising the Option for the full number of Shares for which it is then

exercisable

5.8 Limitations on ISO The
aggregate Fair Market Value determined as of the date of grant

of Shares with respect to which ISOs are exercisable for the first time by Participant during any
calendar year under this Plan or under any other incentive stock option plan of the Company Parent

or Subsidiary of the Company will not exceed $100000 If the Fair Market Value of Shares on the

date of grant with
respect to which ISOs are exercisable for the first time by Participant during any

calendar year exceeds $100000 then the Options for the first $100000 worth of Shares to become
exercsable in such calendar year will be ISOs and the Options for the amount in excess of $100000
that become exercisable that calendar year will be NQSOs In the event that the Code or the

regulations promulgated thereunder are amended after the Effective Date of this Plan to provide for

different limit on the Fair Markt Value of Shares permitted to be subject to ISO such different limit

will be automatically incorporated herein and will apply to any Options granted after the effective date

of such amendment

5.9 Modificatkn Extension or Renewal The Committee may modify extend or renew

outstanding Options and authorize the grant of new Options in substitution therefor provided that any
such action may not without the written consent of Participant impair any of such Participants rights
under any Option previously granted Any outstanding ISO that is modified extended renewed or

otherwise altered will be treated accordance with Section 424h of the Code The Committee may
reduce the Exercise Price of outstanding Options without the consent of Participants affected by
written notice to them only if and to the extent that such Repricing is permitted under the terms of

Section 15 of this Plan provided however that the Exercise Price may not be reduced below the

minimum Exercise Price that would be permitted under Section 54 of this Plan for Options granted on
the date the action is taken to reduce the Exercise Price

5.10 No Disqualification Notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan no term of this Plan

relating to ISOs wiJl be interpreted amended or altered nor will any discretion or authority granted



under this Plan be exercised so as to disqualify
this Plan under Section 422 of the Code or without the

consent of the Participant affected to disqualify any ISO under Section 422 of the Code

RESTRICTED STOC Restricted Stock Award is an offer by the Company to sell to an

eligible person Shares that are subject to restrictions The Committee will determine to whom an offer

will be made the number of Shares the person may purchase the price tç be paid the Purchase

Price.the restrictions to which the Shares will be ubject and all other terms and conditions of the

Restricted Stock Award subject to the following

6.1 Form of Restricted Stock Award All purchases under Restricted Stock Award made

pursuant to this Plan will be ºvidefled by an Award Agreement Restricted Stock Thsrcha.e

Agreement that will be in such form which need not be the same for each Participant as the

Copimt%ee will from time to time approve and will comply with and be subject to the terms and

conditions
9f

this Plan The offer of Restricted.Stock wil be acceptd by the Participants execution

and delivery
of the Restricted Stock 4urchase Agreement and full payment for the Shares to the

Company within thirty 30 days froth the date the Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement is delivered to

the Participant
If such Paxticipant

does qot execute .and deliver the Restricted Stock Purchase

Agreenient along with full paynlent
for the Shares to the Company within thirty 30 days then the

offer of such Restricted Stock will terminate unless otherwise determined by the Committee

6.2 Purchase Price The Purchase Price of Shares sold pursuant to Restricted Stock Award

will be determined by the Committee and will be at least 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Shares

on the date the Restricted Stock Award ls granted Payment of the Purchase Price may be made in

accordance with Section of this Plan

63 Restrictions Restricted Stock Awards.will be subject to such restrictions if any as the

Committee may impose The Committee may provide for the lapse of such restrictions in installments

and may accelerate Or walve such restrictions in whole or part based on length of service performance

or such other factors or criteria as the Committee may determine

STOCK BONUSES

7.1 Awards of Stock Bonuses Stock Bonus is an award of Shares which may consist of

Restricted Stock for services rendered to the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company

Stock Bojius may be awarded for past
services already rendered to the Company or any Parent or

Subsidiary of the Company pursuant to an Award Agreejnent the Stock Bonus Agreement that will

be in such form which need not be the same for each Participant as the Committee will from time to

time approve and wiU comply with and be subject to tie terms and conditions of.this Plan Stock

Bonus may be awaided upon saisfacton of such performance goals as are set out in advance in the

Paricipans individual Award .Agreement the Performance Stock anus Agreement that will be in

such form which need not be the same for pach Participant as the Conunittee wjll from time to tjme

approve and will comply with and be subject to the terms and conditions of this Plao Stock Bonuses

may vary from Participant to Participant and between groups of Participants
and may be based upon

the achievement of the Company Parent or Subsidiary and/or individua performance factors or upon

sudi other criteria as the Committee may determine

7.2 Tenis of Stock Bonuses The Committee wit determine the number of Shares to be

awarded to the Participant
and whether such Sares will be Restricted Stock If the Stock Bonus is

being earned upon the satisfaction of performance goals pursuant to Performance Stock Bonus

Agreement then the Committee will determine the nature length and starting date of any period

during hicb performance is to be measured the Performance eiod for each Stock Bonus the

performance goals and criteria to be used to measure the performance if axy the number of

Shares that may be awarded to the Participant and the extent to which spch Stock Bonuses have

been earned Performance Periods may overlap and Participants may participate simultaneously with

respect to Stock Bonuses that are subject to different Performance Periods and different performance

goals and other criteria The number of Shares may be fixed or may vary
in accordance with such

performance goals and criteria as may be determined by the Committee The Committee may adjust



the performance goals applicable to the Stock Bonuses to- take into account changes in law and

accounting or tax rules and to make such adjustments as the Committee deems necessary or

appropriate to reflect the impact of extraordinary or unusual items events or circumstances to avoid

windfalls or hardships

7.3 Form of Payment The earned portion of Stock Bonus may be paid currently or on
deferred basis with such interest or dividend equivalent if any as the Committee may determine

Payment may be made in the form of cash whole Shares including Restricted Stock or combination

thereof either in lump sum payment or in installments all as the Committee will determine

7.4 Termination During Performance Period If Participant is Terminated during

Performance Period for any reason then such Participant will be entitled to payment whether in

Shares cash or otherwise with respect to the Stock Bonus only to the extent such Stock Bonus is

earned as of the date of Termination in accordance with the terms of the applicable Performance Stock

Bonus Agreement unless the Committee will determine otherwise

PAYMENT FOR SHARE PURCHASES Payment for Shares purchased pursuant to this

Plan may be made in cash by check or where expressly approved for the Participant by the

Committee and where permitted by law

by cancellation of indebtedness of the Company to the Participant

by surrender of shares that either have been owned by Participant for more than six

months and have been paid for within the meaning of SEC Rule 144 and if such shares were

purchased from the Company by use of promissory note such note has been fully paid with
respect

to such shares or were obtained by Participant in the public market

by waiver of compensation due or accrued to the Participant for services rendered

with respect only to purchases upon exercise of an Option and provided that public market

for the Companys stock exists

through same day sale commitment from the Participant and broker-dealer that is

member of the National Association of Securities Dealers an NASD Dealer whereby the

Participant irrevocably elects to exercise the Option and to sell portion of the Shares so

purchased to pay for the Exercise Price and whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon
receipt of such Shares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company or

through margin commitment from the Participant and NASD Dealer whereby the

Participant irrevocably elects to exercise the Option and to pledge the Shares so purchased to the

NASD Dealer in margin account as security for loan from the NASD Dealer in the amount of

the Exercise Priôe and whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt of such

Shares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company or

by any combination of the foregoing

WITHHOLDING TAXES

9.1 Withholding Generally Whenever Shares are to be issued in satisfaction of Awards granted
under this Plan the Company may require the Participant to remit to the Company an amount
sufficient to satisfy federal state and local withholding tax requirements prior to the delivery of any
certificate or certificates for such Shares Whenever under this Plan payment in satisfaction of an
Award is to be made in cash each such payment will be net of an amount sufficient to satisfy federal

state and local withholding tax requirements

9.2 Stock Withholding When under applicable tax laws Participant incur tax liability in

connection with the exercise or vesting of any Award that is subject to tax withholding and the

Participant is obligated to pay the Company the amount required to be withheld the Committee may
in its sole discretion allow the Participant to satisfy the minimum withholding tax obligation by electing
to have the Company withhold from the Shares to be issued that number of Shares having Fair



Market Value equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld determined on the date that the

amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined the Tax Date All elections by Participant to

have Shares withheld for this purpose will be made in writing in form acceptable to the Committee

and will be subject to the following restrictions

the election must be made on or prior to the applicable
Thx Date

once made then except as provided below the election will be irrevocable as to the particular

Shares as to which the election is made

all elections will be subject to the consent or disapproval of the Committee

if.the Participant
is an Insider and if the Company is subjtcvto Section 16b of he Exchange

Act the eletion may not be made within six months tif the date of grant of the Award except

as otherwise permitted by SEC Rule 16b-3e under the Exchange Act and either the election

to use stock withholding must be irrevocably made at leastsix months priorto the Thx Date

although such election may reyoked at any time at least six months prior to the Tax Dte or

the exercis the Option or election to use stock withholding must be made in The ten 10 day

period beginning on the third day following the release of the Companys quarterly or annual summary

statement of sales or earnings and

in the event that the tax Date is deferred until six months after the delivey of Shares

under Section 83b of the Code the Participant will receive the full numberof Shares with respect
to

which the exercise occurs but such Participantwill be unconditionally obligated rto tender back to the

Company the proper number of Shares on the Thx Date

10 PRIVILEGES OF STOCK OWNERSHIP

10.1 Vôtiægaiid Dividends No Participant
wihliave any of the rights of shareholder with

respect to anyShare Ontil the Shares are issued to the Participant After Shares are issued to the

Participant the Participant will be shareholder and have all the rights of shareholder with respect to

such Shares icluding the rigIt to vote nd receive .alivideids or otbçr distributions made or paid

with respect to such Shares provided that such Shares re Restncted Stock then any new ddiional

or different securities the Participant may become enttleçl to receive with respect to such Shares by

vjrtue of stock dividend stock split or any other change in the corporate or capital structure of the

Company will be subject tQ the same restrictions as the Restricted Stock provided further that the

Participant will have no right to retain such stock dividends or stock distributions with respect to Shares

that arerepurchased at the Partithpants.original Purchase Price pursuant to Section 12

102 Financial Statements The Company will providç financial
statements

to each Rarticipant

pnor to such ParticIpants purchase of Shares under this Plant and to each Participant annqally during

the period such Participant has Awards outstanding provided however except as required by

applicable law the Company will not be recjuired to provide such fmanºiah statements to Participants

whose services in connection with the Company assure them access to equivalent inftrmatiofl

11 TRANSFERABILITY Awards granted under this Plan and any interst thØiŁinwill not be

transfrrable or assignabl by Participant anl iay not be mle subject to execution attacmnt or

similar process otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or as consistent with

the specific Plan and 4iward 4greemen provisions re1itmg thereto Durmg the lifetimcof the

Participant any Award grapted to such Participant will be exercisable only by such Participant nd any

elections with respect to any such Award may be made only by such Participant

12 RESTRICTIONS ON SHARES At the discretion of the Comniitteethe Company may

reserve tç itself and/or its assignees in the 4ward .4greernent right to repurchse portion.pf
or all

Shares held by Participant fofiowmg such Iarticipiuits Termination at any time within ninety 90 days

after the later of Participants Termmtion Date and the date Partiºipant purchases Shares under this

Plan for cash and/or cancellation of purchase money indebtedness at with respect to Shares that are

Vested as defined in the Award Areement the higher of Participants original
Purchase Price or

the Fair Market Value of such Shares on Participants Termination Date provided that such right
of



repurchase must be exercised as to all such Vested Shares unless Participant consents to the

Companys repurchase of only portion of such Vested Shares and ii terminates when the Companys
securities become publicly traded or with

respect to Shares that are not Vested as defined in the
Award Agreement at the Participants original Purchase Price piovided that for any Participant who is

non-officer employee immediately prior to such Participants Termination the right to repurchase at the

original Purchase Price lapses at the rate of at least 20% per year over five years frOm the date the

Shareswere purchased or from the date of
grant of options in the case of Shares obtained pursuant to

Stock Option Agreement and Stock Option Exercise Agreement

13 CERTIFICATES All certificates for Shares or other securities delivered under this Plan will

be subject to such stock transfer orders legends and other restrictions as the Committee may deem
necessary or advisable including restrictions under any applicable federal state or foreign securities

law or any rules regulations and other requirements of the SEC or any stock exchange or automated

quotation system upon which the Shares may be listed or quoted

14 ESCROW PLEDGE OF SHARES To enforce any restrictions on Participants Shares
the Committee may require the Participant to deposit all certificates representing Shares together with
stock powers or other instruments of transfer approved by the Committee appropriately endorsed in

blank with the Company or an agent designated by the Company to hold in escrow until such

restrictions have lapsed or terminated and the Committee may cause legend or legends referencing
such restrictions to be placed on the certificates

15 REPRICING PROHIBITED WITHOUT SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL Repricing as
that term is defined in Section 23 of this Plan is prohibited without prior shareholder approval
Subject to compliance with the provisions of the inunediately preceding sentence regarding Repricing
the Committee may at any time or from time to time authorize the Company with the consent of
the respective Participants to issue new Awards in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of any
or all outstanding Awards or buy from Participant an Award previously granted with payment in

cash Shares including Restricted Stock or other consideration based on such terms and conditions as
the Committee and the

Participant may agree The exercise of the authority provided this Section 15

is circumscribed to the extent
necessary to avoid the inadvertent application of the interest and

additional tax
provisions of Section 409A of the Code

16 SECURITIES LAW AND OTHER REGULATORY COMPLIANCE An Award will not
be effective unless such Award is in compliance with all applicable federal and state securities laws
rules and regulations of any governmental body and the requirements of any stock exchange or
automated quotation system upon which the Shares may then be listed or quoted as they are in effect

on the date of grant of the Award and also on the date of exercise or other issuance Notwithstanding

any other provision in this Plan the Company will have no obligation to issue or deliver certificates for

Shares under this Plan prior to obtaining any approvals from governmental agencies that the

Company determines are necessary or advisable and/or completion of any registration or other

qualification of such Shares under any state or federal law or ruling of any governmental body that the

Company determines to be
necessary or advisable The Company will be under no obligation to register

the Shares with the SEC or to effect compliance with the registration qualification or listing

requirements of any state securities laws stock exchange or automated quotation system and the

Company will have no liability for any inability or failure to do so

17 NO OBLIGATION TO EMPLOY Nothing in this Plan or any Award granted under this

Plan will confer or be deemed to confer on any Participant any right to continue in the employ of or
to continue any other relationship with the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company or
limit in any way the right of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company to terminate

Participants employment or other
relationship at any time with or without cause

18 CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS

18.1 Assumption or Replacement of Awards by Successor In the event of dissolution or

liquidation of the Company merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving



corporation other than merger or consolidation with wholly-owned subsidiary reincorporation of

the Company in different jurisdiction or other transaction in which there is no substantial change in

the shareholders of the Company or their relative stock holdings and the Awards granted under this

Plan are assumed converted or replaced by the successor corporation which assumption will be

binding on all Participants merger or consolidation in which the Company is the surviving

corporation but the Companys shareholders immediately prior to the consummation of the merger or

consolidation other than any shareholder that merges or consolidates or controls another corporation

that merges or consolidates with the Company in such merger or consolidation own less than 50% of

the surviving corporation immediately after such merger or consolidation or the sale of

substantially all of the assets of the Company any or all outstanding
Awards may be assumed

converted or replaced by the successor corporation if any which assumption conversion or

replacement will be bmding on all Participants In the alternative the successor corporation may

substitute equivalent awards or provide substantially similar consideration to Participants as was

provided to shareholders after taking into account the existing provisions
of the Awards The

successor corporation may also issue in place of then outstanding Shares held by any Participant

substantially similar shares or other property subject to repurchase restrictions no less favorable to such

Participant In the event such successor corporation if any refuses to assume or substitute Awards as

provided above pursuant to transaction described in this Subsection 18.1 such Awards will expire on

such transaction at such time and on such conditions as the Board will determine

18.2 Other Treatment of Awards Subject to any greater rights granted to Participants under the

foregoing provisions Of this Section 18 in the event of the occurrence of any transaction described in

Section 18.1 any outstanding Awards will be treated as provided in the applicable agreement or plan of

merger consolidation dissolution liquidation sale of assets or other corporate transaction

183 Assumption of Awards by the Company The Company from time to time also may

substitute or assume outstandmg awards granted by another company whether connection with an

acquisition of such other company or otherwise by either grantmg an Award under this Plan in

substitution of such other companys award or assuming such award as if it had been granted under

this Plan if the terms of such assumed award could be applied to an Award granted under this Plan

Such substitution or assumption will be permissible
if the holder of the substituted or assumed award

would have been eligible to be granted an Award under this Plan if the other company had appliedthe

rules of this Plan to such grant In the event the Company assumes an award granted by another

company the terms and conditions of such award will remain unchanged except that the exercise price

and the number and nature of Shares issuable upon exercise of any such option will be adjusted

appropriately pursuant to Section 424a of the Code In the event the Company elects to grant new

Option rather than assuming an existing option such new Option may be granted with similarly

adjusted Exercise Price

19 SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL This Plan shall be approved by the shareholders of the

Company excluding Shares issued pursuant to this Plan consistent with applicable laws within twelve

12 months before or after the date this Plan is adopted by the Board Upon the Effective Date the

Board may grant
Awards pursuant to this Plan provided however that no Option may be

exercised pnor to mitial shareholder approva of this Plan no Option granted pursuant to an

increase the number of Shares subject to this Plan approved by the Board will be exercised pnor to

the time such increase has been approved by the shareholders of the Company and in the event

that shareholder approval of such increase is not obtained within the time period provided herein all

Awards granted hereunder pursuant to such increase will be canceled any Shares issued pursuant to

any such Award will be canceled and any purchase of Shares to such increase will be

rescinded So long as the Company is subject to Section 16b of the Exchange Act the Company will

comply with the requirements of Rule 16b-3 or its successor as amended with respect to shareholder

approval

20 TERM OF PLAN/GOVERNING LAW Unless çarlier terminated as provided herein this

Plan will terminate ten 10 years
from the date this Plan is adopted by the Board or if earlier the



date of shareholder approval This Plan and all agreements thereunder shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California

21 AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF PLAN The Board may at any time terminate or
amend this Plan in any respect including without limitation amendment of any form of Award
Agreement or instrument to be executed pursuant to this Plan provided however that the Board will

not without the approval of the shareholders of the Company amend this Plan in any manner that

requires such shareholder approval pursuant to the Qode or the regulations promulgated thereunder as

such provisions apply to ISO plans the California Department of Corporations or if the Company is

subject to the Exchange Act or Section 16b of the Exchange Act pursuant to the Exchange Act or
SEC Rule 16b-3 or its successor as amended thereunder respectively

22 NONEXCLUSIVITY OF TH1 PLAN Neither the adoption of this Plan by the Board the

submission of this Plan to the shareholders of the Company for approval nor any provision of this Plan
will be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board to adopt such additional

compensation arrangements as it may deem desirable including without limitation the granting if

stock options and bonuses otherwise than under this Plan and such arrangements may be either

generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases

23 DEFINITIONS As used in this Plan the following terms will have the following meanings

Award means any award under this Plan including any Option Restricted Stock or Stock Bonus

Award Agreement means with respect to each Award the signed written agreement between the

Company and the Participant setting forth the terms and conditions of the Award

Board means the Board of Directors of the Company

Code menns the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

Committee means the committee appointed by the Board to administer this Plan or if no such
committee is appointed the Board

Company means Versant Corporation California corporation or any successor corporation

Disability means disability whether temporary or permanent partial or total within the

meaning of Section 22e3 of the Code as determined by the Committee

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

Exercise Price means the price at which holder of an Option may purchase the Shares issuable

upon exercise of the Option

Fair Market Value means as of any date the value of share of the Companys Common Stock

determined as follows

if such Common Stock is then quoted on the Nasdaq National Market or the Nasdaq
SmaliCap Market then its closing price on such market on the date of determination as reported in

The Wall Street Journal

if such Common Stock is publicly traded and is then listed on national securities exchange
its closing price on the date of determination on the principal national securities exchange on which the

Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading as reported in The Wall Street Journal or

if none of the foregoing is applicable by the Committee in good faith

Insider means an officer or director of the Company or any other person whose transactions in

the Companys Common Stock are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act

Option means an award of an option to purchase Shares pursuant to Section

Parent means any corporation other than the Company in an unbroken chain of corporations

ending with the Company if at the time of the granting of an Award under this Plan each of such



corporations other than the Company owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting

power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations
in such chain

Participant theans person who receives an Award under tlii Plan

Plan means this Versant Corporation 2005 Equity ncentive Plan as amended from time to time

Repricing means any of the following or aiy other action that has the same purpose and effect

lowering the exercise price of an outstanding Option granted under this Plan after it is granted

any other action affecting an outstanding Award granted under this Plan that is treated as

repricing under United States generally accepted.accouflting principles canceling an outstanding

Award granted under this Plan at time when its exercise or purchase price exceeds the then fair

market value of the st9ck underlying such outstandiug Award in exchange for another Award or cash

payment unless the cancellation and exchange occurs in connection with merger consoidatipn sale

of substantially all the Companys assets acquisition spin off or other similar corporate transaction

Restricted Stock Award means an award of Shates pursuant to Section

SEC means the Securities and Exchange Commission

Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933 as amended

Shares means shares of the Companys Common Stock reserved for issuance under this Plan as

adjusted pursuant to Sections and 18 and any successor security

Sthck Bonus means an award of Shares or cash in lieu of Shares pursuant to Section

Subsidiaty means any corporation other than the Company in an unbroken chain of

corporations beginning with the Company if each of the corporations other than the last corporation in

the unbroken chain owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all

classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain

Termination or Terminated means for purposes of this Plan with respect
to Participant that

the Participant has for any reason cease1 to provide services as an employee director
independent

contractor cönsultaæt or advisor to the Company or Parent or Subsidiary of the Company An

employee will not be deemed to have ceased to provide services in the case of isick leave

ii military leave or iii any other leave of absence approved by the Committee provided that sirch

leave is for period of not more than 90 days unless reemployment upon the expiration of such leave

is guaranteed by contract or statute or unless provided otherwise pursuant to formal policy adopted

from time to tiie by the Company and issued and promulgated to employees in writing In the case of

any employee on an approved leave of absence the Committee may make such provisions respecting

suspension of vesting of the Option while on leaye from the employ of the company or Subsidiary as

it may deem appropriate except that in no event may an Option be exercised after the expiration of

the term set forth in the Option agreement The Committee will have sole discretion tO determine

whether Participant has ceased topfovide services and the effective date on which the Participant

ceased to provide services the Termination Date



EXHIBIT 21.01

SUBSIDIARY

Poet Holdings Inc

Poet Software Corporation

Versant GmbH

Mokume Software Inc

FastObjects Inc

Versant India

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

JURISDICHON OF INCORPORATION

Delaware

Massachusetts

Germany

California

california

India



EXifiB1T 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBUC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated January 13 2009 with respect to the consolidated financial

statements and internal control over fmancial reporting
included in the Annual Report of Versant

Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31 2008 We hereby consent to the

incorporation by reference of said reports
in the previously

filed Registration Statements of Versant

Corporation on Forms S-8 File Nos 333-08537 effective July 19 1996 333-29947 effectivç June 24

1997 333-80827 effective June 16 1999 333-43480 effective August 10 2000 333-58152 effective

April 2001 333-67776 effective August 17 2001 333-87922 effective May 2002 333-107956

effective August 14 2003 333-113871 effective March 24 2004 333-125368 effective May 31 2005

333-130601 effective December 22 2005 333-143278 effective May 25 2007 and 333-152550 effective

July 25 2008

Is Grant Thornton LLP

San Francisco California

January 13 2009



EXHIBIT 31.01

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant To Exchange Act Rule 13a44a/15d-14a As
Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Jochen Witte President and Chief Executive Officer of Versant Corporation certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Versant Corporation the registrant

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or
omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e
and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15t and

15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal

quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annual report that has
materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation

of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of

the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and
report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date January 14 2009

By Is Jochen Witte

Jochen Witte

Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.02

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant To Exchange Act Rule 13a.14a/15d-14a As

Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Jerry Wong Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Versant Corporation certif that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Versant Corporation the registrant

Based on my uiowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state matenal fact necessary to make the statenents made in light
of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the fmancial statements and other financial information mcluded in this

report fairly present in all material respects the fmancial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The ieistrants
other certifymg officer and are responsible for establishmg and maintaimng

disclosure controls and procedures as defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d 15e
and internal control over fmancial reporting as defined in Exóhange Act Rules 13a-15f and

15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material mformation relating

to the registrant includmg its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such mternal control over fmancial reportmg or caused such mternal control over

fmancial
reporting

to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of fmancial reportmg and the preparation
of fmancial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants
disclosure controls and procedures and

presented this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

prOcedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Djsclosed this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred durmg the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants
other certifrin officer and have disclosed based on our mQst recent evaluation

of mternal control over fmancial reportmg to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of

the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report
financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date January 14 2009

By Is Jerry Wong

Jerry Wong
Vice President Finance and

Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.01

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section .1350 As Adopted Pursuantto Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxjey Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Versant Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on thedate hereof the Report Jochen Witte as Chief Executive Officer of the Compatiy hereby certii
pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the fihancial
condition and results of operations of the Company

Is Jochen Witte

Jochen Witte

President and Chief Executive Officer

January 14 2009

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and ExchangeCommission or Its staff upon request



EXHIBiT 32.02

Certification of Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-OXley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Versant Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year eiided October 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionon the

date hereof the Report Jerry Wong as Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of

the Company hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adoptl pursuant to 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material Tespects the fmancial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Is/Jerry Wong

Jerry Wong

Vice President Finance and

Chief Financial Officer

January 14 2009

signed original
of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the

Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange

Commission or its staff upon request



Appendix to Annual Report to Shareholders

Executive Officers Directors Corporate Informations

Jochen Witte Uday Bellary Principal Offices

President Chief Executive Officer Versant Corporation

Chief Executive Officer Wortal Inc 255 Shoreline Drive

Suite 450

Jerry Wong William Henry Delevati Redwood City CA 94065

Vice President Finance Independent Consultant 650 232-2400

Chief Financial Officer
Website www Versant.com

and Secretary

Herbert May Independent Auditors

Independent Consultant Grant Thornton LLP

San Francisco California

Jochen Witte Transfer Agent

President BNY Mellon

Chief Executive Officer Shareowner Services

Versant Corporation 480 Washington Blvd

27th Floor

Bernhard Woebker Jersey City NJ 07310

Independent Consultant

AVAILABILITY OF ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

COPY OF THE COMPANYS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE FISCAL YEAR

ENDED OCTOBER 31 2008 AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

EXCLUDING THE EXHIBITS THERETO IS AVAILABLE TO VERSANT SHAREHOLDERS FREE

OF CHARGE UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO SECRETARY VERSANT CORPORATION 255

SHORELINE DRiVE SUITE 450 REDWOOD CITY CALIFORNIA 94065 COPIES OF EXHIBITS

TO THE FORM 10-K ARE AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST UPON PAYMENT OF VERSANTS

REASONABLE EXPENSES OF FURNISHING SUCH EXHIBITS

This annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 We caution investors that forward-

looking statements are only predictions forecasts or estimates are not guarantees or assurances of our future

performance and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties Our actual results and performance may

differ materially from the results and performance anticipated by any forward-looking statements due to

these risks and uncertainties Some of the important
risks and factors

that could cause our results and

performance to differ from results or performance anticipated by this report are discussed in Item of this

reportRisk Factors which you should read carefully We undertake no obligation to revise or update

any forward-looking statement to reflect any future events or circumstances or for any other reason

END
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